
Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Thursday 26 May 2022 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence Andrea Griffiths

2  Declarations of interest 

Please see note (a) at the end of agenda.

Andrea Griffiths

3  Minutes of the previous meetings (Pages 1 - 16)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on the 10th March 2022 and the 
22nd April 2022.

Andrea Griffiths

4  Youth Offending Service (Pages 17 - 70)

To gain an overview of the service and how initiatives like Children First can 
support diverting young people away from crime. 

Andy Dempsey

5  Education Update - Restorative Practice (Pages 71 - 76)

The Committee is asked to note the report.

Kirsten Harrison

6  Plan for the new the Board and new improvement plan 

To receive a verbal update on the plan for the new Board and refreshed 
improvement plan.  

Chris Spencer

7  Please send in questions on the following agenda items by end of day 
Monday 23rd May 2022 

8  Performance Report Quarter 4 (Pages 77 - 88) Andy Dempsey

9  Quality Assurance Framework (Pages 89 - 110) Rob England

10  Revenue Monitoring Report (Pages 111 - 122) Suzanne Hall

11  Committee's Work Plan (Pages 123 - 126)

 To discuss the future work plan items.

Cllr Dr Andrew 
Miller



    

Membership – Cllr Linda Cohen, Cllr David Drew, Cllr Ben Evans (Vice-Chair), Cllr Tim Harman, 
Cllr Stephen Hirst, Cllr Beki Hoyland, Cllr Mark Mackenzie-Charrington, Cllr Dr Andrew Miller 
(Chairman) and Cllr Emma Nelson

Added Members - Charlotte Blanch (Clifton Diocese)

Co-Opted Member - Ambassador for Vulnerable Children and Young People

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  Completing 
this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent members from 
declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list will be available 
for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Rob Ayliffe Tel: 01452 328506 e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.
 

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Griffiths  Democratic Services Adviser
:01452 324206/e-mail: andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk  

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Will Members please sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny 

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:Julie.hill2@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on Thursday 10 March 2022 commencing at 10.00 am at the Cabinet 
Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Charlotte Blanch
Cllr Linda Cohen
Fiona Crouch
Cllr David Drew
Cllr Ben Evans (Vice-
Chair)
Cllr Nick Housden

Cllr Beki Hoyland
Cllr Mark Mackenzie-Charrington
Cllr Dr Andrew Miller (Chairman)
Cllr Emma Nelson
Ambassador for Vulnerable Children & 
Young People

OFFICERS IN 
ATTENDANCE: Chris Spencer (Director of Children’s Services), Kirsten Harrison 

(Director of Education), Andy Dempsey (Director of Partnerships & 
Strategy), Kanchan Jadeja (Quality Assurance and Improvement 
Consultant), Ann James (Director of Children’s Safeguarding and 
Care), and Andrea Griffiths (Democratic Services).  

9. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillor Andrew Miller declared he was in the process of applying to become a 
foster carer for the Authority.  

Councillor Ben Evans declared he was a Director of a non profit organisation, 
Chime.  

Councillor Linda Cohen declared she was a Director of Read with Me CIC.  

10. NOTICES 

The Chair wished to thank Fiona Crouch, Parent Representative for her contribution 
to the Committee, and wished her well for the future.  

The Chair also explained this would be the last for Andrea Clarke from Democratic 
Services as she was retiring.  He added that Andrea had been a  tower of strength 
to him and had supported the Committee with helpful and positive suggestions 
throughout.   

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Andrea thanked the Chair for his kinds words and added that the Committee had 
worked hard for the children of Gloucestershire and she wished them well for the 
future.  

The Chair also welcomed the newly appointed the Director of Children’s 
Safeguarding and Care, Anne James to the meeting.  

11. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

It was agreed that the sentence at Paragraph 4.10 “that children were coached to 
pass the entrance test and many had shared tutoring sessions with friends” be 
deleted from the minutes.  

Resolved 

That subject to the amendment,  the minutes of the previous meeting held on 
the 13th January 2022 be approved as a correct record.  

12. OFSTED INSPECTION UPDATE 

12.1 The Committee received a verbal update from the Director of Children’s Services 
(DCS), it was noted that the report would be within the public domain on the 1st 
April 2022.  

12.2 Members were advised that Ofsted Inspectors had been on site during the 7th – 18th 
March 2022 and had conducted their review but were unable to give their 
judgement on the service at this point in time.  

12.3 The DCS hoped that the Authority would no longer be one that required 
intervention.  He explained that the Inspectors felt significant progress had been 
made to date and acknowledged that 2017 was a low point for the Authority.  

12.4 The Committee were informed that children in Gloucestershire were now safe and 
this was recognised by Ofsted.  During the Ofsted Inspection visit a number of 
cases were considered by the Inspectors, who noted that processes were well 
managed and any information requested was provided in a timely manner.  

12.5 The DCS advised Members that Information Technology (IT) was regarded as a 
major issue and this was now a key corporate recommendation for improvement.  It 
was noted that by and large the Authority was aware of its strengths and 
weaknesses.  As the service had also conducted a self assessment prior to the 
inspection team’s arrival.  The DCS explained there were some variations in 
practices and there were still caveats but the service needed to be consistently 
good for the Children and Young People of Gloucestershire and recognised there 
was no room complacency.  

 
12.6 The DCS wished to record his thanks to the Senior Leadership Team (SLT) and 

frontline staff for all their efforts to bring about change, he explained that the job 
wasn’t yet done and it was necessary to keep up the pressure to achieve 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

excellence going forward.    The Chair on behalf of the Committee extended his 
thanks to the DCS and his team for their exceptional efforts.  

12.7 Members of the Committee echoed the sentiment and thanked officers for their 
personal and professional commitment to the service and agreed that the only 
acceptable standard going forward was to strive for exceptional for the Children and 
Young People of Gloucestershire. 

12.8 Officers thanked the Committee for their kind comments and added that it had been 
an exhausting journey but there was now a great Senior Leadership Team in place 
with a wealth of experience and knowledge and the future of that team was now 
secure.  It was reiterated that children in Gloucestershire were no longer at risk and 
they were safe.  

12.9 Members were informed there were two main challenges going forward, firstly  the 
Liquid Logic IT System and secondly, the stability of the workforce.  The DCS 
advised members there were still challenges with changing social workers and 
there were 27 vacancies to recruit too.  He acknowledged that agencies caused 
issues, as there was a higher turnover of staff which further compounded the 
recruitment process.  

12.10 In response to q question, the DCS explained in order to move forward there were 
still cultural barriers to overcome and it was not a time for complacency.  

12.11 During the discussion it was noted that the Scrutiny Committee should look at itself 
as it had in the past not held the service to account.  Members recognised that on 
going training was required and the Committee should be more robust in its 
questioning of the service going forward.  It was suggested that perhaps a member 
only session could be held to discuss issues and concerns openly before officers 
were invited to advise.  

12.12 The Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years wished to thank 
the DCS and his team for their high level of professionalism and he recognised that 
the long awaited Ofsted visit had increased morale.  He added that the Ofsted 
report would undoubtedly signposts areas to monitor going forward and it was 
essential to build on the right framework going forward for the children of 
Gloucestershire.  

12.13 The Director of Partnerships & Strategy advised the Committee that the metrics 
weren’t in place in 2017 but reassured Members they were now and this was now 
supported by an objective performance framework.  It was suggested that perhaps 
a training session on the insight and limitations of the framework could be beneficial 
for the Committee to develop its understanding.  

12.14 The DCS explained that the role of scrutiny going forward was to keep the service 
on track in order to provide a high quality service and enable children and young 
people to lead fulfilled lives.  He urged members to do their own research, in order 
to be reassured going forward.  

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

12.15 Members welcomed the verbal update and looked forward to reading the Ofsted 
Inspection Report when it was published on the 1st April. The Democratic Services 
Adviser explained that initial report would be presented to Council first and then 
perhaps an extraordinary meeting of the Committee could be called for to discuss 
the reports finding in more detail.  

13. DOMESTIC ABUSE 

13.1 The Director of Partnerships & Strategy (DPS) explained the report provided an 
update on activities carried out as a response to the findings and highlighted wider 
practice development as informed by the learning of recent Domestic Homicide 
Reviews. 

13.2 Kanchan Jadeja, Quality Assurance and Improvement Consultant explained that 
regular feedback was received from service users and the service was developing 
as it progressed.  Members were informed there was a considerable amount of 
partnership working in homicide review cases which involved the Police, Health and 
Adult Services.  Officers explained more work was required around male victims of 
Domestic Abuse.  

13.3 It was explained there were issues around recurrent removals, and the service now 
ensured that the child no longer resided with the victim and perpetrator of domestic 
abuse, the aim going forward was to safeguard the child and this required a 
collaborative multi-agency working approach.    

13.4 Members wished to know how more support could be given to those women who 
had children removed, as their own mental health would be suffering given the 
situation they found themselves in.  Officers explained there was a vulnerable 
women’s project for women to receive support.  The service had also worked with 
Gloucestershire University on a research report, which considered various 
operating models. 

13.5 It was acknowledged that women who were victims of domestic abuse felt more 
comfortable in an environment that was led by women for women.  It was noted the 
intention was to look at family centres for support, while working with social workers 
directly on the trauma of losing a child to care, and the added stress for the victim.  

13.6 Members referred to paragraph 6.22 of the report, it was noted that 31% of victims 
were not offered a place of safety, yet 79% of offenders were given support, 
members questioned this imbalance.  

13.7 Officers explained that domestic violence support was a complex process and had 
yet to embedded within the appropriate services.  The access to support was 
primarily focused on the victims, unfortunately some victims were so traumatised 
the access rate was low initially. In terms of access support for victims it was 
necessary to look at what worked in practice  

13.8 In response to a question, it was noted the Domestic Abuse Strategy was reviewed 
every three years.  Members suggested that perhaps the strategy needed to be 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

reviewed regularly as recent events during the pandemic had seen an increase in 
domestic violence.  Members were advised that a joint meeting in association with 
Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee, would be held in due course as a result of a 
Council motion in 2021.  

13.9 Members recognised that many women who served time in HMP Eastwood Park 
were due to domestic violence, it was suggested that women’s centres would be 
more beneficial, as it would be better to rebuild women rather than incarcerate 
them.   The DSP explained they were working closely with the Nelson Centre to 
provide support and advice.    In addition, ‘The Door’ charity has commenced a 
mentoring programme, to divert young women away from the criminal justice 
system, members were  encouraged to look at the work of the charity.   

13.10 During the discussion, the Young Ambassadors wished to know what provisions 
were available for those who were not deemed to be high risk, and referred to page 
42 of the report, that stated 105 Domestic Abuse victims were not able to be 
accommodated in places of safety.  Officers agreed to investigate this point further 
outside of the meeting in order to address the concerns and a response would be 
provided.  

14. SCHOOL EXCLUSIONS - WHAT IS THE PICTURE IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE 

14.1 The Director of Education presented the report in detail which provided the 
Committee with a summary overview of the longitudinal position with regard to 
permanent exclusions from schools within the county and the emerging academic 
picture for academic years 2020-21 and 2021-22.  Members were advised that the 
last complete published data set for permanent exclusions and suspensions was for 
2019-20, the national published data was expected for 2020-21 in July 2022.  It was 
explained that the Authority monitored the figures closely and followed up any areas 
of concern through the Inclusion Team.  

14.2 The Committee noted the numbers of exclusions were unprecedented and this was 
due to the pandemic, the issue of schools opening and closing had significantly 
impacted on the data sets.  It was recognised during the pandemic that schools 
were only open to the most vulnerable and children of key workers.  

14.3 Members were referred to Chart 11 on page 76 of the report, which highlighted the 
pre and post Covid breakdown levels. It was noted there tended to be a difference 
between figures at a national and local level and the data was collated in arrears.  It 
was noted the common reason for permanent exclusion was due to either 
persistent disruptive behaviour or violence against an adult.  

14.4 It was noted there was an increase in Primary and Secondary School permanent 
exclusions in many areas cross the County and boys tended to have the higher rate 
of exclusions.  There also appeared to be a link with children with EHCPs and those 
on free school meals. All those cases with EHCPs where children were excluded 
related to Primary School children recorded with social, emotional and mental 
health in terms of their primary need.  As a result, the Committee noted there was 
also  concurrent  increase in Primary Schools requests for EHCP assessments.  

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

14.5 It was suggested that academisation may be a factor in terms of the difference 
practices and activities across the county, which had contributed to the increase in 
the number of excluded pupils.  During the discussion members questioned the 
2020 figures, as those children who were in receipt of free school meals were five 
times more likely to be exclsuded or a boy  etc. were more likely to be excluded.  

14.6 Some members were frustrated with the report. It appeared that academies could 
exclude pupils for alcohol, drugs, etc.  Members felt GCC had little or no power over 
the academies to change the mechanics.  Members questioned the point of 
reporting such information, if it was out of the Authority’s control.  

14.7 The Director of Education (DoE) explained the report was initially requested to give 
the current picture and that had been provided,  She didn’t agree there was nothing 
that could be done about the situation.  The Committee were advised it was a 
complex area, and academisation was one factor and it could be  harder to 
influence them, although a communication forum was being developed with the 
whole school system to address these wider system issues, including exclusion, 
where all schools regardless of governance arrangements are represented.  

14.8 It was noted all the LA alternative provision schools in the county were now judged 
good by Ofsted.  There are things that the Authority could do and were doing but it 
was necessary to make sure all those levers work well together. It is essential to 
build on the broader working dynamics of the system to tackle the root causes 
across Gloucestershire.  

14.9 The DoE felt it was  catastrophic for a young person to be permanently excluded 
from school and there were things the Authority could do to assist and they were 
doing work behind the scenes.  The Chair explained that the CFOSC scrutinised all 
of the children within the County and he felt there were things members could do 
especially within the realms of this committee.  

14.10 Members wondered if there is a link between poor attendance and being excluded.  
The DoE commented that the impact of the pandemic with mental health issues 
leading to  poor attendance was a concern. , Work was being carried out between  
CHAMS and the LA Inclusion team on this factor, but this was not a cause of 
permanent exclusion.  It was noted that many teachers, frontline staff and children 
were exhausted and it was recognised that in some cases children’s behaviour 
would get worse before it improved.  The Committee recognised many of the issues 
could be  attributed to the Covid Impact and this was a complex area of work that 
required synergy between all services and it was recognised that this is  a national 
issue

14.11 Some members wondered if some academies were excluding children they didn’t 
want in school via home schooling or off rolling. It was reported there was a 
statutory obligation in terms of reporting and recording of suspensions and 
exclusions.  The Exclusion Team monitored and followed up any cases of concern 
and was aware of these potential  issues in its work. 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

14.12 The DCS felt there was a need for a cultural shift in schools and the way they deal 
with permanent exclusions in secondary schools. He recognised there was an 
organisational difference between primary and secondary schools and their ability 
to retain difficult children.  

14.13 It was reported that a proportion of permanent exclusions were due to a student 
carrying an offensive weapon, carrying or selling substances and physical violence.  
The DCS personally felt that children should be excluded for physical violence as 
this impacted greatest on the victim, both emotionally and mentally.  He felt that to 
exclude a child for carrying weapons or substances was a missed opportunity for 
early intervention.  By excluding a child, those issues would now be moved to 
outside of the school gate, when perhaps intervention was required in school.  It 
was suggested perhaps adopting the shock and awe approach and the involvement 
of police and the appropriate services would help prevent an issue involving 
weapons and drugs from spiralling out of control further on down the line.  There 
was a need for an educative approach, an opportunity to intervene and manage 
those behaviours and have a debate with socially with parents and schools.  

14.14 Some members felt it was a fascinating and analytical report and questioned the 
number of physical assaults in 2019/20.  The Committee wondered what were the 
reasons for this type of behaviour and if the initial problem started at home.  The 
DoE explained that was the million dollar question and factors at home often related 
to a child’s behaviour in school, therefore early intervention was a key factor.  

14.15 The Director of Children’s Safeguarding and Care  (DCSC), advised the Committee 
that she would be working collaboratively with the DoE to look at the numerous 
factors that impact on young people.  She recognised there were acute difficulties 
which would impact on the most vulnerable families over the coming 12 months and 
beyond.  

14.16 The Directors recognised there was a need for collaborative work across the 
services and mobilising the support at the earliest point was of paramount 
importance.  The DCSC explained in her previous post, response teams were put in 
place to go into schools to understand the issues as to  why that child was carrying 
a weapon or substances and had the ability to input a plan to reduce risk and build 
support and reduce permanent exclusion,  was regarded as a positive piece of 
work.  It was necessary to understand what was going on outside of school and at 
home for that young person in the first instance.  It was deemed to be a complex 
issue that required a wrap around approach.  

14.17 During the discussion the DoE reiterated that some heads were forced into 
permanent exclusions by parent and staff pressure and it was necessary to have a 
collaborative approach to support heads to have alternatives to permanent 
exclusion.  

14.18 In response to a question, it was explained that post Christmas behaviour was 
unravelling in schools. Some children were not learning anything and were 
manipulating the situation.  It was recognised that there were higher numbers of 
exclusions in secondary schools, as children in primary schools tended to receive 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

more support from Tas and could remain in place.  Officers felt that a lot of work 
needed to be done around the transition arrangements.  

14.19 Members felt reassured by the collaborative working approach of DoE and the 
DCSC but felt that schools were funded to provided education and not social care 
and wondered if there was any further support that could be given to schools in this 
area.  The DoE explained that it was variable and depended on the school and how 
they decide to deploy the resources.   It was noted that social media played a 
contributing factor in peer on peer abuse.  

14.20 The Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills noted there was a positive 
trend in 2014-20 and he appreciated the concerns raised and echoed the 
sentiments raised by the Committee.  He felt it would interesting to see the verified 
figures in July 2022 and  urged the committee to focus on the improvements made 
in recent years.  

14.21 The Diocese representative felt many headteachers felt alone especially during the 
pandemic and they were alone at the rock face and had little or no support from the 
local authority.   She recognised that a lot of issues were historic and the delay in 
the EHCP process during the pandemic had further compounded issues, which had 
significantly impacted exclusion figures. Members were advised about a school 
experience where the EHCP process had reduced from 20 weeks to 16 weeks 
currently in some cases.  

14.22 The committee member stated that proactive support rather than reactive support 
was required. There was a growing number of heads that were becoming more 
trauma informed in their approaches and she had been trained in restorative 
practice, which involved a whole community approach and was more of a societal 
issue not just a school issue.  It was recognised  there was a balance of give and 
take and the positives should be highlighted more.   It was suggested that this 
approach needed to be led by the Authority and the Regional Schools 
Commissioner (RSC), as this approach needed to be taken on board by the 
academy chains.  

14.23 Trauma informed practice was needed for a whole society approach and it was a 
balance of give and take.  In terms of the restorative programme, 12 primary and 9 
secondary schools were now involved. It was suggested that heads and trustees of 
the academy chains need to be involved.  The no child left behind intiative in 
Cheltenham could be used across the county and members were urged to 
investigate this project further.  All schools should invest in becoming restorative 
practice aware in order to bring about an effective change at the heart of everything 
we do.  

14.24 In response to a question, in terms of restorative practice Gloucestershire was a 
lead on this area regionally  and nationally and peer working had been undertaken 
to share best practice methods. 

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

14.25 Members welcomed a dedicated extraordinary meeting on restorative practice and 
exclusions and the RSC would be invited to attend, once the new data had been 
published in July 2022.  (Action - AG to liaise with RSC July/Sept)

15. GLOUCESTERSHIRE EARLY HELP 

15.1 The Director of Partnerships & Strategy (DPS) gave a detailed verbal update on the 
current position.  He  explained the outcome of the Ofsted Inspection would inform 
the provision of early help.  Members were advised that the graphic chart on page 
82 of the report had been shared with the Inspection Team and was well received, 
the committee recognised that early help prevented escalation into the system later 
on.  

15.2 In response to a question, it was noted that Communications Team were leading on 
the promotion of early help services.  The DPS  explained the children and family 
centres would lead on the development of family hubs.  It was reported that this 
area of work was currently ongoing and an updated would be provided to the 
September Committee meeting.

15.3 The Committee felt family centres did a considerable amount of good work in the 
local community and offered critical triage in terms of early help and support.  
Members were urged to look at their own local communities in an effort to develop 
their own understanding on what services were available in terms of early help.  
Many members believed in a comprehensive service and recognised that it was 
important to reach out rather than narrow down services.  

15.4 The Committee recognised that the eagerly awaited Ofsted Report would give the 
Committee a clear sense of direction in terms of the commissioning of services.  
The DCS anticipated that early help services would receive a positive response in 
the report.  He added the number of children going into care had not decreased, as 
children were not leaving the care system as in previous years.   It was recognised 
this was a national trend and there was a more complex picture rather than a 
straight forward correlation.  

15.5 The Chair confirmed that family hubs were on the work plan for the September 
meeting, but wondered how we measure  the value added element and wondered 
what evidence could be brought to Committee to show that over time.  

16. COMMITTEE WORKPLAN 

16.1 The Committee discussed the work plan in detail and agreed the following items be 
included for consideration: 
- Ofsted Inspection Report and outcomes, subject to going Council primarily,  

potentially this could be an extraordinary meeting 
- Children’s Services IT (LiquidLogic)
- Interdependence and the importance of partnership working 
- Exclusion Data Set figures and restorative practice, it was agreed that the  

RSC be invited to a meeting, once the latest data set had been published in 
July.  

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

- LGA Training events  
- NSPCC Training (Caspar newsletter)

16.2 Members were reminded to submit questions on the standing items, three days in 
advance of the committee meeting.  

16.3 The Committee were reminded it was important to remember the “So What” 
question and to always  ask “How do we know if were making a difference”.   It was 
recognised the Ofsted report would inform the Committee’s priorities and additional 
items may be added to the work plan at a later point

16.4 Officers were reminded to include the Young Ambassadors on their list of statutory 
consultees for strategies.  

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 1.21 pm

Page 10



- 1 -

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on Friday 22 April 2022 commencing at 10.00 am at the Virtual 
Meeting - Web ex meeting.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr David Drew
Cllr Ben Evans (Vice-
Chair)
Cllr Nick Housden
Cllr Beki Hoyland

Cllr Mark Mackenzie-Charrington
Cllr Dr Andrew Miller (Chairman)
Cllr Emma Nelson
Ambassadors for Vulnerable Children &
 Young People

Officers present: Chris Spencer (Director of Children’s Services), Kirsten Harrison 
(Director of Education), Ann James (Director of Children’s 
Safeguarding & Care) and Andrea Griffiths.

Apologies: Charlotte Blanch and Cllr Linda Cohen

17. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillor Andrew Miller declared he was in the process of applying to become a 
foster carer for the Authority.

Councillor Beki Hoyland declared she was a mentor for ‘Breathe’. 

Councillor Nick Housden declared he was a Director of Bridge Youth Services.

18. OFSTED INSPECTION : OUTCOME  REPORT 

18.1 The Director of Children’s Services (DCS) presented the report and continued to 
explain the inspection process in detail.  Ofsted Inspector’s had recognised the 
preparation and commended Officers on the production of requested information 
within twelve hours of the initial request.  The DCS recognised the Authority still had 
work to do to achieve a good rating.  

18.2 Members were advised that the service was a whisker away from achieving good 
for leadership and management of its social work practice and staff should be 
congratulated on their efforts.  The Committee felt if the Inspection had taken place 
last summer, when the number of vacancies was at a low, and the service was 
more stable, the situation could have been even more positive.  However, in the 
current climate there were a greater percentage of agency staff due to the market 
conditions which has slowed the rate of improvement a little.  

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

18.3 The DCS recognised the Authority had come a considerable way since the initial 
report in 2017, he remarked that the situation was more dire than initially reported 
as the service had been allowed to drift for some time following the last inspection.  
In order to overcome these difficulties when the DCS was appointed in 2018, he 
had invested in a strong leadership team who had a collective approach to improve 
children services.  A long and difficult journey had been embarked upon, which had 
been further compounded by the pandemic.  

18.4  It was noted the Inspection Team felt significant progress had been made and this 
was acknowledged within their report, most importantly they recognised that 
children in Gloucestershire were no longer at risk of harm.  

18.5 Members were advised that based on the report, Ofsted believed the Authority 
knew it strengths and weaknesses and recognised plans were in place to overcome 
the weaknesses.  In an effort to overcome the challenges a clear model of practice 
was evolving.  

18.6 In terms of what areas needed further improvement, members noted that the quality 
of accommodation for young people was an area of concern.  The DCS felt the 
accommodation should be suitable for our own children and the same standards 
should be applied for a young person in care.  

18.7 The Committee were informed that due to the legacy of poor practice in the past 
older Children and young people in the system had received a poor service which 
has implications for current challenges which young people are facing.  Officer’s 
recognised there were some improvements to be made to the Care Leavers 
Service.  

18.8 The DCS explained one of the main issues faced by frontline staff was the aged IT 
infrastructure and proves to be a constant source of frustration as work was often 
lost due to system issues and had to be inputted all over again.  

18.9 Members were pleased to note that Ofsted complimented the Social Workers and 
the practices used were regarded as a positive trajectory.  As such, staff now felt 
more positive to work for Gloucestershire County Council as there were 
opportunities for career progression. 

18.10 In essence, members felt the report narrative was positive and detailed but realised 
it was a journey and it would take time to achieve an overall good rating.  
The DCS reminded the committee of where the service had come from to its current 
position.  He highlighted that the service had come along way and this was the 
springboard to the improvement journey to good.  

18.11 The Chair highlighted the point that the Authority had moved from inadequate to 
requires improvement, he felt this was a fantastic position for the service to be in 
and thanked the DCS and his team for all their efforts.  He also wished to recognise 
the work and efforts of the current and previous Cabinet Members and the 
supporting councillors, past and present, who had gone over and above to get the 
service to this point.  

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

18.12 The Chair also wished to extend his personal thanks to the Young Ambassadors 
and the foster parents who had also played a valuable part in the journey.  

18.13 In response to a question, members were advised that the Ofsted reporting 
framework had changed since 2017 and it was now more rigorous.  It was 
recognised the Inspectors were very skilled and practiced at homing in on the 
service issues and they undertook considerable research before the visit.  Members 
were advised to read the report in conjunction with the self-assessment.  Officers 
were reassured by the forensic process that had been undertaken.    

18.14 Members were amazed by the amount of work that had been undertaken to get to 
this point and they acknowledged what had gone before.  The Committee felt there 
were a wide variety of areas that needed due consideration as part of the 
committee’s future work plan.  

18.15 In response to a question, it was explained that the Accelerated Improvement Plan 
(AIP) had many overlaps within the various service areas and it played an important 
part in the continued improvement journey, therefore it was necessary to produce 
an action plan in response to the report findings.  The DCS explained that a new 
Continuous Improvement Plan would replace the AIP, as it needed to be refreshed 
and refocused.  

18.16 Members wondered what the position was for Ukrainian families and foreign 
students.  The Director of Safeguarding and care explained that an update would 
be provided by public Health in relation to Ukrainian families as those arrangements 
were ongoing.  In terms of foreign students, there were private fostering 
arrangements if the placements exceeded 28 days and the service were looking at 
the resources available.  Members requested an overview of who the teams were 
within the directorate.  (Action – Ann James) 

18.17 The Director of Education (DoE) explained that language support as provided by 
GARAS was in place for Ukrainian families and refugees.  Members were advised 
that many Ukrainian refugees spoke English and were undertaking online learning 
but that depended on their age.  Host families also had access to support and 
guidance.  It was noted that a briefing would be provided to members in due 
course.  

18.18 The Committee recognised the efforts of the team and wished to congratulate them 
on their efforts.  The DCS appreciated the sentiment and he felt it would help to 
boost morale.  

18.19 In response to a question, members were advised that Ofsted randomly selected 
twelve case files and scrutinised them closely. Overall during the course of the 
inspection however Ofsted inspectors will have scrutinised something in the region 
of 200 children’s files.  Officers could suggest other files if they felt there were better 
examples of practice available.  It was noted the current framework used by Ofsted 
was more strength based and they had the right to roam if they wished too.  

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

18.20 The Committee were surprised to learn that the various services were working 
within excess of 5,000 families who all required different levels of care and support, 
members felt this helped to put things into perspective.  

18.21 The DCS advised the Committee that the report had been circulated to all staff 
within the directorate and a webinar had taken place and was attended by over 450 
members of staff.  The report findings had been shared and celebrated, which help 
to lift morale.  It was noted that media coverage was relatively low key given it was 
a good news story.  

18.22 The Young Ambassador (YA) advised the committee that young care leavers 
accommodation sometimes felt unsafe and the locations weren’t always desirable.  
They felt the individual’s circumstances needed to be considered before a 
placement was made.  The DCS recognised there were always improvements to be 
made but to get a consistent approach that would be a challenge.  It was noted that 
the young ambassadors were due to present to the district councils on the issue of 
living arrangements in relation to damp, unsafe flats, etc.  Members noted there 
were issues surrounding tenancy agreements and they felt there was a lot more 
work to be undertaken in this area on a number of levels.  The DCS recognised 
accommodation for care leavers was a key issue.  

18.23 The Director of Children’s Safeguarding and Care explained that housing was 
delivered on an eligibility basis and it would be necessary to swim against the tide 
to deliver suitable accommodation beyond the social housing policy.  

18.24 It was requested that the report and its findings be distributed to the YA’s, in an 
effort to share with the actual service users and gain their view.  Members 
recognised that a communications plan was required to disseminate the report 
findings correctly to those who were impacted greatest by the service.  

18.25 The Committee referred to the report which noted the IT systems and failures.  In 
response to a question the DCS advised the Committee that the IT infrastructure 
had not been well maintained by the previous service provider and on occasion it 
had not been compatible with the service needs.  Staff had become increasingly 
frustrated with the system and the need to replace the system was evident.  
Members noted that officers were considering Liquid Logic hosting the system, as it 
was currently being used by other Local Authorities quite successfully.  It was 
recognised that IT was a major barrier to improvement and this area need to be 
dealt with as a priority going forward and would be detailed in the Continuous 
Improvement Plan.  

18.26 Officers appreciated the need for an IT programme to deliver and develop an 
enhanced practice, to work collectively with partnerships to deliver the continued 
improvements.  

18.27 In response to a question, it was explained that social services staff had continued 
to work in a face to face environment throughout the lockdown period and this had 
been recognised and commended by the Ofsted Team.  Members were advised 
that staff had been based in the office throughout and it was important for staff to be 

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

able to discuss and share experiences.  The DCS explained that many staff were 
beginning to return to the office, however this was being done on a rota basis as 
the Council had removed desks from many of the offices as part of their agile 
working policy.  

18.28 The Director of Education explained the concept of agile working had received a 
mixed understanding but it was now moving in the right direction.  It was recognised 
that life had moved on and there was now a new way of working which required a 
new balance.  

18.29 The Committee proceeded to discuss the role of the Improvement Board and the 
need to progress the journey and the structure required for continued improvement.  
The Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years that there would 
be an Improvement Board but the new board would involve greater multi-agency 
and cross party working and would remain separate to the scrutiny committee 
function.  Members welcomed this approach and look forward to an update in due 
course.

18.30 The Committee reiterated that it wished to convey its congratulations and thanks to 
all staff involved in the service area, they hoped officer’s felt empowered to continue 
to deliver the service, as their efforts had not gone unrecognised.  

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 11.45 am

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



1

Youth justice plan template

Service Gloucestershire

Service Manager/ Lead Hannah Clune & Sarah Penny

Chair of YJP Board Andy Dempsey

Contents 
1. Introduction, vision and strategy

2. Local context

3. Child First

4. Voice of the child

5. Governance, leadership and partnership arrangements

6. Resources and services

7. Progress on previous plan

8. Performance and priorities

9. National standards

10. Challenges, risks and issues

11. Service improvement plan

12. Evidence-based practice and innovation

13. Looking forward 

14. Sign off, submission and approval

15.Appendix 1 - Full board membership; linked to Governance, leadership and 
partnership arrangements

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



2

1. Introduction, vision and strategy 

Foreword 

Executive summary

Vision and strategy

The vision for the Gloucestershire Youth Justice Service (YJS) is to work in partnership, 
across the county, to understand and address the needs of children in the justice system. 
Child First in the guiding principle that underpins our work. The service aims to deliver 
high quality support to children in the justice system through the operationalisation of the 
Child First evidence base.

The strategy to achieve this is based around training and developing our own staff to 
have a greater understanding of how to apply Child First in practice. However, this needs 
to extend beyond our own service, and we need to share and disseminate evidence and 
research to support the best interests of children with other partners, board members 
and the community, bringing them with us, in creating opportunities for change for some 
of the most disadvantaged children in our community. 

2. Local context 

Gloucestershire is a semi-rural county in Southwest England covering an area 
approximately 1,649 square miles. The county has two major population centres in 
Gloucester and Cheltenham and 4 other districts, Stroud, Tewkesbury, Cotswolds, and 
the Forest of Dean. Gloucester and Cheltenham are the most ethnically diverse areas of 
the county. The 10-17 population of Gloucestershire is 56,312 of which around 7% are 
children from black and minority ethnic backgrounds.

In Gloucestershire, the Youth Justice Service (YJS) is incorporated within targeted youth 
support through the County’s Youth Support Team (YST), a multi-agency, multi-
disciplinary service, commissioned by Gloucestershire County Council and delivered by 
Prospects, part of the Shaw Trust Charity. This integrated model allows support to be 
delivered at the earliest prevention stages or equally sustained beyod the young person’s 
Court Order. It also reduces the stigmatising impact that stand alone YJS’s can have as 
well as creating a more integrated plan for the children in the service. The overarching 
aim is to support children to achieve their potential and prepare them to make a 
successful transition to adulthood.

Page 18



3

3. Child First 

Child First in Practice

The Child First evidence base is fundamental to the work delivered with children in the 
justice system in Gloucestershire. The above diagram illustrates how the various 
approaches used with children and families in Gloucestershire are linked to the Child 
First Tenets.

We recognise that Children who offend are often themselves vulnerable and that 
traditional criminalising sanctions can be ineffective, inappropriate, and disproportionate. 
Gloucestershire Children First diversion scheme continues to divert children away from 
the Criminal Justice System and we continue to push boundaries and challenge 
traditional cultural and systemic responses to youth offending in the interests of children, 
young people, and the wider community. We monitor the effectiveness of Children First 
using local data to analyse reoffending rates. These have consistently been lower than 
the national data for Youth Cautions and all other formal sanctions.

The Children First diversion system has also developed a return from court process for 
children who may have provided a no comment interview to the police and been charged 
to court. This option allows the YJS duty officer, CPS and defence to collaborate in the 
best interests of the child. The YJS recognises the developmental stage of a child and 
how this impacts the decisions that they make. This is considered by giving children more 
than one opportunity to be diverted, recognising progress that has been made and 
diverting offences after a period of desistence or returning from court if the child has 
changed their mind about admitting responsibility. 

Seeing children as 
children 

Awareness of adultifaction

Exploitation and NRMs

Education

Family work / structural support

Health needs

Develop prosocial 
identifies for positive 

change 
Identity shift / future focus (PCP)

Education / NEET work

Trauma informed approach

Constructive resettlement

Relational approach

Restorative approach 

Collaboration with 
children

Engagement skills

Motivational interviewing 

Community engagement e.g. music 
works, reparation

Systems approaches  

Service user panel

Promote diversion

Children First diversion

Minimise criminogenic stigma (contact)

Integrated service allows for exit 
planning

Preventative work in schools

Early revocation

L&D - Triage

Child First

Restorative Justice Victim engagement

Page 19



4

Child First is not limited to diversion and is evident across Youth Justice practice in 
Gloucestershire. A recent area of development is how the service uses the term Child in 
discussions with partner organisations to continually remind them of the responsibilities 
they have to this cohort of children which can be forgotten through the adultification in 
terms such as adolescent or young person. The YJS also recognises how 
responsibilisation of the child can happen and aims to practice in a systemic way, 
incorporating families and communities in to the support for children. This includes 
working with education settings and advocating for the rights and needs of children in the 
justice system. 

The YJS have developed and are in the process of rolling out training for the service 
around identity shift. This draws on the identity shift research from Beyond Youth Custody 
and combines this with the evidence base of Personal Construct Psychology and 
Motivational interviewing to give practitioners skills they can use with children. While work 
is still in the early stages the initial feedback from practitioners has been positive. There 
is a strong belief within Gloucestershire YJS of the benefits of supporting children to 
develop pro-social identities. This has been included in the training for the new panel 
volunteers but is also considered in other areas of work such a reparation. While 
reparation continues to have benefit to the community, the YJS is looking at ways that 
this can also be used to support positive pro-social identities through the tasks 
completed. Examples include using a workshop to support children interested in 
construction skills or cooking activities which can support the development of an identity 
related to catering. These options are available to the children in the service but the 
decisions about what takes place, or the development of the identities is co-constructed 
with the child based on their interests or what they would like to try or explore.

Gloucestershire has established a process for identifying concerns around exploitation 
and National Referral Mechanism (NRM) submitting. The strong working relationship the 
service has with the courts in the area ensures that children who have been exploited 
are given the support they need with minimal criminogenic stigma. The YJS is a partner 
in the development of a wider exploitation strategy for the county. 

Gloucestershire have recently received funding and have become part of a wider 
southwest project developing the trauma-informed approach and enhanced casework 
model. This is an exciting area being developed in conjunction with other YJS’s across 
the southwest including the implementation of the Trauma Recovery Model. The team 
have received  YJB trauma-informed training and through funding via Shaw Trust, are in 
the process of receiving enhanced trauma training from Dr Anna Draper.

4. Voice of the child 

The voice of the child is integral to the service offered in Gloucestershire; however, we 
acknowledge that this is an area for continual development. There is a regular, quarterly 

Page 20



5

Feedback Fortnite where additional focus is provided to encourage children to provide 
anonymous feedback for their experience of the service. This feedback is collected and 
used to guide service development. The feedback from children consistently 
demonstrates that the workers in the YJS are strong at using relational based practice 
and the benefits that children derive from the relationships. There is also a strong 
recognition that the support they receive creates positive change in their lives. However, 
there are more mixed responses around their own understanding / articulation of what 
needs to happen next in their lives and the pace that this should happen. This is feeding 
into conversations within the service around the shift to a Child First approach to contact, 
replacing the scaled approach levels of intervention. 

The YJS have a strong audit process in place. This includes a minimum of two youth 
justice cases being audited each month. The independent manager will contact the child 
and parent/carer to give them an opportunity to provide feedback / their views. This 
information has been aggregated and shows that children found the relationships with 
the work was positive, they felt better about themselves, some reported feeling safer and 
comments were about enjoying the content of sessions. Other children reported that they 
valued the links into community-based provision such as Music Works. 

Children supported by the service are reporting that there are range of issues within their 
communities such as exposure to criminal behaviour, the disruption of illegal drugs and 
poverty in some cases. This has been valuable to the development of the service and is 
an area of work that needs to develop further to understand their diverse needs and lived 
experiences. 

The service recognises that the past two years have been particularly challenging and 
would like to expand the integration of children in the design and development of the 
Youth Justice Service and the wider Youth Support Team. The ambition over the next 
year is to establish a Youth Board for the whole of the Youth Support Team comprising 
children who have experienced the service. This group will also have the opportunity to 
feed into the Youth Justice Management Board to assist with strategic decision making. 

5. Governance, leadership and partnership arrangements 

The Youth Justice Management Board (YJMB) have oversight of the effectiveness of 
Gloucestershire YJS and provides strategic direction. It is chaired by the local authority’s 
Director of Partnerships and comprises of senior representatives from the National 
Probation Service, the PCC, District Councils, Police, Health, Children’s Social Care, 
Restorative Gloucestershire, Education, Courts, Prospects (commissioned as the YST 
which incorporates the YOS), Commissioning, Early Help and the YJB. The Board meets 
quarterly and oversees the quality of delivery and its success in terms of delivery key 
aims and objectives.

Page 21



6

The YJS Head of Service reports into the Operations Director of the Youth Support Team 
who is, in turn, accountable to the Assistant Director Commissioning and GCC’s Director 
of Children’s Services. 

The YJS is part of an integrated service, and the Head of Service has responsibility for a 
portfolio of services including all Youth Justice related activity, targeted and open access 
youth work and activities, and the Liaison and Diversion service. Delivery is via a 
structure comprising small multi-disciplinary teams to ensure that a child’s journey is 
seamless (See Appendix A structure chart).

This work also sits within the wider YST portfolio, which delivers a variety of services to 
vulnerable young people. The inclusion of the YJS staff in this integrated model enables 
the sharing of expertise and transferable skills that allows for a more co-ordinated and 
timely response to individual young people who often have multiple and complex needs.

In addition to the Youth Justice Management Board, the YJS Head of Service also sits 
on the following Boards - Gloucestershire Criminal Justice, Gloucestershire Prevent, 
Channel Panel, MAPPA, Safer Gloucestershire, Serious Organised Crime Prevention 
Strategic, and Restorative Gloucestershire. Safer Gloucestershire provides the strategic 
framework for county-wide community safety activity including Youth Justice and 
provides a forum for the discussing issues that cannot be resolved within the YJMB.

The Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children Partnership (GSCP) receives performance 
information on youth justice.

6. Resources and services 

Agency Staff Costs
Payments in 
kind - 
revenue

Other 
delegated 
funds

Total

Local Authority £891,708 £141,501 £1,033,20
9

Police Service £62,000 £62,000
National Probation 
Service £7,750 £5,000 £12,750
Health Service £191,220 £194,000 £30,344 £415,564
Police & Crime 
Commissioner £160,527 £25,473 £186,000
YJB £480,807 £67,226 £548,033
Other £0
Total £1,724,262 £263,750 £269,544 £2,257,55

6
Note data from the 2021/ 22 plan to be updated

Page 22



7

Gloucestershire YJS use the Youth Justice grant, partner contributions and available 
resources to deliver the Youth Justice Service and believe this will produce the following 
benefits and outcomes.

Our performance will be improved in 2022/23 by reduced reoffending rates and reduced 
first time entrant numbers. We are aware that custody numbers are likely to increase 
next year due to a few children currently remanded for serious offences. 

7. Progress on previous plan 

The previous plan aimed to continue to reduce the custody numbers, while the custody 
rate remains low, there are currently several children remanded to custody for serious 
offences. They are likely to be sentenced in the coming year and this will impact the 
custody numbers. This is indicative of a need and plans for the service to work more 
closely with partners to both prevent serious offences and to offer robust alternatives to 
custody.

The previous plan aimed to maintain low FTE rates. Gloucestershire continues to do this 
in comparison to national figures. However, this has increased in the past year and has 
been driven by an increase in the use of Youth Conditional Cautions, weapons related 
offences and traffic offences. The YJS is working with partners to address this emerging 
issue, as it is clear from the re-offending data that a Children First intervention is more 
effective in reducing the risk of further offending behaviour than Youth Conditional 
Cautions.

The previous plan aimed to develop the offer for victims and restorative work through 
collaboration with Why Me. Since this work, the service has developed the co-ordination 
and co-allocation of restorative justice work between the YJS victim worker and 
Restorative Gloucestershire, a local restorative organisation. They have provided 
restorative justice training to the YJS victim worker, skills sharing, group supervision and 
co-working of cases. The service now aims to contact all victims prior to the initial 
diversion panel so that victims’ voices are evident in decisions and decision making. The 
regularity and feedback to victims has been greatly improved over the past year and this 
is ensuring more expedient resolution of diversion interventions with police colleagues. 

8. Performance and priorities 

Performance

This section details the performance 
Include data here on FTE, Reoffending, Custody, education

Page 23



8

 

19%
15%

18% [VALUE]
16%

22%24% 24%
21%

24% 25%

36% 36%
33%

34% 34%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

Q4 2018/19 Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 Q3 2019/20 Q4 2019/20 Q1 2020/21
Glos Children First 19% 15% 18% 19% 16% 22%
ONS Youth Caution 24% 24% 21% 24% 25%
ONS Overall reoffending rate 36% 36% 33% 34% 34%

Glos Children First ONS Youth Caution ONS Overall reoffending rate

Ongoing Children First reoffending rate tracker

Children First Reoffending Tracker

This chart shows the reoffending by quarter for Children First (including second or 
subsequent CFP) in blue compared with national reoffending data for Youth Cautions 
(orange) and the overall national reoffending rate (grey). 

In the year April’19 – March’20 a total of 210 CFP’s were issued with a reoffending rate 
of 17%. The reoffending rate has consistently been below the National Youth Caution 
reoffending rate. The increase in Q1 2020/21 is likely to be related to the Covid-19 
pandemic – while the same number of children reoffended as the previous quarter the 
cohort was smaller. Multiple factors are likely to have impacted this such as the Joint 
Decision Making Panel (JDP) focusing resources on children with the greatest need and  
children for minor offences.

Custody

Custody rate 
per 1,000 of 10 
– 17-year-old 
population

Gloucestershire South-West YOT family National

Jan 21 – Dec 
21 0.03 0.05 0.05 0.11

Jul 20 – Jun 21 0.03 0.06 0.05 0.14

Apr 20 – Mar 
21 0.09 0.06 0.06 0.13

Page 24



9

Jan 20 – Dec 
20 0.12 0.07 0.07 0.15

Between January 2021 – December 2021, 0.03 per 1,000 10 – 17-year-olds in 
Gloucestershire were sentenced to custody. This equates to two young people. 

One was a 2year, 4month sentence for wounding with intent and possession of an 
offensive weapon. The other was a 4month DTO for 3 offences of Common Assault, 
Criminal Damage and Threats to Kill, there had been extensive prior support for this child 
on community orders. 
 
One was female and of dual heritage and one was male and of dual heritage.

Priorities for the coming year

During the coming year, 2022/23 that priorities for the service are to provide a high-quality 
service to the children, families, victims and communities in Gloucestershire this will be 
achieved by:

 Working with partners to expand the range of offences that can be diverted. This 
will reduce the FTE and result in the criminalisation of fewer children and will be 
achieved through a reduction in the use of YCC’s through the development of a 
shared understanding of the robust diversion offer made to children through the 
Children First system. 

 Addressing the multiple and complex needs of the children that continue to 
reoffend. This has been an emerging issue for the service since the diversion 
system resulted in a higher concentration of children with complex needs in the 
statutory cohort. However, while these children do have complex needs, they will 
also have multiple strengths. The development of strong assessment and 
planning skills that draw from the Child First evidence base and trauma informed 
practice, combined with strong partnership working will aim to reduce this number 
in the live data and in official data in the coming years.

 While the service is aware that custody numbers are likely to increase in the 
coming year due to the number of children currently remanded for serious 
offences it is hoped that these are isolated incidents. The wider work for the Youth 
Justice Management board and other local priorities such as the County 
Exploitation Strategy will hopefully both reduce and prevent further serious 
offences that result in custodial sentences.

 An area of emerging need for the county is around serious violence committed by 
children. In the past year there have been two very serious offences where 
children have been involved. The YJS recognises that there is a need to work 
effectively with these children while also having a strategic vision to prevent 

Page 25



10

children becoming involved in these types of offences. To address this need there 
is the development of a countywide exploitation strategy which will bring together 
local partners to both safeguard children while disrupting and pursuing the 
exploiters. In addition, the YJS and wider YST are working with local voluntary 
organisations to develop prevention and education work, including group work in 
community and educational settings, however resourcing for expanding this is 
currently challenging.

 Education is a universal right for children. However, for many children involved 
with the YJS they do not have or are not attending a suitable education placement. 
There are concerns about the number of children with EHCPs who do not have 
an education placement. This will be addressed through the reestablishment of 
the education subgroup. The Director of Education for the LA and YJMB member 
is fully engaged with the YJS to address emerging issues. 

 The YJS have an early help offer which provides some provision for Targeted 
Prevention which the service aim to expand over the coming year. However, there 
remains a need for an early prevention offer that avoids the unnecessary 
criminogenic stigma associated with the YJS. The YJS, while being well skilled to 
work with children with complex needs are not currently resourced to deliver a 
comprehensive early prevention offer. The aim for the coming year is to develop 
a strong partnership with Families First (Gloucestershire’s Supporting Families 
Team). The vision is to embed senior leaders from the Families First team into the 
wider Children’s First diversion team. This will enable support for children and their 
families who have a No further action (NFA) outcome without the conflict of 
needing a justice disposal to obtain this support. However, the YJS will need to 
offer strategic support and training to Families First to support this offer.  

 The YJS aim to continue to develop the excellent work of the children’s pathway 
for Liaison and Diversion. There is now a dedicated manager with oversight of 
both the custody and community offer. The aim is to further these links with the 
Children’s First diversion system so that children who have been triaged and who 
are having their needs met can have minimal contact from the YJS. There is a link 
with targeted prevention, identifying and screening those children who have 
received multiple NFA’s but no substantive outcomes. While this has been tried 
previously, the pandemic prevented further development and this an area that 
could be innovative in the preventative sphere. The coming year will focus on 
reviewing the Joint Decision-Making Panel (JDP) guidance and terms of reference 
to ensure that the good practice is recorded, and that the system is not reliant on 
individuals from any partner.

 There are a growing number of children within the YJS who present with multiple 
and complex needs. These children are often those who are more likely to 
reoffend. It is notable that children with multiple and complex needs are evident in 
both statutory and diversionary caseloads. To develop the work around this group 

Page 26



11

of children and the challenges that they experience in their lives the service plans 
to introduce a complex needs subgroup to have strategic oversight. This will aim 
to reduce the risk of reoffending by this cohort of children through strategic 
direction and links with the complex needs oversight processes in the YJS and 
children’s social care.

 The YJS and Management Board in Gloucestershire have recognised that there 
is overrepresentation of black and minority ethnic children, girls and care 
experienced children within the YJS cohort. The YJMB are committed to 
addressing this and are supporting the YJS in conversations with partners around 
the county about this issue. Work is starting to address this disproportionality at 
an early stage. This could include greater understanding of the issue with partners 
in children’s service and additional efforts to engage sectors of the community, 
building trust within communities of services and perhaps some research with 
children’s services to look at the outcomes for children from black and minority 
groups at first contact. It would also be helpful to look at school exclusion 
information to explore if disproportionality is evident. Addressing this issue 
requires an open and strategic response involving a range of partners. This will 
be a valuable but complex area of work to undertake so will be a theme that will 
be revisited in subsequent plans.

 Transitions into adult services remain a priority for the coming year, the service 
will explore how to build on the transition work undertaken by the seconded 
probation officer. There are opportunities to share learning and practice with 
Probations new 18-25’s POD being formed. There is currently a transition process 
map and in the coming year the service aims to cement the crossover from Youth 
Justice to Adult Services and continuity of oversight. 

 The YJS are aware that there is a need to develop constructive resettlement 
practice. The YJS have recently had very few children released from custody 
under YJS supervision due to working hard to provide robust community options, 
reducing the numbers of children who receive short custodial sentences. 
However, with several children currently remanded the children receiving longer 
extended sentences and being released once they transition to adult services 
there is a need to explore constructive resettlement practice with the local 
probation 18-25 POD as this is developed. 

 The Youth Support Team (YST) have a comprehensive health offer for children 
who have contact with the Justice System. This includes mental health 
practitioners, speech and language therapists, physical health nurse and 
substance misuse workers. This offer is accessible to children from the first 
contact with the justice system through the Liaison and Diversion offer. There are 
opportunities in the coming year to further develop and refine this support for 
children and their families including through the complex needs subgroup.

Page 27



12

 The YJS has refined the PACE protocol in the past year and will be monitoring the 
application of this over the coming year through the children in custody subgroup, 
aiming to minimise the number of children held overnight in police custody. There 
will also be work undertaken around the use of appropriate adults in custody to try 
to reduce the use of commissioned provision and support and encourage parents 
/ social worker who have relationships and responsibilities to the children to attend 
interviews. This is to avoid responsiblising the child and ensuring they have 
appropriate support.

 In the forthcoming year the service will have an additional two practitioners who 
will have completed the AIM3 training and will be able to support children who 
have engaged in sexually harmful behaviour alongside colleagues from the 
CAMHS sexually harmful behaviour team and the wider YST who have completed 
the AIM3 training. 

 In recent years the YJS has expanded the collection and analysis of data, this has 
allowed for a greater understanding of overrepresentation and of understanding 
the characteristics of children who offend following diversion. There are 
opportunities to expand this in the coming years by working with Probation to 
explore the longer-term impact of diversion when these children enter adulthood 
to really gain an understanding of the reduction of crime impact. There are also 
opportunities to have a greater understanding of our Health data for example what 
is the effectiveness of the Liaison and Diversion service and understanding the 
impact of the referrals made to our health colleagues on the outcomes for children. 
This will also highlight the children who do not receive a service from out health 
team. 

 The YJS and wider YST recognise the importance of children’s contribution to 
planning and development of services. This will take the form of a young person 
panel where service experienced children will have the opportunity to input into 
the decision-making process but also provide their thoughts around future 
developments such as the use of context-based approaches for addressing 
exploitation. As we continue to develop out practice and Youth Panel.

 The YJS aims to continue to build on the successful development of victim work 
over the past year. Further innovative victim work with young people will be 
developed and improved recording of restorative interventions to capture the 
effective work that has been undertaken. Restorative Gloucestershire have made 
steps in this direction and are willing to support the service by sharing their 
experiences. The service also aims to continue to develop the reporting of data 
relating to victims to ensure that victim work has good oversight. The YJS attend 
the victim and witnesses county group, to ensure that all the work is integrated 
and effective.

Page 28



13

 As part of the diversion system there is an acknowledgement that the Child First 
evidence base is applicable to children who are victims. The YJS are well placed 
to work with Victim Support to develop a deeper understanding of this evidence 
base. There is a strong link between children who have been victims going on to 
offend so this partnership could contribute to an early prevention offer. There 
remains work to do with gaining a better understanding of the children who are 
victims, the contexts in which the offences take place and how to work together 
with partners to address these concerns. 

9. National standards

The YJS complete two audits a month, allocated randomly from the youth justice cohort. 
The composite findings from these are that practitioners establish strong relationships 
with children and that access to specialist services for children was facilitated where 
needed. The audits noted excellent use of the internal specialist staff, a strong 
understanding of trauma and demonstrated good analysis. However, areas for 
development include improving planning for change and while generally management 
oversight was good, there is a need for this to evidence increased timeliness.

Some audits have also noted that there is little resilience within the YJS when staff are 
absent and the impact this has on children. This was also a theme from the 2019 HMIP 
inspection which noted that staff were working at full capacity managing complex cases 
with little resilience. The short-term solution was to make use of wider YST staff in the 
form of one of the children and families team case officers which provided some initial 
additional capacity. However, there is currently recruitment activity due to internal 
promotions and additional responsibilities of practitioners, funded by the YJB which 
recognises the high quality staffing in place within the Gloucestershire YJS. 

10. Challenges, risks and issues 

When horizon scanning, there are several issues that could prove to be problematic for 
the YJS and children in the justice system. The most apparent now is an increase in 
serious violence offences in the past year and the need to work with partners and  
reassure the wider community. The high profile of the offences locally and the 
forthcoming trial is likely to elicit strong feelings in the community with pressure to take a 
more punitive but less evidence-based approach. 

The service is also aware of the challenges for children with complex needs in education. 
Education colleagues have been consulted and have identified a link between exclusion 
and disproportionality. There is also some concern that the Education White Paper 
makes reference to a fully academized education system by 2030 and the impact this 
could have on supporting children with the most complex needs. There is YJS data that 
shows educational placements are not always available for children who have EHCPs.

Page 29



14

The Police, Crime Sentencing and Courts Bill has the potential to reduce the use of 
remand and custodial sentences but proposes to increase the restrictions available in 
the community with a proposed maximum of 365 days ISS. While the aim of reducing 
custodial sentences is welcomed the additional impact of community services needs to 
be considered. There are also local priorities from the OPCC to increase the numbers of 
police officers, this could both have an impact on funding for the YJS while also 
increasing the number of children entering the justice system. Together these proposals 
have the potential to impact the quality of work delivered or the availability of prevention 
or diversionary services.  

As a result of serious incidents in the county, there has been an increase in the use of 
tactical operations by police colleagues to address behaviour by groups of children 
involved in offending behaviour. It is essential that all work involving children takes a 
Child First approach, recognises children are children and is distinct to work involving 
adults. This needs to be integrated in the exploitation strategy for the county. When this 
work is delivered as a single agency response to a child who offends and/or victims of 
exploitation it has the potential to depart from a Child First focus. This increase in the use 
of tactical responses, has the potential to increase the number of children entering the 
justice system and a wider implication on the capacity of the YJS.

There is increasing recognition at a national level from the YJB of the benefits of early 
and targeted prevention work with children. While this is not directly funded currently and 
considering the potential for increased work from the statutory side of the service, the 
aim to deliver an effective and important prevention offer could be compromised.

The previous year's Youth Justice Plan identified that reoffending rates were high for a 
small but complex cohort of children on statutory orders. This remains a challenge for 
the coming year but with the introduction of more Child First based practice including 
identity shift work, trauma informed practice and liaison with wider strategic partners to 
address access to services e.g. education for these children it is hoped that their 
outcomes will be improved in the coming year.

The  use of remand to youth detention accommodation has increased in the past year. 
There is national evidence that a significant number of children who are remanded to 
custody go on to receive community sentences and that the remand episodes disrupt the 
positive aspects in their life which would support long term desistence. The use of 
remand to local authority accommodation is a viable alternative and when well-managed, 
can provide evidence to the court on sentencing that a community order is viable. 
However, it is a challenge for our colleagues in children’s services to find suitable 
placements for these children and more work needs to be undertaken at a strategic level 
to find viable solutions to these operational issues but also in developing and sharing 
understanding of what is effective practice for children who have offended and the wider 
Child First evidence base. 

Page 30



15

11. Service improvement plan 

Aim Target Expected impact / measure
Continue to 
improve the 
Children First 
diversion system. 

Increase range of offences 
which can be diverted.

Create a targeted prevention 
offer with Families First and 
wider partners

Review JDP guidelines and 
term of reference to develop 
the role of partners in panel.

Increased use of L&D for 
children who receive NFA or 
have been charged, arrested 
or voluntary interviewed.

Reduce the use of YCC’s 
through increased 
understanding of the robust 
diversionary offer. 

Reduced FTE rate.

Reduced reoffending by children.
Children will have access to services to 
meet their needs at earliest 
opportunity. 

Reduction in the number of children 
who receive CFP diversion 
interventions with no increase in 
statutory work. 

Assess and 
address the needs 
of children with 
multiple and 
complex needs. 

All staff to have undertaken 
trauma training and to have an 
understanding to the TRM 
model.

Increased use of identity 
concepts in assessment and 
planning with the aim of 
supporting positive identity 
shift.

Consideration of Child First 
evidence-base and co-
production even with children 
with complex needs.

Reduced binary and reoffences per 
reoffender rates. 

Minimise the 
number of children 
in custody

Develop a strategic 
understanding with children’s 
services around the benefits of 
remanding children to the care 
of the local authority.

Reduced number of children remanded 
to YDA.

Page 31



16

Increase use of remand to LA 
care to minimise children 
remanded to custody. 

Use evidence of successful 
remand in the community to 
support community sentence 
proposals in PSR’s.

Collect evidence of outcomes 
for children sentenced to 
robust community orders to 
demonstrate the effectiveness.

Oversight of this area will be 
allocated to the custody 
subgroup who will feed back to 
the YJ management board.

Monitor the effectiveness of 
the revised PACE protocol to 
ensure that children are not in 
police custody overnight 
unnecessarily.

Reduced number of children held 
overnight by police.

Increased confidence and commitment 
by local courts and increased use of 
community sentences resulting in 
reduced number of children sentenced 
to custody. 

Reduce serious 
youth violence

Wider YST (inc. YJS) develop 
the countywide exploitation 
strategy.

Continue to develop the 
preventative offer to provide 
support to schools.

Consideration of context in 
assessment and exploration of 
identity. 

Review of High-Risk Planning 
Meetings in line with the 
exploitation strategy and 
complex needs subgroup.

Continued development of 
violence prevention panel 
which draws together partners 
to identity needs for children 
considered at risk of violent 
offences. 

Reduction in exploitation and young 
people being identified as offenders as 
a result of activity as a result of 
exploitation.

Reduction in high gravity violence 
against the person offences compared 
to previous year. 

Effective process for oversight of 
children with complex needs.

Multi-agency partnership around 
prevention and disruption, 

Improved 
education 
outcomes for 
children.

Re-establish the education 
subgroup which will have 
strategic oversight of the 

We have the ambitious target that 
100% of children will be attending 
suitable education, training or 
employment however acknowledge 

Page 32



17

education of children in the 
justice system.

Make use of education data to 
identity children not receiving 
suitable education of training. 
Particular attention needs to be 
given to ensure that children 
with EHCP’s have suitable 
education. 

Work with partners in the local 
authority to champion the 
rights of children in the justice 
system to have suitable 
education placements. 

that this is unlikely to be achieved in 
the next year and is a more long-term 
target. 

Increase 
prevention offer in 
Gloucestershire.

Increase the number of 
children who received an L&D 
health screening by developing 
an offer for children who have 
received multiple NFA’s.

Work with partners in Families 
First to offer training and 
consultation from the YJS to 
support Families First in 
delivery on early intervention 
prevention work.

Development of targeted group 
work offer for schools that is 
based on the Child First 
evidence. 

Reduction in children receiving 
diversion and statutory outcomes in the 
community.

Children entering the Youth Justice 
system with fewer unmet needs. 

Address over-
representation in 
the youth justice 
system. 

Data from previous years has 
evidenced that children from 
black and minority groups, 
care experienced children and 
girls are overrepresented in the 
youth justice cohort in 
Gloucestershire and progress 
at reducing this will be 
monitored by the Youth Justice 
Management Board.

Increase the number of 
children from Black and 
minority backgrounds receiving 
diversion through return from 
court and the availability of 

Fewer girls are evident in the statutory 
caseload. 

Fewer children from black and minority 
backgrounds give no comment 
interviews resulting in greater use of 
diversion.

Longer term reduction in exclusion 
from school for all groups currently 
over-represented in the youth justice 
system. 

Longer term reduction in 
overrepresentation in the youth justice 
system. 

Page 33



18

second diversionary offer and 
reduction in use of YCC’s.

The work being undertaken 
with the complex need and 
education subgroups will also 
impact on overrepresentation.

A reduction in the use of 
YCC’s will hopefully reduce the 
number of girls becoming first 
time entrants as the most 
recent data indicated that they 
were strongly overrepresented 
in this small group. 

There is ambition to undertake 
a research project with the 
local university to explore the 
early experiences children 
from black and minority groups 
have with children’s services. 

There needs to be a strategic 
plan to build trust and 
oversight of responses 
provided in local services with 
families from black and 
minority communities. 

The work that the YST are 
planning to complete in 
schools could be expanded to 
work with school leaders and 
children’s services to explore 
the issues that result in 
overrepresentation in 
educational exclusion. Can 
draw on the good practice in 
schools guide published by the 
London Councils. 

Development of training 
materials and tools with the 
involvement of children with 
lived experience to support 
partners in their understanding 
of the issues for children from 
black and minority groups.

Improved 
outcomes for 
children who 

Monitor the effectiveness of 
the transition process map in 

Reduction in the number of children 
who struggle with the transition to 

Page 34



19

transition to adult 
services.

ensuring smooth transition into 
adult services.

The development on 18-25 
POD in Probation will provide 
an intermediary step for 
children as they move into 
Probation.

There remains work to do in 
the coming year with the 
transition for children into adult 
health provision once they 
become 18. There is 
opportunity to link this with the 
development of the18-25 POD.

probation evidenced through reduced 
compliance issues.

Young adults in Probation continue to 
have access to address health needs 
identified in the Youth Justice system. 

Improve the 
application of 
constructive 
resettlement in 
practice.

In recent years there have 
been fewer children reviving 
short custodial sentences in 
Gloucestershire meaning that 
most who received custody 
receive longer sentences and 
have transitioned to Probation 
on release. This means that 
while the YJS have a good 
understanding of constructive 
resettlement this would be 
beneficial are part of the 18-25 
POD development with 
Probation.

The YJS have taken the 
approaches advocated for in 
the Beyond Youth Custody 
literature and applied this with 
children to help encourage 
identity shift prior to a custodial 
sentence.

There is also the opportunity 
via the board to make use of 
the lessons from constructive 
resettlement and use this when 
Children are placed in care, 
either through the courts or on 
welfare grounds. 

The 18-25 POD in Probation have a 
strong understanding and are able to 
apply constructive resettlement in 
practice.

The YJS develops and delivers support 
to both Probation and children’s 
services colleagues about how to 
make use to constructive resettlement 
theory with their individual cohorts. 

Children in the 
justice system 
have their health 
needs met. 

The YJS have access to a 
comprehensive health offer for 
children. We aim to develop a 
better understanding of the 
barrier to participation with 
health colleagues and the 

The YJS know the number of children 
who have been referred to the health 
team and the number of referrals that 
have been accepted. 

Page 35



20

impact that this has for 
children.

The L&D service is a health 
funded provision and 
Gloucestershire is well placed 
to monitor the effectiveness of 
this support in reducing further 
offending. 

There will be a greater understanding 
of the effectiveness of health-based 
support for children in reducing 
offending behaviour. 

L&D reoffending data will be included 
in the management board report. 

There is strategic 
oversight of the 
sexually harmful 
behaviour strategy. 

Conversation between the 
Youth Justice Management 
Board and Gloucestershire 
Safeguarding Children’s board 
to ascertain which board will 
oversee this area of work. 

There is clear strategic oversight of 
sexually harmful behaviour in the 
county. 

The data collected 
by the YJS is 
effectively 
analysed and used 
to improve 
services for 
children. 

Collect and analyse data on 
the effectiveness of L&D 
provision in reducing offending.

Work with colleagues in 
probation to understand the 
long-term impact of diversion 
on offending in adulthood.

Improve the understanding of 
health data to understanding 
the children receiving a service 
and the impact that this has for 
them. 

Improved reports to the Youth Justice 
Management board that shows an 
understanding of the impact of a range 
of work undertaken in the YJS.

Improve the 
participation of 
children in the 
development of the 
service. 

Establish a young person’s 
participation board for the YJS 
and wider YST where children 
who are service experienced 
can provide their unique insight 
and observations on decisions 
being made at a strategic and 
operational level. 

The board is established, and the 
outcomes are feeding into the Youth 
Justice Management Board and 
strategic direction for the county.

Information is utilised in conversations 
with partner organisations when 
considering the impact decisions have 
for children.  

Improved offer for 
children who are 
victims of crime. 

Training, practice sharing offer 
and Diversion panel support to 
be made to Victim Support to 
guide their work with child 
victims in a Child First 
approach to, identifying and 
addressing needs as evidence 
shows that children who offend 
are often victims themselves. 

Reduced first time entrants.

Impact on reduced serious youth 
violence.

Page 36



21

Improved 
integration and 
community 
engagement by 
the YJS. 

The YJS aims to support pro-
social identity shift with 
children through integrating 
them with their communities to 
build relationships and 
community integration. This 
could take the form of positive 
reparation opportunities that 
support identity shift, work 
experience placements or 
positive community activities 
that support long term 
desistence.  

The YJS have a range of community 
resources available that can help 
support pro-social identity shift with 
children in the justice system. 

Workforce Development

In the coming year the focus for workforce development will be around developing a 
greater understanding of the Child First evidence base and how this can be applied in 
practice. There are several planned activities that will support this in the coming year that 
includes:

 Youth Justice development day – Child First
 Unitas Child First Module 
 Identity Shift training 
 Trauma informed training from both the YJB but wider through Dr Anna Draper
 Revised volunteer training based around Child First
 Revised specific Referral Order panel volunteer training
 There are also 2 staff who are undertaking the AIM3 training.

The above training opportunities are in addition to the wider YST annual training plan 
and the numerous Shaw Trust training and development courses, therefore ensuring that 
both specific and more generic understanding is maintained to a high standard.

Additionally, it is expected that there will be new case managers joining the service in the 
coming year which will require that indication and training to be reviewed to incorporate 
the Child First evidence base and how to apply this in practice.

The YJS will also offer to deliver and support training for partners including Families First 
and Victim Support around Child First and how to work with children with multiple and 
complex needs. 

The Gloucestershire YJS have also provided and will continue to provide workshops and 
training to local externally funded organisations, to aid their understanding of the CJS 
and diversionary work in Gloucestershire. This benefits the children who have contact 
with both provisions as all involved have a clear understanding of the processes that they 
are involved in.

Page 37



22

Board Development

The Youth Justice Management board will be developed through the re-establishment of 
the following subgroups.

 Complex needs subgroup
 Custody subgroup
 Education subgroup

12. Evidence-based practice and innovation 

The YJS in Gloucestershire have been developing their understanding of the Child First 
evidence base and how this should guide practice within the service. The aim is to 
develop both a practice model that is concordant with Child First while supporting 
practitioners to develop a deeper theoretical and practical understanding of Child First 
and how this can be applied in practice. This could include the consideration of both 
individual and structural support to address identified need. The focus for the service is 
about identifying and addressing the needs of the children who enter the justice system. 

The YJS have recently begun to develop training for practitioners around understanding 
identity and identity shift. This approach integrates the identity shift ideas incorporated in 
the Beyond Youth Custody research with an understanding of constructs from Personal 
Construct Psychology.  This work aims to equip practitioners with skills to develop a 
better understanding of identity in assessment and planning alongside practical skills that 
can be used with children and families to support them on their identity shift journey.

Gloucestershire has a well-established diversion system, Children First, in place that has 
evidenced low levels of recidivism. There are innovative links between this element of 
the service and the liaison and diversion practitioners. The L&D screening is used to 
support diversionary decisions and where work to address needs has been undertaken 
prior to panel matters can be discontinued at this stage. In more complex situations that 
assessment and any participation by the child is used as evidence of their willingness / 
capacity to take part in a diversionary intervention. There is a concerted effort within the 
service to take a proportionate response to children who are diverted with a range of 
pathways available depending on their level of need. The innovative links continue with 
the direct support of the health team within the YST and in particular the substance 
misuse specialists with young people who come through Children First with issues of use 
which affect their offending behaviour.

In the statutory cohort there is a focus on diversion and proportionality. This takes the 
form of ensuring that plans address the needs of the children and that early revocation 

Page 38



23

is considered where children have completed the required work and there is a robust 
plan in place to ensure that their needs are met. 

Gloucestershire is unique as it is an integrated service that is commissioned from a 
charity, the Shaw Trust, which provides scope and opportunities to draw on experience 
from outside of the county. The integrated nature of the service allows for exit planning 
and links with other professionals in the service for example NEET specialists who can 
support children into employment or further training, aiding their long-term desistence 
away from the justice system, youth work and an activity team that can support on going 
positive activity, substance misuse specialists who can support desistence of use and 
therefore the impact of that use on positive outcomes.

The YJS have an established a partnership with a community project, Music Works, who 
support and mentor children who have experienced challenging circumstances using 
music. Music works and the YJS work in partnership with part-time programme officer 
and senior Youth Justice Case Officer time being funded by the organisation. The YJS 
have access to a specialist programme that has been designed around the needs of 
children in the justice system. This continues to be a developing area of practice and the 
two parties are exploring how to track and evaluate the longer-term outcomes of children 
who have made use of this innovative approach. This partnership demonstrates the value 
of wider integration with community services and is an area that the YJS plan to continue 
to cultivate over the coming year for the benefit of children in the justice system. 

13.Looking forward 

This is an exciting time for Youth Justice in Gloucestershire as we leave the pandemic-
imposed restrictions behind and embrace a new, more outward looking approach to 
addressing the needs of children in, and on the periphery of the justice system. Child 
First is the guiding principle driving the service forward to understand and meet the needs 
of some of the most vulnerable and complex children in our community. The aim of the 
service is to put children first and work with partners to create a safer and more equitable 
county where every child can receive the help and support, they need to fulfil their 
potential. This is clearly an ambitious aim and will require collaboration and pragmatism 
in working with both strategic and operational partners. However, this is what the children 
we work with deserve and we should not be dissuaded because of the complexity or 
challenge of the task.

The key areas of focus for the coming year are:

 Reduce first time entrants
 Reduce reoffending rates (binary and reoffences per reoffender)
 Reduced custody (police, remand and sentenced)
 Reduced serious youth violence

Page 39



24

 Improved education attendance and attainment
 Increased prevention
 Reduced over-representation
 Improved understanding of health outcomes
 Strategic oversight of sexually harmful behaviour
 Improved use of data
 Improved community integration
 Better support for children who are victims of crime
 Developing a young person’s participation board

14. Sign off, submission and approval

Chair of YJS Board - name

Signature

Date

15.Appendix 1 (Page 10 of the Guidance) Outline of full board membership, including 
attendance, job title of the board member and dates of board meetings should be 
included in Appendix 1

Page 40



25

16.Appendix 2 – Service Structure Chart (Page 10 of Guidance) 

17.should include details of the staff roles in the YJS and the reporting arrangements 
for the Head of Service. Information on the links to the data analyst should also 
be included. There should be a separate table in the appendix recording the 
ethnicity, sex and known disability of staff. 

.

Page 41



26

Page 42



27

Common youth justice terms, please add any locally used terminology 
ACE Adverse childhood experience. Events 

in the child’s life that can have negative, 
long lasting impact on the child’s health, 
and life choices 

AIM 2 and 3 Assessment, intervention and moving 
on, an assessment tool and framework 
for children who have instigated harmful 
sexual behaviour

ASB Antisocial behaviour
AssetPlus Assessment tool to be used for children 

who have been involved in offending 
behaviour 

CAMHS Child and adolescent mental health 
services

CCE Child Criminal exploitation, where a 
child is forced, through threats of 
violence, or manipulated to take part in 
criminal activity

Children We define a child as anyone who has 
not yet reached their 18th birthday. This 
is in line with the United Nations 
Convention on the Rights of the Child 
and civil legislation in England and 
Wales. The fact that a child has reached 
16 years of age, is living independently 
or is in further education, is a member 
of the armed forces, is in hospital or in 
custody in the secure estate, does not 
change their status or entitlements to 
services or protection.

Child First A system wide approach to working with 
children in the youth justice system. 
There are four tenants to this approach, 
it should be: developmentally informed, 
strength based, promote participation, 
and encourage diversion 

Child looked-after Child looked-after, where a child is 
looked after by the local authority 

CME Child Missing Education
Constructive resettlement The principle of encouraging and 

supporting a child’s positive identity 
development from pro-offending to pro-
social

Contextual safeguarding An approach to safeguarding children 
which considers the wider community 
and peer influences on a child’s safety

Community resolution Community resolution, an informal 
disposal, administered by the police, for 

Page 43



28

low level offending where there has 
been an admission of guilt 

EHCP Education and health care plan, a plan 
outlining the education, health and 
social care needs of a child with 
additional needs 

ETE Education, training or employment
EHE Electively home educated, children who 

are formally recorded as being 
educated at home and do not attend 
school 

EOTAS Education other than at school, children 
who receive their education away from 
a mainstream school setting 

FTE First Time Entrant. A child who receives 
a statutory criminal justice outcome for 
the first time (youth caution, youth 
conditional caution, or court disposal 

HMIP Her Majesty Inspectorate of Probation. 
An independent arms-length body who 
inspect Youth Justice services and 
probation services 

HSB Harmful sexual behaviour, 
developmentally inappropriate sexual 
behaviour by children, which is harmful 
to another child or adult, or themselves 

JAC Junior Attendance Centre
MAPPA Multi agency public protection 

arrangements
MFH Missing from Home 
NRM National Referral Mechanism. The 

national framework for identifying and 
referring potential victims of modern 
slavery in order to gain help to support 
and protect them 

OOCD Out-of-court disposal. All recorded 
disposals where a crime is recorded, an 
outcome delivered but the matter is not 
sent to court 

Outcome 22/21 An informal disposal, available where 
the child does not admit the offence, but 
they undertake intervention to build 
strengths to minimise the possibility of 
further offending 

Over-represented children Appearing in higher numbers than the 
local or national average

RHI Return home Interviews. These are 
interviews completed after a child has 
been reported missing

SLCN Speech, Language and communication 
needs

Page 44



29

STC Secure training centre 
SCH Secure children’s home
Young adult We define a young adult as someone 

who is 18 or over. For example, when a 
young adult is transferring to the adult 
probation service.

YJS Youth justice service. This is now the 
preferred title for services working with 
children in the youth justice system. 
This reflects the move to a Child First 
approach 

YOI Young offender institution 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



GLOUCESTERSHIRE YOUTH JUSTICE 
PARTNERSHIP BOARD

Management Information

QUARTER 3 
2021/22

P
age 47



1 | P a g e

INTRODUCTION

This report focuses upon the Youth Justice Service performance and is based upon information collected locally through the case management system (IYSS), 
and nationally through the Ministry of Justice YJ Application Framework (YDS), Home Office, and Police National Computer.

The report covers the following national measures:

• First Time Entrants (FTE)
• Reoffending Rates
• Custody Rates

The national figures shown are subject to various time lags. Reoffending figures in particular may seem quite dated. This is due to the process of tracking 
reoffences over a 12-month period which then requires a further 6 months for conviction before the rates can be calculated.

In spite of the significant delays, national measures remain a valuable indication of performance, particularly the comparative data at a family, regional and 
national level.

The report covers the following local performance measures:

• Interventions opened during the quarter (Statutory and Children First – Gloucestershire’s Diversion Scheme)
• Education, training, and employment (ETE)
• Health
• Children’s Social Care

Local data relates to the latest quarterly figures available. As we are able to identify cases and specific circumstances impacting upon performance, it is 
possible to drill down in far more detail into the local data.

Point of note – this quarter is compared to the previous quarter (Q3 2020/21) to show where rates have improved or worsened and is also compared to the 
same quarter the year before to allow direct year on year comparisons. It should also be noted that with regard to the reoffending cohort, these children 
entered the service between April and June 2020 which is when the Covid-19 national lockdown started. 

P
age 48



2 | P a g e

GLOUCESTERSHIRE DATA SNAPSHOT – QUARTER 3 2021/22 (OCTOBER – DECEMBER 2021) Unless otherwise 
stated 

LOCAL MEASURE:

CHILDREN FIRST DIVERSION (LOCAL DATA)

59% of the children opened to Youth Justice this 
quarter have been diverted from the Criminal 
Justice System and are being supported through 
Children First Pathways.

13% of the cohort have been diverted on more 
than one occasion.

NATIONAL MEASURE:

FIRST TIME ENTRANTS (FTE)

October 2020 – September 2021:

45 FTEs which equates to 
77 per 100,000
This is the lowest across SW, Family and 
national averages.

NATIONAL MEASURE:

REOFFENDING RATE (PUBLISHED DATA)

3-month cohort (from Q4 2019/20):

Binary Rate –*38.1%

Frequency per reoffender – *15.00

*This data is significantly higher than our local 
data shows, and we are querying with MoJ

NATIONAL MEASURE:

CUSTODY RATE (PUBLISHED DATA)

Between January 2021 – December 2021, 0.03 per 
1,000 10 – 17-year-olds in Gloucestershire were 
sentenced to custody. 

This equates to two children.

Custody sentences continue to remain low.

Our rate is now below SW and Family YOS rates, and 
significantly below national rates.

LOCAL MEASURE:

HEALTH

29%  of the children with statutory interventions are 
open to CAMHS, compared to 39% of those diverted 
through the Children First Pathway.

LOCAL MEASURE:

EDUCATION, TRAINING AND EMPLOYMENT

38% of children were engaged in education 
by the end of their intervention during 
quarter 3.

This compares to 28% in the South-West and 
40% nationally. 

P
age 49



3 | P a g e

FIRST TIME ENTRANTS (FTE) QUARTER 3 (OCTOBER – DECEMBER 2021)

 8 Children of Gloucestershire became First Time Entrants in Quarter 3 meaning they received a youth caution or a court conviction for the first time.
 Gloucestershire continues to have one of the lowest First Time Entrant rates in the country.
 An audit of First Time Entrants showed a total of 6 males (75%) and 2 females (25%) received a substantive outcome for the first time. 4 (40%) of the 

males are white British, 2 (20%) were from other ethnic groups. 1 female (10%) is of dual heritage and the further female (10%) is white British. 

FTE OUTCOME TYPES:
 There continues to be a prevalence of Cautions 

contributing to FTE outcomes.
 2 cases were not sentenced in Gloucestershire courts this quarter. 
 2 children received Youth Cautions, 1 was issued by another authority, the       

other was given in county for cannabis possession which is not in line with our 
current guidance. 

 A further 3 cases were awarded Youth Conditional Cautions. All 3 had been 
through the Children First panel

 A further case was returned to officer for charge from Children First panel due to 
having previously been diverted and having a subsequent knife offence. This child was 
sentenced to a Referral Order. The two additional Referrals Orders were given in courts 
outside of Gloucestershire but were for offences that cannot be diverted.

Outcomes Q3 
2021/22

Q2 
2021/22

Q3 
2020/21

Youth Caution 2 1 3

Youth Conditional Caution 3 7 2

Referral Order 3 10 3

Conditional Discharge 0 0 2

Youth Rehabilitation Order 0 0 2

Total 8 18 12

Latest published data for FTE rate per 100,000 is
Oct 20 – Sept 21:

Gloucestershire - 77 per 100,000
South-West – 126 per 100,00
National – 154 per 100,000
YOT Family – 115 per 100,000

P
age 50



4 | P a g e

FTE OFFENCE TYPES:

It is notable from this data that the number of children 
becoming first time entrants for possession of a knife /bladed 
article has increased, this coincides with the Children First 
Joint Decision Panel no longer diverting any knife offences.
The data also shows that motoring offences have consistently 
made children first time entrants, and this is another 
offence category that is currently unable to be diverted. 
There has been an increase in the use of Youth Cautions (YCC) 
since 2019, and while the numbers remain small, we note the 
percentage of girls receiving a formal criminal record by way 
of YCC. In 2021 33% of the YCC’s were given to girls – 
nationally girls make up 16% of the Youth Justice Cohort.
The YJS do not view Youth Conditional Cautions as a 
steppingstone in seriousness to the Children First Diversion 
offer, it is of course a multi-agency panel decision. We have a 
robust Diversion offer within the CFP scheme and with a 
reoffending rate at 17%, this offer has proven to perform 
better than the national caution reoffending rate. 

REOFFENDING RATES

Offence Category Q3 2021/22 Q2 2021/22 Q3 2020/21

Drugs 1 1 0

Fraud & Forgery 0 11 0

Blackmail 0 0 2

Domestic Burglary 0 0 1

Motoring Offences 2 3 5

Racially Aggravated 0 1 0

Non-Domestic Burglary 0 0 1

Possession of a knife/bladed article 5 0 1

Sexual offences 0 1 4

Vehicle Theft/Unauthorised Taking 1 1 0

Violence against the Person 4 11 2

Criminal Damage 2 0 2

Public Order 1 1 0

Theft and Handling Stolen goods 1 2 1

Robbery 1 4 0

18 36 19

P
age 51



5 | P a g e

The binary reoffending rate is calculated as follows:

       Number of reoffenders in cohort
------------------------------------------------------ x 100 = % Binary reoffending rate
   Number of children in the cohort

The data for this indicator comes from the Police National Computer and is published by the Ministry of Justice. Each cohort consists of children receiving a 
pre-court or court disposal or released from custody during a three-month period who are then tracked over a 12-month period for any further offending.

Please note that the YOT families have been updated. These YOT families are child focused and will enable benchmarking based on the socio-demographic 
factors in each area. The benchmarking is based on the DfE’s statistical neighbour model which uses the five ‘Every Child Matters’ criteria.

Following a move by the Youth Justice Service to tracking a 3-month cohort, numbers are smaller and reoffending rates subject to significant fluctuations.

The reoffences per reoffender rate is calculated as follows:

Number of reoffences committed
---------------------------------------------   = Reoffences per reoffender rate
 Number of offenders in cohort

P
age 52



6 | P a g e

     

      Table 1

Reoffending - binary rate Gloucestershire South-West YOT family National

April – June 2020 Q1 (local data) 30% n/a n/a n/a
January – March 2020 Q4 (local data) 23.8% n/a n/a n/a
January – March 2020 Q4 38.1% 32.9% 32.5% 34.0%
October 2019 – December 2019 Q3 (local data) 24.2% n/a n/a n/a
October 2019 – December 2019 Q3 36.7% 32.4%
July 2019 – September 2019 cohort (Q2 (local data)) 21.1% n/a n/a n/a
July 2019 – September 2019 cohort Q2 47.6% 32.8% 29.2% 33.1%

           
      Table 2 

Reoffending – reoffences per reoffender Gloucestershire South-West YOT family National

April – June 2020 Q1 (local data) 9.7 n/a n/a n/a
January – March 2020 Q4 (local data) 7.80 n/a n/a n/a
January – March 2020 Q4 15.00 4.14 3.23 3.59
October 2019 – December 2019 Q3 (local data) 5.50 n/a n/a n/a
October 2019 – December 2019 Q3 7.36 3.67 3.53
July 2019 – September 2019 cohort Q2 (local data) 5.25 n/a n/a n/a
July 2019 – September 2019 cohort Q2 10.20 3.93 3.71 3.81

Due to the limited national and comparative data, the tables included in the report provide little longitudinal information but highlight discrepancy between 
the national date and that which is produced locally. It is also worth considering that the YJB Diversion Summary (June 2021) identified that diversion as a 
percentage of caseloads across the country for the 2020/21 year varied between 6% and 85% (52% average for England). The more effective a diversion 
system is, the greater the concentration of children with highly complex needs becomes evident in statutory cases and associated reoffending rate due to 
smaller numbers.

P
age 53



7 | P a g e

The following tables show the numbers behind the reoffending rates for Gloucestershire, South-West, YOT family and National:

 Table 3

Reoffending rates per cohort – STATUTORY OUTCOMES

Locality and Quarter No. of Children 
in cohort

No. of 
Reoffenders in 

cohort

No.  of 
Reoffences 
committed

Reoffences per 
Reoffender

Binary 
Reoffending %

Gloucestershire – April – June 2020 Q1 (local data) 10 3 29 9.7 30%

Gloucestershire – January – March 2020 Q4 (local 
data) 21 5 39 7.80 23.8%

Gloucestershire – January – March 2020 Q4 
(published data – actual numbers) 21 8 120 15.00 38.1%

South West – January – March 2020 Q4 (published 
data (average numbers) 407 134 555 4.14 32.9%

Family YOT – January – March 2020 Q4 (published 
data (average numbers) 45 15 48 3.23 32.5%

National – January – March 2020 Q4 (published 
data (average numbers) 4,858 1,654 5,934 3.59 33.0%

The reoffences per reoffender rate for April – June 2020 has been heavily influenced by one child who had 19 reoffences, this child was also one of the 2 
children sentenced to custody. It is notable that the effectiveness of the diversion system in Gloucestershire reduces the number of children who receive 
statutory outcomes to those with the most complex needs. This invariably impacts on the reoffending rates. 

It is also notable in both the statutory and Children First reoffending cohorts that the numbers of children are significantly lower. This is likely the impact of 
Covid-19 which reduced the use of court during this time.

P
age 54



8 | P a g e

Statistician’s comment Office of National Statistics:

 The reoffending follow-up period for the October to December 2019 offender cohort continues to overlap with the first set of national lockdown 
restrictions implemented on 23 March 2020, following the response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Limits on court activity led to a sharp decrease in 
the number of cases processed at the criminal courts between March and May 2020. While more recent figures are showing signs of recovery, the 
impact of the pandemic on the courts is still evident, particularly in the outstanding caseload and court timeliness performance. Furthermore, police 
recorded crime figures fell substantially during the first lockdown period.  The reoffending follow-up period for the October to December 2019 
cohort also starts to coincide with the second national lockdown which began on 5 November and ended on 2 December 2020. While there were no 
court closures over this period, overall crime levels continue to have been affected.

CHILDREN FIRST QUARTERLEY REOFFENDING RATES
Table 4

Reoffending rates per cohort – Gloucestershire CHILDREN FIRST PATHWAY

Locality and Cohort No. of Children 
in cohort

No. of 
Reoffenders in 

cohort

No.  of 
Reoffences 
committed

Reoffences per 
Reoffender

Binary 
Reoffending %

Gloucestershire (local data) April – June 2020 32 7 13 1.86 21.9%

Gloucestershire (local data) January – March 2020 45 7 11 1.6 15.6%

As was evident with the statutory reoffending cohort, the number of children in the diversionary reoffending cohort is notably smaller than previous 
quarters. April-June 2020 was the start of the Covid-19 pandemic and whilst the JDP continued to operate, decisions were made around prioritising those 
with the greatest needs. 

As such, whilst the number of children who reoffended and the number of reoffences committed are broadly comparable to the previous quarter, the 
reduction in total cohort has adversely impacted the binary reoffending percentage. 

  

P
age 55



9 | P a g e

CHILDREN FIRST REOFFENDING TRACKER

19%

15%
18% [VALUE]

16%

22%24% 24%
21%

24%
25%

36% 36%
33% 34% 34%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

Q4 2018/19 Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 Q3 2019/20 Q4 2019/20 Q1 2020/21
Glos Children First 19% 15% 18% 19% 16% 22%
ONS Youth Caution 24% 24% 21% 24% 25%
ONS Overall reoffending rate 36% 36% 33% 34% 34%

Glos Children First ONS Youth Caution ONS Overall reoffending rate

Ongoing Children First reoffending rate tracker

This chart shows the reoffending by quarter for Children First (including second or subsequent CFP) in blue compared with national reoffending data for 
Youth Cautions (orange) and the overall national reoffending rate (grey). 

In the year April’19 – March’20 a total of 210 CFP’s were issued with a reoffending rate of 17%. The reoffending rate has consistently been below the 
National Youth Caution reoffending rate. The increase in Q1 2020/21 is likely to be related to the Covid-19 pandemic – while the same number of children 
reoffended as the previous quarter the cohort was smaller. Multiple factors are likely to have impacted this such as the JDP focusing resources on children 
with the greatest need and taking no further action against children for minor offences.

P
age 56



10 | P a g e

CUSTODY
The custody rate shows national custody rates as reported in the last four quarters. Custody rates use case level data from the Youth Justice Application 
Framework (YJAF) measuring the number of custodial sentences in the period given to children with a local residence and aged under 18 years on the date 
of the first hearing.
Successfully appealed sentences are discounted and if a young person was awarded more than one custodial sentence on the same day, this will only be 
counted once.
The YOT families are child-focused and enable benchmarking based on socio-economic factors in each area. The benchmarking is based              
on the DfE’s statistical neighbour model which uses the five ‘Every Child Matters’ criteria.

Table 5

Custody rate per 1,000 of 10 
– 17-year-old population Gloucestershire South-West YOT family National

Jan 21 – Dec 21 0.03 0.05 0.05 0.11

Jul 20 – Jun 21 0.03 0.06 0.05 0.14

Apr 20 – Mar 21 0.09 0.06 0.06 0.13

Jan 20 – Dec 20 0.12 0.07 0.07 0.15

 
CUSTODY RATE (PUBLISHED DATA)
 

Between January 2021 – December 2021, 0.03 per 1,000 10 – 17-year-olds in Gloucestershire were sentenced to custody. 
 
This equates to two young people. One was a 2year, 4month sentence for wounding with intent and possession of an offensive weapon.
The other was a 4month DTO for 2 offences of Common Assault, Criminal Damage and Threats to Kill, there had been extensive prior support for this child 
on community orders. 

One was female and of dual heritage and one was male and of dual heritage.

One of these children has since been successfully resettled from custody in the community within the year and has since turned 18.

P
age 57



11 | P a g e

Custody sentences continue to remain low.
 
Our rate is now below SW and Family YJS rates, and significantly below national rates. It is however important to note that due to a serious incident in 
county we currently have had a significant increase in the number of children currently in custody on remand.

Between January 2021 – December 2021 6 children were remanded to custody 1 female & 5 male, 5 children were of dual heritage and 1 child white British. 
2 of the children remanded to custody went on to receive custodial sentences. 
4 children remained on remand at the end of this year. 
1 of the 4 that remained on remand at the end of 2021 has since received a custodial sentence. In addition to the remaining 3, a further 5 children have 
been remanded to custody for the same offence of murder. 1 has subsequently been released following all charges being withdrawn. The further 5 children 
were all male and ethnicity identified as one white British, one white Irish, two dual heritage and one Czech.
As of today, there are 7 children remanded to custody for murder, and 1 child remanded to the care of the local authority for Section 18 Wounding and 
possession of an offensive weapon. 

Point of note: Nationally, in the year ending March 2021, 74% of children remanded to youth detention accommodation did not subsequently receive a 
custodial sentence.

It is pertinent to note that the reoffending rate for juveniles released from Custody (between October to December 2019) was 62.2% ‘Proven reoffending 
statistics quarterly bulletin, October to December 2019 – Published 28 October 2021’ Proven reoffending statistics quarterly bulletin, October 2019 to 
December 2019 (publishing.service.gov.uk)

P
age 58

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/930446/Proven_reoffending_stats_bulletin_OctDec18.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/930446/Proven_reoffending_stats_bulletin_OctDec18.pdf


12 | P a g e

INTERVENTIONS OPENED DURING QUARTER 3 (OCTOBER – DECEMBER 2021)
Table 6

Local data - Youth Justice statutory interventions 
(Including Youth Conditional Cautions, Referral Orders etc.)

   Quarter No. in cohort No. of 
interventions

No. and % of 
females

No. and % ethnic 
minority

Q3 2021/22 20 21 2 (10%) 8 (40%)

Q2 2021/22 19 22 2 (10.5%) 6 (31.6%)

Q1 2021/22 23 28 5 (21.7%) 6 (26%)

Q4 2020/21 25 25 7 (28%) 9 (36%)

Table 7
 

Local data – Children First Pathways (CFPs) 

Quarter No. in cohort No. of 
interventions

No. and % of 
females

No. and % ethnic 
minority

Q3 2021/22 30 30 8 (27%) 4 (13%)

Q2 2021/22 34 34 12 (35.3%) 7 (20.6%)

Q1 2021/22 39 39 12 (31%) 5 (13%)

Q4 2020/21 38 38 5 (13%) 6 (16%)

Statutory outcome details:

20% (4) outcomes awarded this quarter were Referral 
Orders, and 25% (5) were Youth Conditional Cautions. 

Children First details:
59% (30) of children opened to Youth Justice during this 
quarter were diverted away from the formal Criminal 
Justice System.
13% (4) of children have been diverted for a second or 
third time. 

P
age 59



13 | P a g e

Exploring Disproportionality 

There has been a reduction in females receiving statutory intervention in the last two quarters, although note previous observations in the increased 
number of females specifically receiving Youth Conditional Cautions.

There continues to be an overrepresentation of children from ethnic minorities though out the quarters in the statutory cohort.

There are a higher number of females in the diversion cohort than that of the statutory cohort for the last three quarters. This can be viewed in the context 
that there are attempts to reduce disparity at later points in the criminal justice system. There are a disproportionate number of children in the diversion 
cohort from an ethnic minority, again this is significantly lower than the statutory cohort for the same time period.

Arrest rates in Gloucestershire:

HMIP (2020) 16% of YJ caseloads nationally are girls.  6% of the 
youth population in Gloucestershire is from a black or minority 
ethnic population (ONS 2019 UK Population estimates, mid-2018). 
The higher rates of arrest for children from non-white backgrounds 
may be resulting in disproportionality in the youth justice cohort. 
However, it is also notable that the percentage is higher in the 
statutory cohort, indicating a need to both prevent and divert these 
children earlier. 

P
age 60



14 | P a g e

Children in Care 
Gloucestershire – April – June 2020 Q1 (local data)

 

 

Of the 10 children in the 
statutory cohort 80% (8) 
were known to children’s 
services and 40% (4) were 

children in care.

All of the 3 children who 
reoffended in this quarter 
were children in care or 

had child protection 
plans. 

Of the 32 children in the 
Children First cohort 31% 

(10) were known to 
children’s services and 13% 

(4) were children in care.

None of the 7 children 
who reoffended in this 

quarter were children in 
care.

3 had Child Protection or 
Child in Need Plans.

P
age 61



15 | P a g e

Youth Violence 
These two charts show that while the number of recorded incidences of 
serious violence attributed to children have been increasing, the number 
receiving an outcome (CFP or above) has not. 

This disconnect between the number of children believed to have been 
involved in a serious offence and those receiving an outcome and resulting in 
support from the YST has remained largely static over the past 4 years. This 
would indicate that there are more instances of serious youth violence but 
fewer are resulting in an outcome and support. 

Number of serious (gravity score 4 or more) violence against the 
person offences in Gloucestershire

 Total number of recorded 
serious violence offences

Number of serious violence 
offences that received an 
outcome

Boys Girls Boys Girls

2018 13 5 1 (7%) 0 (0%)

2019 29 11 4 (13%) 2 (18%)

2020 28 6 3 (10%) 1 (16%)

2021 36 9 3 (8%) 1 (11%)

P
age 62



16 | P a g e

2018 2019 2020 2021
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

0
50
100
150
200
250
300
350
400
450

Outcome All recorded

All high Gravity offences with outcome compared with all recorded offences

O
ut

co
m

e 
N

um
be

r

Al
l r

ec
or

de
d 

nu
m

be
r

Offences with No Further Action taken:
Analysis has taken place on the YST’s IYSS database to look at the number of children recorded as having NFA’s following anecdotal information about 
children entering the YJS having had multiple NFA’s increasing. This appears to be borne out in the data with the total number of offences concluded 
remaining largely consistent but the percentage receiving an outcome (CFP, YCC, court etc. declining). We would like to explore this further with police 
colleagues from their data and identify if this reduction is a result of COVID-19, resourcing, etc. When this data is combined with the data from the previous 
slide it indicates that there are a number of serious offences that are not receiving an outcome, and this is worthy of further understanding.

Year

(Jan-Dec)

Number of NFA’d 
offences

Number of offences with a 
recorded outcome

Total
Percentage of offences 

receiving outcome

P
age 63



17 | P a g e

2018 1565 532 2097 25%

2019 2295 515 2810 18%

2020 2472 394 2866 13%

2021 2254 335 2589 13%

EDUCATION, TRAINING AND EMPLOYMENT - QUARTER 3 (OCTOBER – DECEMBER 2021)
The ETE measure looks at how many children are in suitable education, training, or employment by the end of their intervention with Youth 
Justice.

Information is collated from the case management system IYSS and Capita. The MoJ publishes this information on a cumulative 12-month basis.

            Table 8
School Age children Above School Age children Total children

Locality

O
rd

er
s e

nd
in

g

In
 fu

ll 
tim

e 
ET

E 
(2

5h
rs

 +
)

In
 E

TE
 b

ut
 n

ot
 fu

ll 
tim

e 
(<

25
 h

rs
)

N
ot

 in
 E

TE
 o

r E
TE

 
st

at
us

 n
ot

 k
no

w
n

%
 Y

P 
Su

pe
rv

ise
d 

in
 fu

ll 
tim

e 
ET

E

O
rd

er
s e

nd
in

g

In
 fu

ll 
tim

e 
ET

E 
(1

6h
rs

 +
)

In
 E

TE
 b

ut
 n

ot
 fu

ll 
tim

e 
(<

16
 h

rs
)

N
ot

 in
 E

TE
 o

r E
TE

 
st

at
us

 n
ot

 k
no

w
n

%
 Y

P 
Su

pe
rv

ise
d 

in
 fu

ll 
tim

e 
ET

E

O
rd

er
s e

nd
in

g

In
 fu

ll 
tim

e 
ET

E

In
 E

TE
 b

ut
 n

ot
 fu

ll 
tim

e

N
ot

 in
 E

TE
 o

r E
TE

 
st

at
us

 n
ot

 k
no

w
n

%
 Y

P 
Su

pe
rv

ise
d 

in
 fu

ll 
tim

e 
ET

E

Gloucestershire – 
Quarter 3 local data 2 1 1 0 50% 6 2 0 4 33% 8 3 1 4 38%

P
age 64



18 | P a g e

Gloucestershire
Apr 21 – Dec 21 8 5 0 3 63% 30 15 4 11 50% 38 20 4 14 53%

South-West
Apr 21 – Dec 21 117 28 20 69 24% 338 100 26 212 30% 455 128 46 281 28%

YOT Family
Apr 21 – Dec 21 119 38 22 59 32% 262 95 15 152 36% 381 133 37 211 35%

Education, training, and employment is an area we continue to focus on throughout the duration a young person’s time with us. We have a dedicated 
Education Lead who continually liaises with schools and colleges to support children into an appropriate education provision, or transition on to training or 
employment.
There are meetings held within the county on a regular basis to track and review those children who are at risk of not receiving their full provision. However, 
there are real concerns in terms of the number of hours some of our more complex children access and this needs to be a priority for Youth Justice and 
Education colleagues in the coming year.

P
age 65



19 | P a g e

During the quarter, 4 children were not in education, employment, or training (NEET) at the end of their intervention. The following table 
summarises the range of issues involved:

38% of children were engaged in education by the end of their intervention during quarter 3. This compares to 28% in the South-West and 40% 
nationally. 

9% (27) of children being supported by the YJS in February 2022 had an EHCP. Of these children 63% are not currently in suitable education.

Quarter 3 -Type 
of intervention 

ending

Key issues in preventing engagement in education, 
training, or employment Care status EHCP Ethnicity

Referral Order

primary school attendance was ok but poor 
attendance at secondary school was PEX and was put 
on roll at APS and refused to attend, parents did not 
see the importance of education so missed out on 3 
years education no qualifications or aspirations.
We tried to get the YP into school numerous 
meetings working alongside professionals but just 
refused to attend.

Child Protection Plan No White British

Youth 
Rehabilitation 
Order

No appropriate bespoke specialist school provision 
as needed 1-1 Individualized bespoke practical 
education

Care Leaver Yes White British

Referral Order

Attended numerous secondary schools also on a part 
timetable at Alternative Provision.
SEN Support attendance was the barrier -No 
qualifications or aspirations

Full Care Order No White & Black 
Caribbean

Youth 
Rehabilitation 
Order

PEX mainstream on roll APS part timetable refused to 
attend missed 3 years of education no qualifications 
or aspirations.
We tried everything with the team of professionals 
but just refused.

Single period of accommodation under 
section 20 No White& Black 

Caribbean

P
age 66



20 | P a g e

HEALTH - QUARTER 3 (OCTOBER – DECEMBER 2021)
 
Table 9

9% of statutory cases were open to CAMHS in 
Q3.

Speech and language Therapy worked with 14% of Statutory cases.

Table 10

7% of Children First cases were open to CAMHS in Q3.
Speech and Language Therapy worked with 20% of Children First 
cases.

Local data - Youth Justice statutory interventions 
(Including Youth Conditional Cautions, Referral Orders etc.)

  Service Q3 2021/22 Q2 2021/22

Open to CAMHS 9% 17%

Open to Speech & Language 14% 27%

Open to Substance Misuse 6% 14%

Open to Physical Health 3% 5%

Local data – Children First Pathways (CFPs)

 Service Q3 2021/22 Q2 2021/22

Open to CAMHS 7% 7%

Open to Speech & Language 20% 19%

Open to Substance Misuse 17% 21%

Open to Physical Health 2% 10%

P
age 67



21 | P a g e

 Finance and Staffing

INCOME
Youth Justice 

Board1 Local Authority Police
Police and Crime 

Commissioner Probation Health Welsh Government Other Total

Cash £509,915 £1,026,930 £190,526 £5,000 £242,398 £1,974,769
In-kind £62,000 £31,000 £194,000 £287,000

Total income £509,915 £1,026,930 £62,000 £190,526 £36,000 £436,398 £0 £0 £2,261,769

EXPENDITURE
Youth Justice 

Board2 Local Authority Police Police and Crime 
Commissioner

Probation Health Welsh Government Other Total

Salaries £461,121 £850,185 £62,000 £180,156 £31,000 £431,268 £2,015,730
Activity costs £219 £1,757 £378 £872 £3,226
Accomodation £852 £662 £142 £1,250 £329 £3,235
Overheads £43,624 £160,278 £6,829 £2,500 £0 £213,231
Equipment £4,099 £14,047 £3,020 £1,250 £3,930 £26,346

Total expenditure £509,915 £1,026,930 £62,000 £190,526 £36,000 £436,398 £0 £0 £2,261,769

If possible, please provide a breakdown against each funding source. If this information is not retained, please give details of the total amounts spent against each 
area.

Gloucestershire

Breakdown of expenditure to accompany 2020-21 certificate

1. This includes all  grants received from YJB

P
age 68



22 | P a g e

The table above provides the information submitted to the Youth Justice Board annually in regard to the income and expenditure for Gloucestershire’s 
Youth Justice Service (YJS). This information is gathered each April and submitted to the board in May/June. We are currently in the process of collating this 
information for the YJB for 21/22 and will include in the next board report.

The “in kind” element refers to the staffing submitted to the YOS from other agencies.

Staffing:

The Gloucestershire Youth Justice Service continues to have a largely stable and experienced workforce. Karon McCarthy, Head of Service left us in March 
2022, and we successfully appointed to the role. Fiona Walker will join us after her three-month notice period. Fiona is an experienced manager who will 
join us from the GCC academy and  is a qualified and experienced probation and youth justice practitioner and manager. We are very pleased to welcome 
her to the team. 

In the interim period we have Hannah Clune and Sarah Penny stepping up into the HOS role on a job share basis. Hannah and Sarah are experienced Team 
Managers and have picked up the work effortlessly.

There have been some opportunities for development for a number of the YJS including some taking up particular areas of responsibility including a Trauma 
Informed Champion which was funded by some additional monies for this area, from the YJB via the NHS. 

Ongoing training is something we are passionate about; in this way we can ensure our staff have the most up to date skills, knowledge and confidence to 
provide the excellent service our young people need. In this quarter we have supported staff through the YJB trauma informed training and have secured 
training from Dr Anna Draper and her team which will start to be delivered in May. In addition, we take students from the university and support them 
through a placement. This allows us to ensure that there are upcoming skilled practitioners. We recognise the importance of succession planning and 
ensuring that our staff have the opportunity to develop their skills and knowledge and progress should they wish to do so. Our quarterly appraisal and PDP 
process allows us to identify areas of strengths and challenges along with areas of interest and support development. 

P
age 69



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CFOSC ReportTemplate21 1

CHILDREN & FAMILIES SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 2022

Meeting Date: 26th May, 2022

Report Title Restorative Practice Update

Purpose of Report: Further to CFSOC meeting of 13.1.22, where the committee were 
provided with a summary overview of the longitudinal position with regard 
to permanent exclusions from schools in the county, the committee 
requested an update report on the progress of the Restorative Practice 
project.  This report provides that update – For Information

Author Molly MCleod – Restorative Practice Service Lead

Context: In 2016 the Vulnerable Children’s Partnership board were looking for a 
practice model to be used across all agencies in Gloucestershire. 

Research was conducted into various models and Restorative Practice 
(RP) was chosen because of its successful implementation in other local 
authorities. Namely: 

Leeds – Child Protection plans reduced by 50%; a ‘good’ Ofsted 
outcome for the LA; improved outcomes for children and young people 
across the city.
Hull – Schools reporting reduced exclusions, increased attainment, 
improved community cohesion. RP Schools rated ‘outstanding.’
Wokingham – Increased attendance, attainment, reduced exclusions, 
reduction in offending; over 40% of adults entering employment (many for 
the first time in three generations)
West Berkshire – Increased community resilience, Tier four mental 
health placements avoided, reduction in children on Child Protection 
Plans.

In June 2016 Gloucestershire implemented seven RP pilots across 
Children’s Services including two schools: Moat Primary Academy and 
Tewkesbury Secondary School. Early evaluative data from these school 
pilots was positive and broadly reflected national outcomes:

 Tewkesbury Secondary School reduced their suspensions by 54% 
in the first year and their attendance increased by 1.3%. 

 Moat Primary School reduced their suspensions by 82% in the first 
year and increased overall attendance by 1.5%. 

Page 71

Agenda Item 5



CFOSC ReportTemplate21 2

Gloucestershire was the fourth highest excluding county in the UK in 
2016/2017 with 141 permanent exclusions. 

Following the success of the pilots, the Director of Education began a 5-
year investment plan to roll out RP across more Schools. 

Report: 1. What is Restorative Practice in Schools? 

Restorative Practice is a way to be rather than a process to follow or a 
thing to do at certain times. It is a term used to describe principles, 
behaviours and approaches which build and maintain healthy 
relationships and a sense of community. It can also resolve difficulties 
and repair harm where there has been conflict. It is a way of being with 
people, essentially to work with and alongside others to create 
sustainable change. 

The implementation of Restorative Practice has been proven to have 
benefits at multiple levels in schools. On a practical level, Restorative 
Practice provides a structured and consistent response to the inevitable 
incidents of conflict that arise in the life of a school. Improved conflict 
resolution in school leads to reduced disruption of teaching and learning, 
better relationships, and a calmer school environment. 

 In addition to the conflict resolution benefits, Restorative Practice has 
been shown to develop people’s social and emotional competencies, 
such as increased empathy, improved self-discipline, and more 
responsible decision-making. These benefits contribute to pupils and 
staffs’ personal, social, and moral development. Better relationships and 
improved communication also lead to fewer absences and a reduction in 
exclusion and an increase in wellbeing and engagement in school life in 
general for both staff and pupils. 

1.1 The Gloucestershire Model

In Gloucestershire we offer a whole school approach to Restorative 
Practice for staff, pupils, and the wider school community.

Initially, staff and pupils are trained and supported to think and respond 
differently to behaviour and incidents of conflict as well as identifying 
opportunities to build stronger relationships across the school.

An important part of the implementation process is the introduction of 
practice learning circles, where staff and pupils can reflect on their 
experiences in a safe and structured way. 

As well as training and implementation support, it is also important to 
reflect on the school’s systems to identify elements that support or 
challenge the potential success of a restorative approach.

1.2 Exempla Case Study:

Page 72



CFOSC ReportTemplate21 3

One lunchtime in October 2018, four Year 9 pupils started a fire in the 
toilets at their school. They faced potential criminal charges of ‘arson with 
intent to endanger life’ and permanent exclusion as pupils and staff were 
onsite at the time of the fire. 

A multi-agency restorative approach was taken, and the pupils were 
offered an assessment of need. Three out of four pupils were found to 
have undiagnosed SEN with more than four ACEs. One pupil was 
reintegrated back into school and the other three were offered managed 
moves with a Family Group Conference to aid a successful transition. 

All the pupils undertook a successful Restorative Justice intervention with 
the school through the Children’s First Panel. As a result, no criminal 
charges were brought, and all four pupils obtained their GCSEs in 2020. 

This incident’s multi-agency approach informed the Team Around the 
School (TAS) initiative, which later developed to become the Team 
Around the Locality Cluster (TALC).

2. Action on ACEs

In November 2018, the first Action on ACES conference was held in 
Gloucestershire. The message for the conference was ‘Resilience 
Trumps ACES.’ As Restorative Practice focuses on building positive 
relationships and improving resilience, it became clear that there was an 
interdependent relationship between ACES and Restorative Practice. 

In 2019, the Education Subgroup of the ACES panel supported the 
creation of ‘Trauma Informed Relational Practice’ (TIRP) integrating RP, 
ACES and Trauma Informed approaches.

3. Key Learning:

Restorative Practice is much more than a tool to manage behaviour and 
reduce exclusion; it is a whole school approach to culture change. It 
takes time, commitment, and tenacity to embed successfully, and 
requires a trauma informed lens to understand it fully. Research shows 
that this creates nurturing, inclusive schools. 

As an ethos, RP needs to be role modelled from the top and delivered 
across the entire school community. To have maximum impact, this 
needs to include the wider education system. 

As a result of this learning, Gloucestershire have replicated the schools’ 
offer for all staff within the Education Hub at GCC as well as with other 
professionals who interact with schools and the HR and OD teams in 
GCC. 

4. Impact to date in Schools:

 1000+ school staff have been trained in Restorative Practice in the 
county 

 70+ Schools across Gloucestershire have engaged in a 
Restorative Approach

 Thirty-four schools have adopted a Whole School Approach to 
Restorative Practice

Page 73

https://www.thersa.org/blog/2021/06/lessons-from-inclusive-and-nurturing-schools#:~:text=For%20this%20project%2C%20we've,seeks%20to%20reduce%20unnecessary%20exclusions.
https://www.thersa.org/blog/2021/06/lessons-from-inclusive-and-nurturing-schools#:~:text=For%20this%20project%2C%20we've,seeks%20to%20reduce%20unnecessary%20exclusions.


CFOSC ReportTemplate21 4

 Eighteen headteachers are currently on a 2-year Restorative 
Leadership programme 

 80 senior staff attended the Restorative Circles programme during 
lockdown 

 100+ at risk Year 6 pupils attended a transitions programme 
across 14 schools

5. Current School Offer:

The current offer is an immersive 2-year model, working with and not 
doing to or for schools. RP needs to be consistently role modelled. 

To ‘do’ Restorative Practice is fairly easy but to ‘be’ Restorative is often 
hard and takes time. 

6. Impact in GCC to date:

 400+ staff across Education and GCC have been trained in 
Restorative Practice 

 14 GCC leaders have completed an18 month Restorative 
Leadership programme 

 11 GCC leaders are currently participating in an RP 
implementation programme

 Four service areas across the Education Hub are adopting a 
Restorative approach 

 The GCC Grievance Policy now includes Restorative 
Practice interventions

 HR are piloting several Restorative Practice initiatives 
across the organisation

 Family Group Conference team now offer Restorative 
Practice conversations

7. Summary – Restorative Practice Across Gloucestershire

Restorative approaches are becoming more prevalent across the 
partnership. The GCC team work closely with Restorative 

Page 74



CFOSC ReportTemplate21 5

Gloucestershire, Children’s First, Schoolbeat and the University of 
Gloucestershire to promote a common vision for Restorative Practice in 
the county. 

Restorative Practice is a priority within various strategies including the 
ACES strategy, the Inclusion Strategy and wider Education Strategy, 
Child-Friendly Gloucestershire, and Family Hubs. 

This system wide approach shows benefits across the workforce in terms 
of wellbeing and productivity. 

8. GCC Involvement in the National Picture:

 GCC have co-created a National network of RP Education 
practitioners with 100+ participants across 24 UK local authorities

 Trauma Informed Relational Practice is leading the field of RP 
practice in the UK

 The RESTORE framework for schools, which GCC has 
contributed towards, has been downloaded 30,000+ times 
internationally 

 GCC continue to inform many UK research studies into best 
practice for RP, including funding a PhD to evaluate the 
effectiveness of GCC’s implementation model.

9. Next Steps in Schools:

 There are 10 Schools signed up to the next RP Leadership programme 
in September and the team hope some of the current RP leaders will 
mentor the new cohort

 The team are setting up locality School RP Networks to share 
resources, ideas, and best practice

 The team hope to be able to strengthen the offer for vulnerable Year 6 
pupils, promoting a positive transition to secondary school with the aim 
of reducing their risk of exclusion in Year 7.

Next Steps in GCC:

 Due to changes in leadership within Education, the team would like to 
run another RP Leadership programme for leaders in Children’s 
services

 The team are mapping the RP practice champions network across the 
county to increase capacity to deliver high quality training and 
interventions 

 The team are creating a Practice Framework for TIRP in Schools and 
the wider partnership to be able to benchmark good practice and offer 
staff ongoing quality CPD development opportunities 

10.Next Steps in Gloucestershire

 The team are developing a training offer for parents to support the 
implementation of Family Hubs 

 The team are developing a TIRP Train the Trainer programme to 
improve consistency of practice across the partnership, not just within 
Schools

 The team hope to raise the profile of TIRP within the broader Child-

Page 75

https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5ca61fd651f4d47b0b8065a5/t/6183e7097f75f066262ca9b5/1636034327432/Restorative+Workplaces+Research+Report+2021.pdf
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5ca61fd651f4d47b0b8065a5/t/6183e7097f75f066262ca9b5/1636034327432/Restorative+Workplaces+Research+Report+2021.pdf


CFOSC ReportTemplate21 6

Friendly Gloucestershire vision

11.Broader Next Steps:

 To continue to build the LA network, creating a shared RP community 
and resources website

 To work with the Restorative Justice Council to create specific 
Education standards for TIRP

 To contribute to the next phase of RESTORE with a new RESET 
framework for Schools

 To take up further opportunities to promote the model for TIRP via 
international links such as Creative Education and the RJ world 
conference 

12.Key Priority/Risks:

 Over the last 5 years, the team have created a network of 
relational and inclusive primary schools, but few secondary 
schools have converted. There is a risk of exacerbating the 
disparities between the school phases, putting vulnerable pupils at 
risk, if there is not more investment in more secondary schools 
adopting a Trauma-Informed, Relational approach. 

 The current funding allocation for RP is spent on five core staff and 
ends in 2024.

Page 76



1

Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Performance Report Quarter 4 2021/22 

11, [VALUE]

8, [VALUE]

8, [VALUE]

5, [VALUE]

7, [VALUE]

2, [VALUE]

4, [VALUE]

4, [VALUE]

7, [VALUE]

6, [VALUE]

8, [VALUE]

9, [VALUE]

9, [VALUE]

10, [VALUE]

9, [VALUE]

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Q4 2020/21

Q1 2021/22

Q2 2021/22

Q3 2021/22

Q4 2021/22

On or Ahead of Target Within Tolerance (0 - 5% Worse than Target) ≥ 5% Worse than Target

Children and Young People (including Education)   
Percentage of  Corporate Performance  Indicators On/Ahead, Within 

Tolerance or Behind Target  

1. During Quarter 4, Children’s Services underwent re-inspection by Ofsted, the findings of which were 
published on 1st April. The judgement of the service is Requires Improvement to be Good. Ofsted 
stated that: 

“Significant progress has been made in many areas of Gloucestershire’s children’s services since 
the last inspection in 2017, when the local authority was judged to be inadequate overall. However, 
services for children are not consistently good. Beginning from a very low base, there has been a 
relentless drive for improvement by both senior leaders and staff. This, along with significant 
financial investment and the backing of political leaders, has led to improved services that are now 
more effective in meeting the needs of children and families. As a result of these improvements to 
services and support for children, they are now better protected…Despite these improvements, there 
remains more to do to ensure that all children benefit from improved services.”

Churn within the workforce and levels of demand have increased throughout 2021/22, contributing to 
a very challenging operating environment.  Turnover within Children’s Services has followed an 
increasing trend over the last year rising from a low of 10% in March 2021 to 13.6%, which is the 
highest level of turnover in more than two years. This is similar to the level of turnover being seen 
across the County Council (13.3%). Turnover of Children’s Social Workers is particularly high, 
increasing for six successive quarters from 11.2% to 24.8% (includes newly qualified Social Workers, 
Social Workers and Senior Social Workers but excludes Agency workers). 

The action taken by Children’s Services leadership and Corporate colleagues in Quarter 3 led to 
some improvement in workforce capacity and stability in Quarter 4. The proportion of Social Workers 
with a caseload level in line with our target of 18 children or fewer improved from 60.4% to 66.1% in 
Quarter 4, with 87% of workers holding 22 children or fewer. Stability of Social worker also remains 
steady with 84% of children having fewer than 3 Social Workers in 6 months. That said, the situation 
remains extremely challenging and an enduring risk to achieving the goal of delivering consistently 
good services. Sickness due to Covid was certainly a factor over the course of Quarter 4. The risk 
relating to insufficient workforce capacity and/or instability adversely impacting on pace and 
sustainability of improvement and contributing to discontinuity in social engagement with children and 
families therefore remains rated as Moderate (12).

Children’s Services have a low level of appraisals completed with their staff (25.4% against a target of 
85%). There are plans to improve this performance during 2022/23.

Page 77

Agenda Item 8



2

2. Case supervision should take place routinely and is a critical area of work to support progress and 
risk management for children, as well as to provide practice guidance to Social Workers. Three-
quarters of children had a timely case supervision at the end of March (75.7% against a target of 
95%). Performance reduced for the third quarter from 84% at the end of Quarter 1. 

3. The Accelerated Improvement Plan, Quality Assurance and Performance Management, Team 
Improvement Programme and Essentials 2.0/3.0 arrangements continue to provide the framework for 
Children’s Services improvement journey. Although the operational landscape remains challenging, 
there have been some improvements in key indicators and quality of practice through Quality 
Assurance during Quarter 4. 59% of Children’s Services corporate performance measures were 
better than or within tolerance of target; this is the highest performance in 12 months. 92% of case 
audits judged Social Care practice as Requires Improvement (RI) or better. Performance again 
represents a 12-month high. However, caution should be exercised around performance in Quarter 4 
as there was a significant reduction in the number of audits undertaken (74 compared with 130 in 
Quarter 3) due to resources being diverted during the Ofsted inspection. In addition, fewer audits 
were rated as Good or Outstanding than at the same time last year (38% compared with 45%). 

4. We have also seen the proportion of workers with outlier performance for children (children 
experiencing significant drift and delay) rise from 4% to 16% between March 2021 and March 2022. 
These issues are a concern and will prove a challenge in moving the service towards Good. 

5. Children's Services was removed from the Inadequate category under the ILACS framework following 
inspection in Quarter 4. Ofsted reported that “Children are no longer left in situations where they are 
known to be at immediate risk of significant harm without appropriate action being taken, nor are 
there any serious or widespread failures in the services provided to children.” The risk relating to 
Ineffective social care practice, management oversight and review processes resulting in drift and 
delay for children and young people in situations of harm has therefore reduced from Moderate (8) to 
Low (6). 

6. At the end of March, the number of children open to Social Care was at its highest level recorded to 
date, with almost 4,600 children undergoing assessment or receiving support, protection of care. This 
is 12% higher than the 2019/20 average.

 
7. Contact demand increased in Quarter 4 with the highest level of contacts received to date in March 

(just over 8,750). During 2021/22, average monthly contacts have increased by one-third compared 
to 2019/20 (up 32%). Timeliness of decisions reduced throughout 2021/22 from 88.2% in Quarter 1 to 
70.6% in Quarter 4, with performance worse than target (90%). 

Quarter 4 also saw an increasing number of referrals (just over 2,500, with more than 1,000 of these 
received in March alone). This is an increase of 6% in average monthly referrals to Social Care in 
2021/22 compared with 2019/20. 

Timeliness of initial visits has followed a declining trend over the last two years, reducing from 87.7% 
in Quarter 4 2019/20 to 65.3% in Quarter 4 2021/22 (against a target of 85%).  

Decision making for contacts rated as Red and timeliness of initial visits to those children progressing 
under Section 47 both improved in Quarter 4 (from 78% to 83% and 62% to 73% respectively). 
However, performance remains worse than target (90% and 85% respectively).

8. The proportion of repeat referrals increased slightly in Quarter 4 to 25.5% against a higher number of 
referrals overall. This is worse than target (22.5%) and the peer group average (21.3%, Mar-21). 

Page 78



3

9. Assessment timeliness declined for the second quarter and was at the lowest level since December 
2019 (77.4%). This is worse than target and the peer group average (87%). However, this was 
impacted by particularly low performance in January (72%). Performance improved month on month 
to 82% in March. A growing number of ongoing assessments have been open for more than 60 
working days, up from 16 children at the end of Quarter 1 to 79 at the end of Quarter 4. 

Just under three-quarters of initial child protection conferences were timely in Quarter 4 (72%). This is 
a significant decline compared with performance during Quarter 1 of the financial year (89%) and 
represents a 12-month low. Timeliness is worse than the peer group average (86.7% Mar-21). 

10. We continue to visit the majority of children and young people open to Social Care in a timely way, 
however, visiting for our younger care leavers has been off target for more than a year (71% at the 
end of Quarter 4). Improvement is also needed in the timeliness of visiting children subject to a 
protection plan which was worse than target at the end of Quarter 4 (85% versus a target of 93%). 
We also need to see more of our children subject to a protection plan alone within timescale (83% 
against a target of 95%). 

11. The number of children subject to a protection plan remained high at the end of March (855 children); 
this is the highest level since December 2018. Repeat protection planning has been worse than target 
throughout 2021/22. Almost one-third of children made subject to a plan in Quarter 4 had had one or 
more previous plans (29.5%). Performance remains worse than target (25%) and our peer 
comparators (23.8% Mar-21). Practice needs to improve to make a sustained difference for children. 

12. The number of children in care remained high but steady during Quarter 4, with 841 children in care 
at the end of March. This compares to an average of 778 children in 2020/21 and 727 in 2019/20. 
This continues to place strain on the availability of suitable placements for children and our ability to 
place children within County (75.1%).  Nevertheless, our performance on minimising the number of 
children placed out of county, more than 20 miles from home compares well with comparators (20.3% 
against a peer group average of 22.9%).

13. The proportion of repeat admissions to care increased for the second quarter (10.3% up from 3.4% in 
Quarter 2). During 2021/22, readmissions to care account for 7% of admissions to care overall; 
performance remains better than target and national levels (11.4%). 

14. One in five children (20.3%) are accommodated in care under a Section 20 agreement. Performance 
is marginally worse than the stretch target implemented at the beginning of last quarter. We continue 
to have higher than national levels of children accommodated under a Section 20 agreement (15%).

15. Overall, 68% of children in our care are looked after by in-house Foster Carers (up from 64% last 
quarter). The vast majority of our available in-house foster care capacity is utilised (96.2%). 

16. For the second quarter, there was an improvement in the number of children in care having 3 or more 
placements within a 12-month period, down from 16.2% in Quarter 2 to 12.5%. This is better than 
target for the first time in three years. However, we continue to see a higher proportion of our children 
in care experiencing short-term placement instability than the peer group average (9.5%). 

Long-term placement stability performance remained similar to last quarter and is within tolerance of 
the stretch target implemented at the start of Quarter 3 (65.9% against a target of 68%) but is worse 
than the peer group average (70%, Mar-21). 

Alongside growth in the number of children in care, there remain significant challenges in the provider 
market due to Covid. The Sufficiency Strategy continues to provide the focal point for our work and is 
currently being refreshed. The next stage in developing capacity with provider partners is also 
commencing. The risk relating to failure to develop sufficient placement capacity to meet the needs of 
looked after children remains rated as moderate (12).

Page 79



4

17. At the end of 2021/22, reviews were timely for all children in care; performance has declined slightly 
over the last three quarters but continues to be within tolerance of target (97.2%). 

18. Performance for our younger care leavers has been a concern throughout 2021/22, with under 
performance in terms of contact and visiting, pathway planning, suitable living arrangements and 
opportunities for education, employment and training (EET). This is a very different picture from our 
19-21 year old and over 21 year old care leavers for whom all areas of performance have been within 
tolerance or better than target, with the exception of EET opportunities. However, at the end of 
March, there had been an improvement for 16-18 year olds who had had contact with their Social 
Worker in the last 6 months and who were living in suitable accommodation. Performance moved 
within tolerance of the target for the first time in more than 12 months. The Ofsted inspection 
highlighted that Personal Assistants are not being allocated to Care Leavers quickly enough and this 
is impacting performance. This is an area of focus for improvement.  

19. Based on information provided by schools to the DfE, we know that average attendance of pupils 
across Gloucestershire was 89.5% during Quarter 4. Attendance was lower for those pupils with 
a Social Worker (82.2%). 

In Quarter 4, almost a quarter of our school aged children in care, were classified as persistently 
absent (an attendance rate of less than 90% of school days) (23.9%). Illness accounted for 6.7% 
of persistent absence. 

20. Since September 2021, Ofsted have returned to inspecting schools under a new more rigorous 
framework which may mean that schools find it more challenging to hold onto to previously Good 
or Outstanding judgements. Changes introduced in September 2021 reintroduced inspections for 
schools previously judged as Outstanding. There has been quite a high frequency of inspections 
in Gloucestershire since resumption in September (47 inspections, 15 awaiting judgement). 

Based on final reports that have been published, the majority of settings achieved a Good rating 
(22), while 9 settings Require Improvement and 1 was judged to be Inadequate.  

The proportion of children attending Good or Outstanding Early Years settings has increased 
marginally from 90.9% to 91.9%, while children attending Good or Outstanding Secondary 
settings has increased from 85% to 91%. Children attending Good or Outstanding Primary setting 
has seen a small decline from 87% to 86%. Performance is within tolerance of target for Early 
Years and Primary settings and better than target for Secondary school settings. 

We aim to ensure that our children in care are educated in a Good or Outstanding settings to 
reduce educational learning gaps. Just under three-quarters of our school-aged children in care 
educated in Gloucestershire have a school place in a Good or Outstanding school (73.9%), while 
9.4% of pupils attend a school rated Requires Improvement or Inadequate. 16.7% of children 
attend a new academy school which hasn’t received its first Ofsted inspection as yet, so it is 
unclear what level of education standard they are receiving. 

21. There continues to be unprecedented demand for EHCP Assessments. In 2020/21, requests for 
assessment rose by 18% compared to the previous academic year (820 compared with 695). By 
the end of March 2022, we had received 30% more requests for assessment than during the 
same period in 2020/21 (574 compared with 441).

As a result of the high level of demand, a significant decrease in the timeliness of issuing EHC 
plans has been seen since the start of the pandemic with performance declining from 85.2% (incl. 
exceptions) in the 2019/20 academic year to 34.3% in 2020/21. One-off additional resource has 
been put in place to support temporary staffing capacity and interim changes of priority work and 
practice have been made to address the backlog of required assessments. 

Page 80



5

Funding has also been provided to the service and active recruitment is taking place to fill long 
term posts to increase the overall service capacity to manage the growth during 2022/23. If the 
growth continues at the rate that we are currently seeing, funding and staffing capacity will need 
to remain under review. We have been invited to become part of a DfE 'SEND Best Value' 
project' which will provide expertise and resource to address systemic issues in the longer term. 

Although a continued decline in timeliness of issuing EHC plans has been seen in the 2021/22 
academic year to date (13.7%), early indications are reported by the service that these remedial 
actions are starting to have an impact. Whilst the focus is on issuing plans in timescale, this is 
alongside issuing plans when all relevant assessments are completed, many of these will be 
outside of timescales whilst the backlog is cleared, and the managing of demand is reviewed. 
This will affect the overall timeliness performance as more plans are issued that are already out 
of timescale. Over the coming months this will be closely monitored by the service.

So far this academic year, more EHCPs have been issued than at the same time last academic 
year (386 compared with 355, up 9%). A continued growth in the number of children with EHCPs 
is expected as the service works through assessment requests. This will have a significant impact 
on the high needs budget.

4,925 children and young people had an Education Health and Care plan (EHCP) at the end of 
March. This equates to a rate of 28.0 per 1,000 population and represents an increasing trend. 
This reflects the national trend where the number of children and young people with statements 
or EHCPs has increased year on year for the last decade. Gloucestershire‘s rate is now in line 
with our peer group average (28.0). 

The SEND green paper published in March supports the planned actions and priorities set out in 
short term targeted improvement plans linked to increasing temporary staffing capacity from one-
off resource, as well as the medium and longer-term strategic changes. The refreshed SEND 
strategy and Inclusion Strategy are in their system engagement phase. Focused task and finish 
groups around the Local Area SEND Inspection and Special School place planning have been 
established around the SEND and Inclusion teams with Social Care and Health engagement to 
target and steer transformation work to mitigate medium and long-term risks to children with 
SEND. The Principal Education Psychologist comes into post in late April to lead the Education 
Psychology and ATS transformation of services alongside the transformation of the EHCP 
casework team structure. Based on the proactive work taking place, the increased one-off 
investment and national focus on this area the risk relating to failure to close the gaps in 
educational outcomes for vulnerable learners and their peers resulting in adverse impacts for 
children and families, increased cost/pressures on specialist provision and damage to reputation 
has reduced from High (16) to Moderate (9). 

22. This academic year to date, there have been 82 permanent exclusions (of which 41 were in 
Quarter 4). This is up from 70 children at the same time in the 2019/20 academic year and similar 
to the same time in the 2018/19 Academic Year which was prior to the pandemic (85 children).

The majority of permanent exclusions have been among Secondary school pupils, (52 children).  
This is, however, a reduction compared to the same time in the 18/19 academic year (72 
children). Conversely the number of permanent exclusions of Primary School children has 
doubled when compared to the same time period, with 26 Primary school exclusions in the 
2021/22 Academic Year to date compared with 12 children at the same time in the 2018/19 
Academic Year.

Half of the Primary school children permanently excluded this academic year to date had an 
EHCP (13 children) the majority of which had a primary need of Social, Emotional, Mental Health 
(SEMH). Only 2 children permanently excluded from Secondary school had an EHCP. Further 
analysis is being undertaken to build up a profile of children most likely to experience exclusion. 
This will support the service in their work with schools to consider what further support might be 
needed to prevent exclusions for these children.

Page 81



6

Since the start of the new academic year students and staff have had to readjust and return to ‘as 
normal’ arrangements insofar as possible whilst also continuing to provide education during 
periods of absence for both students and staff. The increase in demand for EHCP assessments 
resulting in delay against statutory timescales may also mean there are children not yet receiving 
the full support they require to engage with school and access the curriculum. Primary schools 
have been particularly impacted, with staff absence has included that of the additional adult 
support required for SEN pupils. Schools are also reporting an increase in dis-regulation: the high 
level of staff absence has resulted in some Head Teachers having to focus on teaching which 
reduces the amount of capacity available to de-escalate incidents which may prevent a child being 
permanently excluded. 

Whilst permanent exclusions due to persistent disruptive behaviour remains the most common 
reason for permanent exclusion, this has reduced from 49% in the 2019/20 academic year to 42% 
this academic year. Permanent exclusions for physical assault against an adult or pupil have 
increased from 36% to 43% over the same period. 

Page 82



Quarter 4 2021/22

Purpose of the report
To provide a strategic overview of the Council's performance for Quarter 4 2021/22.

The following scorecards are enclosed:

Prepared by the Performance and Improvement Team

Page number
Key to Symbols 2
Children & Young People 3
Education & Skills 5
Strategic Risk Register Summary 6

Children & Young People Scrutiny Committee

1

P
age 83



Risk Impact/Consequence

Likelihood 1
Insignificant

2
Minor

3
Moderate

4
Major

5
Critical

Almost
certain
(5)

5 10 15 20 25

Likely
(4) 4 8 12 16 20

Probable
(3) 3 6 9 12 15

Possible
(2) 2 4 6 8 10

Rare
(1) 1 2 3 4 5

Reporting Basis

Year to Date Performance accumulated over the year

Rolling Year Average performance over a 12 month
period

Annual Performance measured once a year

Latest
Quarter

Performance this quarter

Snapshot Performance at a particular point in time

Forecast Predicted position at the end of the year

Level of
Risk

Score

Low 1  6
Moderate 7 – 12
High 13 – 25

Risk Rating
(calculated by multiplying the Impact with the Likelihood of each risk)

Risk Symbols
Risk Value Increasing
Risk Value Decreasing
No Change

Measure Symbols
Performance Better than Target
Performance Worse than Target
Performance significantly worse than Target
No information
Missing Target
No Value

Bigger is Better A bigger value for this measure is good
Smaller is Better A smaller value for this measure is good
Plan is best Where it is better for performance to be on target rather than above or below

Key to Symbols

2

P
age 84



Children and Young People

Cllr Stephen Davies

Quality Assurance

% of audits judged as Requires Improvement (RI) or better Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 91.0% 89.0% 90.0% 80.0% 92.0% 91.0%

Performance represents a 12month high and is
similar to that achieved in Q4 2020/21. However,
fewer audits were rated as Good or Outstanding than
at the same time last year (38% compared with
45%).

n/a

% of Children open to Social Care with fewer than 3 Social
Workers in 6 months

Bigger is Better Snapshot 82.3% 83.8% 84.4% 84.4% 84.2% 80.0% n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

Target
Mar22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Contact Activity

% of referrals to Social Care that are rereferrals within 12
months

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 29.0% 23.9% 24.4% 23.5% 25.5% 22.5% 21.3%

% of Initial Decisions made within 24 hours for all contacts Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 79.9% 88.2% 81.2% 71.9% 70.6% 90.0% n/a

% Initial visits in time Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 82.5% 79.2% 78.2% 69.9% 62.4% 85.0%

Performance has followed a declining trend over the
last two years, with timeliness of initial visits reducing
from 87.7% in Quarter 4 2019/20 to 65.3% in Quarter
4 2021/22.

n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

Target
Mar22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Children in Need of Help & Protection

% of Children in Need who have been on a plan for 12 months
or more

Smaller is Better Snapshot 6.8% 4.8% 4.0% 3.8% 4.2% 10.0% n/a

% of Single Assessments completed within 45 working days Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 84.1% 80.9% 83.2% 79.6% 77.4% 87.0% 86.9%
% of Children becoming the subject of a Child Protection Plan
for a second or subsequent time

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 28.8% 28.4% 27.4% 27.3% 29.5% 25.0% 23.8%

% of Children subject to Child Protection Plans lasting 2 years
or more

Smaller is Better Snapshot 2.2% 3.2% 3.1% 2.4% 3.3% 2.0% 1.7%

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

Target
Mar22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Children in Care

% of Children who are fostered who are placed with the in
house fostering service

Bigger is Better Snapshot 70.0% 68.0% 64.0% 64.0% 68.0% 70.0% n/a

% of Children in Care for more than 2.5 years in the same
placement for at least 2 years

Bigger is Better Snapshot 69.3% 67.0% 66.0% 65.6% 65.9% 68.0% 70.0%

% Children in Care (CIC) reviewed in timescales Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 100.0% 99.7% 98.9% 97.4% 97.2% 98.0% n/a
% of Children in Care with at least 3 placements in the last 12
months

Smaller is Better Snapshot 15.8% 15.9% 16.2% 13.2% 12.5% 13.0% 9.5%

% Children in Care persistently absent Smaller is Better Snapshot 20.0% 22.0% 18.4% 22.5% 23.9% 5.0%

Sickness accounted for 6.7% of children who had
missed more than 10% of school days. Performance
would still be worse than target even taking this into
account.

10.1%

% of children who have been admitted to care within 12
months of previously being in care

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 3.9% 6.6% 3.4% 7.8% 10.3% 11.4% 11.4%

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

Target
Mar22

Comments
Comparator
Group

% of Young People aged 1921 who were looked after aged 16
who were in suitable accommodation

Bigger is Better Snapshot 93.8% 92.4% 94.4% 90.4% 93.8% 95.0%

The proportion of older Care Leavers (1921 years
old and over 21's) has been within tolerance of target
for the majority of the year. Performance for younger
Care Leavers has been persistently worse than target
throughout 2021/22. However, at the end of March,
this had improved to a within tolerance position for
the first time in more than 12 months.

87.9%

% of Young People aged 1921 who were looked after aged 16
who were not in employment, education or training

Smaller is Better Snapshot 48.3% 51.9% 45.1% 44.9% 45.1% 25.0%

Performance for older Care Leavers (1921 year olds
and over 21's) was similar at the end of March.
However, there had been an improvement in the
proportion of 1618 years olds not in employment,
education or training, down from 41.0% to 33.3%.
Performance remains worse than target for all age
groups.

48.8%

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

Target
Mar22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Youth Support

% of Young People (academic age 1617) not in education,
employment or training (NEET)

Smaller is Better Snapshot 2.5% 2.3% 1.3% 2.2% 2.2% 4.5%
NEET percentage from MI Program at end of March
(snapshot). This is a very positive figure.

n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

Target
Mar22

Comments
Comparator
Group

3

P
age 85

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')


Children and Young People

Cllr Stephen Davies

Quality Assurance

% of audits judged as Requires Improvement (RI) or better Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 91.0% 89.0% 90.0% 80.0% 92.0% 91.0%

Performance represents a 12month high and is
similar to that achieved in Q4 2020/21. However,
fewer audits were rated as Good or Outstanding than
at the same time last year (38% compared with
45%).

n/a

% of Children open to Social Care with fewer than 3 Social
Workers in 6 months

Bigger is Better Snapshot 82.3% 83.8% 84.4% 84.4% 84.2% 80.0% n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

Target
Mar22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Contact Activity

% of referrals to Social Care that are rereferrals within 12
months

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 29.0% 23.9% 24.4% 23.5% 25.5% 22.5% 21.3%

% of Initial Decisions made within 24 hours for all contacts Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 79.9% 88.2% 81.2% 71.9% 70.6% 90.0% n/a

% Initial visits in time Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 82.5% 79.2% 78.2% 69.9% 62.4% 85.0%

Performance has followed a declining trend over the
last two years, with timeliness of initial visits reducing
from 87.7% in Quarter 4 2019/20 to 65.3% in Quarter
4 2021/22.

n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

Target
Mar22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Children in Need of Help & Protection

% of Children in Need who have been on a plan for 12 months
or more

Smaller is Better Snapshot 6.8% 4.8% 4.0% 3.8% 4.2% 10.0% n/a

% of Single Assessments completed within 45 working days Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 84.1% 80.9% 83.2% 79.6% 77.4% 87.0% 86.9%
% of Children becoming the subject of a Child Protection Plan
for a second or subsequent time

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 28.8% 28.4% 27.4% 27.3% 29.5% 25.0% 23.8%

% of Children subject to Child Protection Plans lasting 2 years
or more

Smaller is Better Snapshot 2.2% 3.2% 3.1% 2.4% 3.3% 2.0% 1.7%

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

Target
Mar22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Children in Care

% of Children who are fostered who are placed with the in
house fostering service

Bigger is Better Snapshot 70.0% 68.0% 64.0% 64.0% 68.0% 70.0% n/a

% of Children in Care for more than 2.5 years in the same
placement for at least 2 years

Bigger is Better Snapshot 69.3% 67.0% 66.0% 65.6% 65.9% 68.0% 70.0%

% Children in Care (CIC) reviewed in timescales Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 100.0% 99.7% 98.9% 97.4% 97.2% 98.0% n/a
% of Children in Care with at least 3 placements in the last 12
months

Smaller is Better Snapshot 15.8% 15.9% 16.2% 13.2% 12.5% 13.0% 9.5%

% Children in Care persistently absent Smaller is Better Snapshot 20.0% 22.0% 18.4% 22.5% 23.9% 5.0%

Sickness accounted for 6.7% of children who had
missed more than 10% of school days. Performance
would still be worse than target even taking this into
account.

10.1%

% of children who have been admitted to care within 12
months of previously being in care

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 3.9% 6.6% 3.4% 7.8% 10.3% 11.4% 11.4%

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

Target
Mar22

Comments
Comparator
Group

% of Young People aged 1921 who were looked after aged 16
who were in suitable accommodation

Bigger is Better Snapshot 93.8% 92.4% 94.4% 90.4% 93.8% 95.0%

The proportion of older Care Leavers (1921 years
old and over 21's) has been within tolerance of target
for the majority of the year. Performance for younger
Care Leavers has been persistently worse than target
throughout 2021/22. However, at the end of March,
this had improved to a within tolerance position for
the first time in more than 12 months.

87.9%

% of Young People aged 1921 who were looked after aged 16
who were not in employment, education or training

Smaller is Better Snapshot 48.3% 51.9% 45.1% 44.9% 45.1% 25.0%

Performance for older Care Leavers (1921 year olds
and over 21's) was similar at the end of March.
However, there had been an improvement in the
proportion of 1618 years olds not in employment,
education or training, down from 41.0% to 33.3%.
Performance remains worse than target for all age
groups.

48.8%

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

Target
Mar22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Youth Support

% of Young People (academic age 1617) not in education,
employment or training (NEET)

Smaller is Better Snapshot 2.5% 2.3% 1.3% 2.2% 2.2% 4.5%
NEET percentage from MI Program at end of March
(snapshot). This is a very positive figure.

n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

Target
Mar22

Comments
Comparator
Group

4

Children Leaving Care

P
age 86

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')


Education and Skills

Cllr Philip Robinson

Schools

Number of pupils permanently excluded (all pupils) Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 6 16 12 35 41 34 n/a
% of pupils attending good or outstanding Secondary Schools Bigger is Better Snapshot 81.0% 81.0% 81.0% 85.0% 91.0% 85.0% n/a
% of pupils attending good or outstanding Primary Schools Bigger is Better Snapshot 86.0% 86.0% 86.0% 87.0% 86.0% 88.0% n/a
% of good or outstanding Early Years Settings Bigger is Better Snapshot 91.0% 91.7% 91.7% 90.9% 91.1% 92.0% n/a

Rate per 1,000 of children with an Education Health and Care
Plan

Plan is Best Latest Quarter 25.2 26.0 26.6 27.3 28.0 28.0

The SEN/NonSEN gap  achieving expected standard or
higher at KS2 in Reading, Writing & Maths

Smaller is Better Academic Year 57.0% 60.0%

% points gap between disadvantaged pupils and their peers at
Key Stage 2 (achieving expected standard or above in
Reading, Writing and Maths)

Smaller is Better Academic Year 27.0% 28.0% 28.0%

% points gap between disadvantaged pupils and their peers at
Key Stage 4 (achieving A*  C in English and Maths)

Smaller is Better Academic Year 17.3% 17.4%

% of pupils achieving grades 95 in English and Maths Bigger is Better Academic Year 47.3% 47.8% 54.9% 57.3% 52.7%

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

Target
Mar22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Actual Mar22 Comments
Comparator
Group

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis
Academic
Year Ending
2017

Academic
Year Ending
2018

Academic
Year Ending
2019

Academic
Year Ending
2020

Academic Year Ending
2021

Comments
Comparator
Group

5

P
age 87

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col12')


Strategic Risk

Strategic Risk Register

SR7.2
Ineffective social care practice, management oversight and
review processes resulting in drift and delay for children and
young people in situations of harm.

Spencer,
Chris

High 25 Moderate 8 Moderate 8 Moderate 8 Moderate 8 Low 6

Our AIP, Performance Management and QA, Team Improvement Programme and
Essentials 2.0/3.0 continue to provide the framework for our improvement
journey.  Although the operational landscape remains challenging we have seen
some improvements in key indicators and quality of practice through QA during
Q4.  Workforce stability and capacity remain key challenges.  Ofsted undertook
their ILACS inspection in February with the final report published on 1 April  this
has removed GCC Children's Services from the inadequate category.  It further
acknowledged the significant progress that has been made although more is
needed for services to be consistently good.

SR7.4

Failure to close the gaps in educational outcomes for
vulnerable learners and their peers resulting in adverse
impacts for children and families, increased cost/pressures on
specialist provision and damage to reputation.

Harrison,
Kirsten

High 20 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 High 16 Moderate
9

Whilst pressures remain around continued increase in requests to assess for
EHCP; workflows around assessment and the issue of plans, as well as continued
high emergence of increasing numbers of CYP with the primary need of SMEH,
the provision of additional resource by cabinet to address backlogs and interim
changes of priority work and practice plans, are starting to impact. In addition we
have been invited to become part of a DfE 'SEND Best Value' project' which will
provide expertise and resource to address systemic issues in the longer term. 
The SEND green paper published on 29.3.22 supports the planned actions and
priorities set out in short term targeted improvement plans linked to increasing
temporary staffing capacity from oneoff resource as well as the medium and
longer term strategic changes. The refreshed SEND strategy and Inclusion
Strategy are in their system engagement phase and focused task and finish
groups around the Local Area SEND Inspection and Special School place planning
have been established around SEND & Inclusion teams with Social Care and
Health engagement to target and steer transformation work to mitigate medium
and long term risks to CYP with SEND. The Principal Education Psychologist
comes to post on 25.4.22 to lead the Education Psychology and ATS
transformation of services alongside the transformation of the EHCP casework
team structure. All this proactive work and increased oneoff investment reduces
the risks identified in the risk rating last quarter.

SR7.5

Insufficient workforce capacity and/or instability adversely
impacting on pace and sustainability of improvement and
contributing to discontinuity in social engagement with children
and families

Spencer,
Chris

High 16 Moderate 8 Moderate 8 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate
12

The action taken by CS SLT and corporate in Q3 has led to some improvement
and stabilising of the situation in Q4, for  workforce capacity and stability.  That
said, the situation remains extremely challenging and an enduring risk to
achieving the goal of delivering consistently good services.  Sickness due to
Covid was certainly a factor over the course of Q4.

SR7.7 Failure to develop sufficient placement capacity to meet the
needs of children looked after

Spencer,
Chris

High 16 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate
12

The enduring difficulties in the provider market due to Covid, alongside factors
such as workforce availability and ongoing growth in our children in care
population led to a very challenging Q4.  The Sufficiency Strategy continues to
provide the focal point for our work and is currently being refreshed.  Greater
use of our in house foster care capacity and Trevone House have helped offset
some of the need for residential placements although some growth was inevitable
in the circumstances.  The next stage in developing capacity with provider
partners, through Southfield House, is also progressing.

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children, Young People & Adults

Risk Owner
Inherent
Risk

Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

DoT Mar
22

Mitigating Actions

6

P
age 88

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col15')


1

REPORT: Children’s Services Quality Assurance
- Distribution copy

MONTH: March 
2022

AUTHORS: Rob England (Head of Quality, Children’s Services)
Sam Haines (Quality Assurance & Advanced Practice Manager)

SPONSOR: Andy Dempsey (Director of Partnerships & Strategy) 
 

Quality Assurance: Performance Snapshot

RAG Measure Perf Direction of Travel

Number of audits completed to accepted 
standard and uploaded 44 Increased from 30 in Feb ’22; just below 

baseline (45)

Audit completion rate 
(Target 90%) 67%

Increased from 54% in Feb ’22, back to 
levels seen in Dec and Nov '21; remains 
below 90% target.

Percentage rated Good and Outstanding in 
current quarter (short-term target 50%) 37% Increase on 31% in Q3 21/22 but reduced 

from 38% Q2 & 44% Q1; below 50% target.

Percentage rated RI (in current quarter) 54% Below target relative to proportions of 
Good & Inadequate. 

Percentage rated Inadequate in current quarter 
(short-term target 9%) 8%

Improvement on 20% in Q3 21/22, 
returning to previous levels; 10% in Q2 and 
11% in Q1. Meets target (9%)

Percentage of audit actions from previous 
month within timescale (target of 80%) 31% Reduction on 37% in February ‘22 and 35% 

in December ’21; below target (80%).

Quality of assessment in current quarter 
(percentage of assessments evaluated as ‘Good’ 
or better)

38%
Improvement on 34% in Q3 21/22, 
returning to previous levels (40% Q2 and 
43% Q1); below 50% target

SMART planning current quarter 
(Percentage of plans evaluated as ‘Good’ or 
better)

31%
Similar to 32% in Q3 21/22, reduced from
 42% in Q2 and 37% in Q1; below 50% 
target.

Management oversight in current quarter 
(percentage of ‘Good’ or better oversight & 
supervision)

39%
Improvement on 32% in Q3 and 36% in Q2 
21/22, but below 51% seen in Q1 and our 
50% target

Child/young person involvement (aged 4 yrs. +) 
in current quarter (target of 80%) 49%

Improvement on 34% and 35% in Q3 and 
Q2 respectively; remains below 80% 
target.

Family involvement in current quarter
(Target of 80%) 62%

Improved from 58% in Q3 21/22, returning 
towards 66% and 77% seen in Q2 and Q1; 
below 80% target

Social Worker involvement in current quarter 
(target of 95%) 97% Fluctuated between 95% and 97% over last 

4 quarters: all within 95% target
Team Manager involvement in current quarter 
(target of 95%) 96% Similar to 97% in Q3; 95% in Q2; and 98% 

in Q1; all within 95% target
IRO/CP Chair involvement in current quarter 
(target of 95%) 100% Improved from 97% in Q3; 95% in Q2; and 

98% in Q1; all within 95% target

Page 89

Agenda Item 9



2

Note: 
The reporting window outlined in this report was notably impacted on by the Ofsted Inspection in 
February 2022.  Due to the focus on the inspection by leaders of practice (those undertaking auditing 
and moderating) it was agreed that audit completion would be suspended for the end of January and 
through the period of inspection, leading to a limited return of 30 audits in February.  Whilst 44 audits 
were completed in March, the overall number of audits in Q4 21/22, may make findings less 
representative than previous quarters. As such the current quarter findings need to be interpreted 
within caution.

1.0     Overview

Under the ILACS framework, the Local Authority’s self-assessment is required to answer the 
following 3 questions:

1) What do you know about the quality and impact of social work practice in your local 
authority? 

2) How do you know it?
3) What are your plans for the next 12 months to maintain or improve practice? 

The QA report is formatted against these questions under the paraphrased headings of: 1) 
‘How are we doing?’; 2) ‘How do we know this?’.  The third question around improvement 
work is addressed within the department’s improvement planning which is reported on 
elsewhere.  Nevertheless, some mention of improvement activity is made in this report as it 
relates to the areas identified.

In 2017 GCC Children’s Social Care were judged to be Inadequate by Ofsted with significant 
concerns raised about the reliability and impact of quality assurance processes.  Successive 
Ofsted visits to GCC marked an improving trajectory in the rigour, depth, breadth and 
reliability of the QA framework.   The recent Ofsted ILACS remarked of our QA that: 

“The local authority has strengthened its quality and performance management 
arrangements, providing senior leaders with a good understanding of the quality and impact 
of practice.”

And:
“The auditing of practice takes place on a regular basis and is supported by an effective 
moderation process. Senior leaders have provided staff with a clear picture of what good 
practice looks like and of what is expected of them.”

The above offers cause for ongoing optimism in our approach to QA, though there remain 
some areas for continued improvement.  Following this inspection, the primary areas for 
continued improvement in our QA approach are closing the loop on actions identified through 
audits; following through learning from QA to drive improvements; and being even more 
ambitious for improvement with work rated as good.  

A fundamental refresh of the QA framework, informed by the above areas for improvement 
and findings from the inspection, is now underway.  This will support the refreshed 
improvement plan in seeking to move beyond requires improvement towards the delivery of 
consistently good practice.

2.0 Executive summary 

In Gloucestershire, the leadership are aiming for excellence for children, young people, 
families, and communities.  The first priority has been to minimise instances of inadequate 
practice, and secondly to increase the rate of practice rated as good or better.  The 
improvement trajectory indicates that the first priority has been progressed well, though 

Page 90



3

exceptional contextual pressures in the previous quarter arrested this improvement.  Early 
indications are that this improvement trajectory is being restored and now meeting target.  
Similarly, quarterly data points to improvements in practice rated as good though this has yet 
to meet target.  

The potential for weak practice will remain even in the best organisations.  The challenge for 
leadership is to respond to this with urgency, grip and an openness to further learning and 
improvement.  

Importantly though, following sustained improvement the emphasis in GCC is now moving to 
securing consistently good services.  Given the downturn in quality in quarter 3, and relative 
sample sizes in quarter 4, we are interpreting the current improvement with caution and want 
to see this sustained into the next quarter, to consider this as secure.  

2.1 Quality of Practice

The quality of practice in the department had progressed considerably over the last 24 
months.  Examples of good (and sometimes outstanding) practice are more regular, however, 
more is needed for this standard of practice to be consistent.   

In the quarter practice rated as good or outstanding has been 37% which is an increase on 
the 31% seen in Q3 21/22 but below our target of 50%.  Practice rated as inadequate in the 
last quarter accounts for 8% of audits. This is an improvement on the 20% in Q3 21/22, 
returning to levels in previous quarters of 21/22; and now meets our target of 9%. 

We continue to closely track the proportion of audited work at the lower end of RI.  This has 
proved particularly insightful in relation to trend analysis and targeted improvement activity in 
areas of identified/growing vulnerability.  In the past 6 months, an increase in lower RI has 
preceded an increase in inadequate practice.  In the last 3 months, the proportion of work at 
the lower end of RI has been increasing, supporting the view that recent improvements in 
practice be interpreted with caution.

Consistently good practice is clustered in 5 teams; outside of which a picture of variability 
predominates.  

Findings from recent months indicate the following notable practice themes:

a) One of the key themes in weaker practice relates to delay or gaps in recorded practice 
which impacts on many of the below points.  This also correlates with the findings of 
reducing timeliness in key performance indicators within our performance reporting.  
 

b) The department is evidently working hard to maximise relational practice and the benefits 
that follow. Changes in children’s workers continue to impact on the development of 
trusted and effective working relationships, and the continuity of help, protection and care. 

There is a correlation between effective interventions with families and the feedback of 
children and families of having a positive, helpful relationship with their worker. Feedback 
conversely indicates how hard it is for those children and families who have experienced 
multiple changes in worker. 

c) Improvements are evident in management oversight, ‘footprint’ and challenge of IROs 
and CP chairs.  More is needed for this to meet the performance and quality expectations 
established by the department.  More incisive, contemporaneous supervisory discussions 
are needed to better understand and respond to children’s risks, needs and 
circumstances.  

Ofsted positively connoted the role of IROs and CP chairs, but more remains needed 
from these officers to consistently drive practice improvements through their oversight 
and grip.  

Page 91



4

d) The quality of assessments remains variable.  The regular use of the Essentials 2.0 
prompts and Practice Fundamentals contribute to practice improvements.  Timely 
completion of assessments, and incisive analysis through good conceptualisation and 
triangulation of information are noted as areas for improvement.  

e) When risk of significant harm to children and young people is identified, threshold 
decision-making has yet to become consistent.  Application of the Essentials 2.0 risk 
prompts, and timely progression of concerns is needed.  Emphasis on quality outcomes 
from strategy discussions remains an area in focus.  Ofsted helpfully differentiated 
children not open to the service as likely to receiving a better quality response through 
strategy discussions than those already open to a social worker. 

f) There is relevant strategic emphasis on exploitation and children missing from home and 
care.  Direct practice with vulnerable and at-risk young people needs improvement, 
particularly in relation to engagement and risk (including multi-agency risk arrangements).  
The emphasis of this practice needs to attend to the important areas of missing and 
exploitation, but not to the exclusion of other contextual features.  Adolescent mental ill 
health, antisocial and offending behaviours, substance misuse, self-harm, harmful sexual 
behaviours, peer-on-peer abuse, and other relevant risks to young people need 
progression.  

The GSCP task and finish group working on Extra-Familial Harm (EFH), and the recent 
step in the Reviewing Service to appoint a service manager to lead on EFH are positive 
steps in this area.  

g) The links between assessment and planning need to be improved, alongside plans being 
reliably C-SMART. Focus is needed to ensure that timescales for action 
completion/review are included in plans.  Some assessments and plans remain too 
process (rather than outcome) focused.  

The Essentials 2.0 Risk review principles are being used more regularly to analyse 
progression of planning.  Where these are used, analysis is impact focussed and supports 
timely, effective decision making.  Overall though, regular review of plans is needed to 
prevent drift and to update and adapt interventions as needed.  This further needs to be 
used well to establish the capacity to change of those being worked with to inform timely 
and proportionate intervention.  

h) Practitioners are often able to talk to the purpose of their visits, but this is not always 
evident in recordings. Additionally, most children/young people had a safety plan but this 
either needed greater realism in reducing risk of harm or amending when not reducing 
the risk of harm.  Consistent use of safety planning during s47 enquiries also requires 
improvement.  

Some audits have identified that children were not seen in a timely way when concerns 
were raised and that ‘direct work’ with children did not always focus on the reasons for 
involvement but looked more to general wellbeing. 

i) Drift and delay for children and young people remain observable, particularly because of 
changes of social worker.  This is likely to be compounded by the reduction in children 
experiencing regular updates of their plan and analytical review of progress.

j) Work remains needed to better apply diversity, equality, inclusion and anti-oppressive 
perspectives to practice.  The introduction of the Social GRACES is promising but the 
impact is yet to be evidenced.  Improvement in this area would undoubtedly support 
improved assessments of identity for children and young people.  The refresh of the 
Practice Fundamentals to reflect EDI more prominently is a good step.

k) The offer of Permanence (not only for Children in Care) can improve.  For children 
remaining in the care of their family, permanence planning would benefit from improved 

Page 92



5

analysis of the capacity to make and sustain change.  A lack of evidence-based analysis 
in this area is a common feature in children requiring repeat social work interventions and 
unplanned entries into care. These children would also benefit from wider family/friends 
support being explored at earlier stages, both in supporting the child to safely and 
sustainably remain in their current care arrangement and also to confirm suitable 
alternative carers within the family, should this be required.  A number of children moving 
into kinship care arrangements are doing so with temporary agreement whilst further 
assessment is completed. 

Permanence planning is not regularly embedded by the second statutory review.  
Furthermore, a sufficiency of suitable homes to live in for children in our care and those 
leaving our care remains a key challenge for the service.  Some children in stable long-
term placements wait too long to be matched.  

Efforts to improve the quality-of-life story work for children in care have borne fruit but not 
for all children and young people, and more improvement is needed.  Ofsted again 
helpfully differentiated between better quality life-story work with younger children in care 
than for those in care for many years.  Furthermore, the quality of later-life letters does 
not provide a sensitive, accessible and meaningful account for these children.

The quality of work to support the reunification of children and young people with their 
families is improving but more remains needed to fully assess the situation (including the 
use of the NSPCC risk tool).  When children are being considered by the court, the quality 
of reunification work is generally better.  Plans to support children at home need to use 
language and outcomes specific to the child/young person.  Recording of relevant 
documentation (e.g., parenting assessments or legal meetings) is too often missing 
making it difficult to follow decision making.  

The experiences and progress of children in need of help and protection 

For children subject to assessment, practice rated as good or better has increased (from 35% 
to 43%), returning to levels seen in Q1 and Q2 20-21, but it remains below our target (50%). 
Practice rated as inadequate has reduced (from 24% to 14%) but remains above our new 
target (9%).   Practice at the lower end of the RI judgment is increasing for the 2nd consecutive 
quarter.

For children in need of help, practice rated as good or better has increased (from 23% to 
41%), having been reducing over the previous two quarters, but remains below our target 
(50%).  There was no inadequate practice identified for these children in Q4 21-22, reducing 
from 17% in the previous quarter.  Practice at the lower end of the RI judgment, however, 
has increased meaning there has been little change in overall levels of weaker practice.

For children in need of protection, the effectiveness of practice is improving somewhat.  
Practice rated as good or better has increased slightly (from 17% to 23%) but remains well 
below both our new target (50%).  Practice rated as inadequate has reduced (from 37% to 
18%) but remains above our target (9%).  The level of practice at the lower end of the RI 
judgement has remained relatively stable, meaning an overall reduction in weaker practice. 
Whilst these improvements are encouraging, the inherent vulnerability of this group of 
children and the notable rise in numbers of children on CP plans, means that this weaker 
practice requires continued attention.

For children with disabilities, no practice has been identified through audit as inadequate over 
the last 3 quarters.  Practice rated as good or better has increased (from 33% to 60%),  which 
exceeds our target (50%).  The level of practice, in this service area, at the lower end of the 
RI judgement has also reduced.  Overall, the service is much improved from its position at 
the beginning of 2021. 

Page 93



6

The experiences and progress of children in care and care leavers 

For our children in care, practice rated as good or better has reduced for the 2nd consecutive 
quarter (from 46% to 43%); thereby falling below our target (50%). Practice rated as 
inadequate has also reduced though (from 14% to 7%), having been increasing over the 
previous two quarters.  This now meets our new target (9%).  Practice at the lower end of the 
RI judgment has reduced.

For our Care Leavers, practice rated as good or better remains stable at 50% which is a 
substantial improvement on the 9% seen in Q2 21/22.  This maintains our new target (50%).   
No inadequate practice has been identified for our Care Leavers in Q4 21/22, reducing from 
8% in Q3 21/22.  The level of practice at the lower end of the RI judgement has also reduced.  
While these ratings are positive, too many care leavers do not have a Personal Advisor (PA) 
allocated in a timely way.  Some pathway plans need to be updated when the young person’s 
circumstances change.  

2.2     The impact of leaders on social work practice with children and families 

Taken together, our performance and quality assurance practices provide senior leadership 
with an appreciation of the strengths and areas for development across the system.  These 
occupy positions of prominence in strategic reporting and planning forums and contribute to 
coherent improvement activity.  

Organisational leadership has mobilised to respond to the identified contextual pressures and 
the downturn in the quality of practice in quarter 3.  Leaders remain committed to providing 
good and outstanding services and our recent Ofsted judgement reflects this.  

Key pressure points for the service remain as have been highlighted in previous QA reports, 
including: 

a) Retention of staff, particularly experienced, high performing workers and managers.

b) The need for a stable and reliable ICT environment to operate in from offices and 
remotely.

c) High and rising numbers of children and young people needing support from the service.

d) The availability of suitable homes and families for children and young people to be 
matched to.  

Attention to the above will be needed in the post-Ofsted planning to ensure that progress is 
sustained, and relapse avoided.  

The quality of supervision and oversight (by managers, IROs and CP chairs) is improved, but  
is not yet consistently good and so more remains needed in this respect.  As can be seen in 
section 3.3 below, most social work teams exhibit inconsistencies in the quality of their work.  
Considerable focus is needed to support the managers of these teams to deliver more reliably 
good services.

2.3      QA Methodology
  

There is a well-established system of case file audits and dip samples that supports the 
department’s self-evaluation. Completed (moderated) audits continue to be largely accurate 
in evaluating children’s experiences and the quality of practice. 

As has been noted for some time, audit consistency would be improved by some auditors 
focussing on their conceptualisation of available evidence and better articulating impact for 
children and young people.  The pairing of auditors and moderators has been favourably 

Page 94



7

received and, along with relevant notifications to Heads of Service about auditor 
development, offers further support in this regard.  

As highlighted in this and previous reports, the objectivity of audit can potentially be 
compromised by the practice of auditors auditing their own work.  Auditors have reported that 
they value auditing work in their areas of responsibility, but the anticipated ownership of 
consequent actions, learning and improvement has yet to follow, as highlighted by the 
regulator. This understanding is informing a current refresh of our Quality Assurance 
Framework.
 

3.0      How are we doing?

3.1 Children’s Social Care core audit activity 

The audit methodology reviews the overall quality of practice, implicit to which is an analysis 
of the impact of that practice for the child/young person. Better ratings should therefore be 
directly correlated to better outcomes for children.  

Patterns of audit ratings are reflected below, by quarter over the last 15 months

Figure 1

1 3 1 0 1

44 41
37

31
36

46 45 52

49

54

9 11 10
20

8

Q4 20/21 Q1 21/22 Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Outstanding % Good % RI % Inadequate %

Audit Ratings by Quarter (%)

As can be seen in Figure 1, levels of practice rated good or better have been steadily 
reducing over the last 12 months, from 45% in Q4 20/21 to 31% in Q3 21/22.  The increase 
seen in Q4 21/22 (up to 36%) should be noted with some cautious optimism, as the reduced 
number of audits undertaken affects representability.  Further improvement is needed to 
achieve our new target of 50% practice being rated good or better.

The stabilising of inadequate practice around 10% from Q4 20/21 to Q2 21/22 was not 
sustained in Q3 21/22, doubling to 20%.  The return of this measure to 8% in Q4 21/22 is 
cause for cautious optimism.  

Page 95



8

The QA team reviews audits to attend to practice at the lower end of the RI rating and this 
provides an important indicator of trajectory and a focus for targeted improvement activity.  In 
the past 6 months an increase in lower RI has preceded an increase in inadequate practice. 
In the last 3 auditing months, the proportion of this lower RI practice has been increasing. 

3.2     Audit Ratings by legal status

Patterns of audit ratings by child’s legal status are reflected below in Figures 2 - 7, comparing 
audit ratings for each legal status, by quarter, over the last 15 months.

Figure 2 

0 0 0 0 0

41 42 41 35
43

47 42 46
41

43

12 16 13
24

14

Q4 20/21 Q1 21/22 Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 (to date)
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Outstanding Good RI Inadequate

Children subject to Assessment (%)

The profile in Figure 2 reflects, for children subject to assessment, practice rated as good or 
better has increased (from 35% to 43%), returning to levels seen in Q1 and Q2 20-21, but it 
remains below our target (50%). Practice rated as inadequate has reduced (from 24% to 
14%) but remains above our new target (9%).   Practice at the lower end of the RI judgment 
is increasing for the 2nd consecutive quarter.

Figure 3 

0 6 0 0 5

44 40
38

23
36

49 47 57

60

59

7 7 5
17

0

Q4 20/21 Q1 21/22 Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 (to date)
0

20

40

60

80

100

Outstanding Good RI Inadequate

Children subject to Child in Need Plans (%)

Page 96



9

The profile in Figure 3 reflects, for children in need of help, practice rated as good or better 
has increased (from 23% to 41%), having been reducing over the previous two quarters, but 
remains below our target (50%).  There was no inadequate practice identified for these 
children in Q4 21-22, reducing from 17% in the previous quarter.  Practice at the lower end 
of the RI judgment, however, has increased meaning there has been little change in overall 
levels of weaker practice.

Figure 4 

4 3 0 0 0

33 33 35
17 23

46 50 50

46
59

17 14 15
37

18

Q4 20/21 Q1 21/22 Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 (to date)
0

20

40

60

80

100

Outstanding Good RI Inadequate

Children subject to Child Protection Plans (%)

The profile in Figure 4 reflects, for children in need of protection, the effectiveness of practice 
is improving somewhat.  Practice rated as good or better has increased slightly (from 17% to 
23%) but remains well below both our new target (50%).  Practice rated as inadequate has 
reduced (from 37% to 18%) but remains above our target (9%).  The level of practice at the 
lower end of the RI judgement has remained relatively stable, meaning an overall reduction 
in weaker practice. Whilst these improvements are encouraging, the inherent vulnerability of 
this group of children and the notable rise in numbers of children on CP plans, means that 
this weaker practice requires continued attention.

Figure 5

0 0 0 0 0

42 38
25 33

60

58
54 75 67

40

0 8 0 0 0

Q4 20/21 Q1 21/22 Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 (to date)
0

10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

Outstanding Good RI Inadequate

Children with Disabilities (%)

The profile in Figure 5 reflects, for children with disabilities, no practice has been identified 
through audit as inadequate over the last 3 quarters.  Practice rated as good or better has 
increased (from 33% to 60%), which exceeds our target (50%).  The level of practice, in this 
service area, at the lower end of the RI judgement has also reduced.  Overall, the service is 
much improved from its position at the beginning of 2021. 

Page 97



10

Figure 6

0 4 6 0 0

50 46
52

46 43

50 42 27
39 50

0 8 15 14 7

Q4 20/21 Q1 21/22 Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 (to date)
0

20

40

60

80

100

Outstanding Good RI Inadequate

Children in our Care (%)

The profile in Figure 6 reflects, for our children in care, practice rated as good or better has 
reduced for the 2nd consecutive quarter (from 46% to 43%); thereby falling below our target 
(50%). Practice rated as inadequate has also reduced though (from 14% to 7%), having been 
increasing over the previous two quarters.  This now meets our new target (9%).  Practice at 
the lower end of the RI judgment has reduced.

Figure 7

0 0 0 0 0

55 50

9

50 50

18 33

91

42 50
27

17
0 8 0

Q4 20/21 Q1 21/22 Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 (to date)
0

20

40

60

80

100

Outstanding Good RI Inadequate

Young People leaving Care (%)

The profile in Figure 7 reflects, for our Care Leavers, practice rated as good or better remains 
stable at 50% which is a substantial improvement on the 9% seen in Q2 21/22.  This 
maintains our new target (50%).   No inadequate practice has been identified for our Care 
Leavers in Q4 21/22, reducing from 8% in Q3 21/22.  The level of practice at the lower end 
of the RI judgement has also reduced.   

3.3     Audit Ratings by team

Six teams (14% of all teams in scope) have met or exceeded the targets for Good (50%) and 
Inadequate (9%) practice in the last 6 months.  A further 6 teams (14%) are showing variance 
in practice in the last 6 months.  Whilst meeting the old or new targets (40% and 50% 
respectively) for practice rated as Good, there are also indications of weaker practice not 

Page 98



11

meeting target.  Four teams (10%) have no practice rated as inadequate but they have not 
met the old or new targets for (40% and 50% respectively) for practice rated as Good.  

Apart from those teams noted above, the remaining 26 teams (62%) have, in the last 6 
months, had 40% or more of their audited practice evaluated as weaker (combined 
Inadequate and low RI).  

32 teams (74% of all teams in scope) are displaying a rating of 40% or more of practice rated 
as ‘weaker’; these would benefit from further enquiries by operational leads.  

3.4   Audit Ratings by Area of Practice

Patterns of audit ratings by area of practice over the last 15 months are reflected below in 
Figures 9-14, .  

Figure 9

2 4 1 2 1

46
50

46
35 38

45 38 47
49

54

8 8 6
14 7

Q4 20/21 Q1 21/22 Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 (to date)
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Outstanding Good RI Inadequate

Risk Assessment and Response (%)

Figure 10

2 3 1 0 0

40 43 40
34 38

54 48 52
57 55

4 5 8 9 7

Q4 20/21 Q1 21/22 Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 (to date)
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Outstanding Good RI Inadequate

Assessments (%)

Page 99



12

Figure 11

1 1 1 0 1

42 36 41
32 30

51
55 49

55 62

6 8 8 13 7

Q4 20/21 Q1 21/22 Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 (to date)
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Outstanding Good RI Inadequate

Planning and Review (%)

Figure 12

2 5 3 1 1

44 43
40

31
39

47 45 52

56
53

7 7 5
12 7

Q4 20/21 Q1 21/22 Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 (to date)
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Outstanding Good RI Inadequate

Relational Intervention and Review (%)

Page 100



13

Figure 13

3 3 1 1 1

49 50 49
41 39

42 44 44
48 54

6 3 6 9 5

Q4 20/21 Q1 21/22 Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 (to date)
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Outstanding Good RI Inadequate

Permanence (%)

Figure 14

1 1 1 0 1

45 50
35 32 38

45 41
58

57
55

9 8 7 11 5

Q4 20/21 Q1 21/22 Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 (to date)
0

10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

Outstanding Good RI Inadequate

Oversight (%)

The profiles in Figures 9-14 suggests that:

a) In the last quarter, levels of practice rated good or better have increased all areas other than 
Permanence and Planning, where levels have remained stable. The greatest improvements 
have been seen in Oversight (from 32% to 39%) and in Relational Intervention and Review 
(from 32% to 40%). 

b) Our current target of 50% practice being rated good or better has yet to be reached in any 
area of practice.

c) In the last quarter, levels of inadequate practice have reduced across all areas with the 
greatest reductions being seen in Risk Assessment & Response (from 14% to 7%), Planning 
(from 13% to 7%) and Oversight (from 11% to 5%). Our target of 9% or less inadequate 
practice has been achieved across all areas of practice.

Page 101



14

3.5 Findings from children, young people and families’ feedback in audit

In the last quarter, 49% of children and young people (aged 4+) and 62% of parents or carers 
were spoken to as part of the audit.  This is an improvement on the 34% and 58% spoken to 
in Q3 21/22.  62% of children and young people rated their service positively, 12% identified 
clear areas for improvement and 27% identified both strengths and areas for development.  
39% of parents/carers rated the service positively, 11% identified clear areas for improvement 
and 50 % identified both strengths and areas for development.  

3.6     GCC Vulnerable children and young people’s Ambassadors’ audit review

GCC Ambassadors are key contributors to the QA framework through their monthly 
independent review of a sample of audits.  The particular emphasis is on practice that is 
participative and relational.  Whilst Ambassadors are GCC employees, sampled work is still 
carefully selected to avoid conflicts of interest and ensure information is protected as needed.  

Ambassadors look for evidence of the voice of the child and their relationship with the social 
worker.  They look for clear evidence that the worker knows the child/young person and 
presents a picture of who that child is: including their needs, views, wishes and feelings.  They 
are also reviewing whether work has been recorded in a way that the child / young person 
could understand should they decide to access their records in the future.

The Ambassadors review 10 audits each month, the key findings this month were:

a) There were 3 examples (30%) of a reasonable or good relationship between worker and 
child/young person, a sustained reduction from the 70% in December 2021.  

b) There were 6 (60%) case summaries with a good focus on, and representation of, the 
child with accessible language.  This is much improved on the decreased rates pre-
Christmas 2021.

c) Five (50%) of the practice examples drew through the views of the child and 
demonstrated direct work to varying degrees.  This is an improvement on the 40% in the 
previous month and returns to the 50% in December.  There still appear to be missed 
opportunities to propose the use of Mind of My Own with children and young people.    

d) Three (30%) offered information about the child, their likes, dislikes, interests and 
achievements – this maintains a reducing trajectory on previous months.   

e) Seven (70%) used appropriate language (including Language that Cares) and the 
decision-making could be followed.  This improves on previous months and returns to the 
70% reported in December.  

Some of the comments from the Ambassadors in recent months about practice strengths 
include:

- Case summary is updated and clear, written to the child and explains why social care 
are working with them. Liquid Logic is very honest, description of young person and 
aspirations.

- Case summary is clear and written to the child. Explains why Social Care is working with 
them. Describes the young person as very friendly, talkative, and insightful in their 
experiences.

- Views of the young person was heard throughout the single assessment. Views in visits.

Page 102



15

- Views from the young person are stated very clearly. There is evidence of the young 
person’s views from visits. Direct work is in documents, case notes and in assessments, 
Allows a clear view of their wishes and feelings. 

- Reasons behind decisions are clear and explained simply. Language is child friendly. No 
acronyms and no labels.

3.7      Cases of Concern

The service to a child or young person is raised as a Case of Concern when, through audit, 
inadequate practice is identified. It has now been agreed that Heads of Service are best 
placed to maintain oversight of Cases of Concerns until these have been resolved, with the 
resolution of concerns being determined on the basis of: 

 We are assured that the child/young person is safe;
 We are assured that an appropriate plan has been established to address the 

concerns for the child/young person, which are being progressed with appropriate 
grip/oversight.

In March, Heads of Service were made aware of 3 Cases of Concern. Including Cases of 
Concern from previous months, there are currently 49 children or young people being tracked 
by the QA team, until the areas of concern are resolved.  Two Cases of Concern date back 
to January 2021.  

Heads of Service are asked to update the QA Team monthly whether concerns are now 
resolved, or where they will be undertaking further review.  In March, Head of Service updates 
were provided for 3 cases of concern; where 1 found that concerns were resolved and 2 
continue to be subject to Head of Service oversight.

3.8   Fostering audit activity

The auditing of in-house foster carers’ files is a now well-established routine with monthly 
moderated audits undertaken by staff within the service.   

Audits in fostering were suspended in March for post-Ofsted consolidation.

3.9 Families First and Youth Support audit activity  

Of the 5 audits completed in Early Help, 3 (60%) were rated as good, and 2 (40%) were rated 
as requires improvement.  

These audits identified that improvement is needed in the quality of analysis, and application 
of timescales within supervision/management oversight to inform timely ongoing 
interventions.  It was also noted that forward planning at the point of closure needs to improve, 
as does the clear mitigation of identified risks.  

Practice strength was identified in inclusive practice with children and families in meetings, 
timeliness of assessments and visits, and multi-agency working.  The quality of direct work 
is improving as a result of developing relational practice.  

Practice development remains a standing item in management meetings, and this learning is 
in turn cascaded through team meetings, and through supervision to individual supports.

Of the 5 audits completed in Youth Support, 4 of the 5 (80%) rated practice as Good, and 1 
(20%) rated practice as Requires Improvement to be Good.   

Page 103



16

The audits maintain the practice strength of engagement with young people, and the need 
for persistence in this is highlighted.

The benefit of the integrated nature of the Youth Support Team offered good use of other 
specialist practitioners within the YST to gain engagement and build confidence.  A noted 
feature of the audits is the trauma experienced by young people being supported by the 
service, and how this impacts on their behaviours and needs.  

Improvement is noted in sustaining continuity from previous assessments and historical 
information.  

Youth Support continues to invest in improving its approach to QA, and applying the learning 
from this through team meetings, leadership meetings and practice forums.

4.0     How do we know this?

4.1 Children’s’ Social Care Audit methodology

There is a basic expectation that every Advanced Practitioner, Team Manager and Senior 
Manager undertakes an audit each month; one director electively audits. ‘Standing 
exemptions’ to audit apply to those that are moderating the audits of their colleagues, those 
working 0.5fte or less (who audit alternate months), those on extended absences, and those 
in the MASH, who undertake MASH QA activity on alternate months.  All other exemptions 
require sign-off from the respective Director. 

4.1.1 Audit Accuracy

As the most fundamental element of QA, the accuracy and validity of audit activity requires 
ongoing monitoring.  Within the GCC audit methodology, accuracy should be arrived at 
through discourse, debate, and collaboration which run throughout good social work.  The 
contributions of each participant (including the child/young person, family, and IRO/CP chair) 
are all valued and shaped into a completed audit.  In this, the moderator acts on behalf of the 
DCS as arbiter of the overall evaluation.  

As of February 2021, auditors have been matched with specific moderators with the aim of 
providing more consistent developmental feedback and greater opportunity for discussions 
that incorporate different perspectives. After 6 months together in pairs we change these 
pairings to allow for auditors and moderators to benefit from different perspectives in their 
approach to QA and avoid group-think.  

With this in mind, Table 1 (below) indicates the ‘moderator effect’ on the ratings of audit. In 
pursuit of congruence in our evaluations of practice we expect the moderators to have a 10-
15% effect on ratings.  Where auditors are working more subjectively in their own teams this 
effect is expected to be greater.

This is not necessarily an indication that auditors do not recognise good or inadequate 
practice.  Whilst this may be the case for a minority of auditors, this is more likely to indicate 
a bias to editorialise, be overly optimistic about practice that is ‘closer to home’ or 
demonstrate the dissonance between known versus recorded practice.  Nevertheless, this 
holds relevance for quality control in day-to-day practice.  For this reason, the Academy is 
tracking those auditors most likely to require support and working with Heads of Service to 
support their development.  

In terms of the subjectivity that arises from auditing work within one’s own team, this will be 
considered within the refresh of the QA framework. In the interim, we will continue to rely on 
moderators’ objectivity in counteracting the potential for bias.  

Page 104



17

Table 1

Percentage 
upgraded by 
moderators

Percentage 
downgraded by 

moderators

Percentage Inadequate 
downgraded by 

moderator
September 21 0 20 67
October 21 2 25 58
November 21 0 20 71
December 21 0 29 57
February 22 3 33 67

  March 22 5 18 100

In March, there was a decrease in the downgrading of audits (from 33% to 18%). For 
inadequate practice, 100% were identified through moderation, which is an increase on the 
67% in February. This continues to be a greater than expected moderator effect and too 
many audits remain reliant upon moderation for inadequate practice to be identified.

External review of our audits (including feedback from the inspectorate and experienced 
consultants) is that the contribution of our moderators and a strong moderator effect upholds 
the rigour and reliability of our audits.   

An additional element of QA governance is the contribution by external critical friend Steve 
Hart to reviewing the quality of auditing.  Steve’s review of 7 completed audits from March 
found the following themes that coincide with previous findings: 

a) Steve repeatedly references the impact of the moderator on the quality of audit.  There 
continue to be examples where the auditor and moderator combine well to effectively 
evaluate the quality of practice for the child/young person.   

b) The understanding of impact in practice, and through audit, remains variable and needs 
improvement to be consistently good.  Aligned with this are weaknesses for some auditors 
in their conceptual understanding (particularly of risk and need).  

c) In two examples of audit, Steve identified commendable relational work by the social 
worker with the respective families.  

The QA team have raised the points about impact and conceptualisation with moderators, 
who are working with auditors where the above issues are identified.  Steve’s feedback is 
also shared directly with auditors and moderators for the benefit of their learning.  The QA 
team will further work with the respective Heads of Service when enduring issues are 
identified.  Additionally, these points need to be addressed within the forthcoming refresh of 
the QA framework.

4.1.2 Representation

A sufficient, regular and distributed volume of audit activity is required to provide the Authority 
with a good understanding of its quality of practice in support of the necessary oversight.  The 
baseline for this is set at 45 audits per month though Gloucestershire has an ambitious stretch 
target of 86 audits per month (i.e., 2 audits per team per month).  

Having said this, we are deliberately seeking a diverse range of proportionate quality 
assurance activities so that we are not solely reliant on the findings from core audits to inform 
our self-evaluation.  

Page 105



18

In March, 44 audits were completed, which is just outside of the baseline of 45 audits.  This 
follows a series of months where lower audit numbers were completed and will support 
increasing representation if sustained in subsequent months. 

In March, there was a pool of 112 staff, trained in the audit methodology.  86 of these function 
as auditors, and 26 as moderators.  Two moderators are currently involved in supporting new 
moderators, rather than providing moderation.  Four moderators either moderate bi-monthly 
or at a reduced level each month, two moderators are currently exempt due to absence from 
work, three moderators were involved in alternative auditing activity, and another four were 
not available to moderate due to absence from work.  On this basis, there was capacity to 
moderate 37 audits in March.  

As it takes more time to identify and develop moderators, the current auditor-moderator ratio 
means that there are more auditors than available moderator capacity. To address this, we 
have been purchasing additional external moderator capacity and this will continue to be the 
case as the completion rate and auditor numbers grow. This move also offers external 
objectivity, support and challenge which continue to be welcomed. 

Of the 86 auditors, there are 7 who are currently exempt from audit due to their absence from 
work or being involved in other improvement activity. This means that there are 79 auditors 
available for monthly auditing.  Of the 79 available trained auditors, 13 did not audit in March, 
due to being bi-monthly auditors and 3 auditors were given an exemption by the Director of 
Children’s Safeguarding prior to allocation. This meant that 63 children were allocated for 
audit from across all teams in Children’s Social Care. Exemptions from audit require 
authorisation from the respective director, and nil returns are expected to be followed up by 
Heads of Service.  

Following allocation of audit, a further 5 single month exemptions were given by the Director 
of Children’s Safeguarding and 12 audits were not submitted. This resulted in 46 audits being 
completed.  Of the available auditors, in March, we therefore had a completion rate of 70%, 
which is an increase on the 54% in February but remains below the 90% target. 

There were 2 audits in March that did not meet the standard for uploading, resulting in 44 
completed audits. This means that 67% of the assigned audits contributed towards a 
representative profile. The 44 audits completed to expected standards is below the ultimate 
target of 86 audits per month, but only just below the baseline of 45 audits

Table 2

Apr. 
21

May. 
21

June. 
21

July. 
21

Aug. 
21

Sept. 
21

Oct. 
21

Nov. 
21

Dec. 
21

Feb. 
22

Mar. 
22

Ave

No. audits 
completed

39 49 51 51 49 46 51 44 35 30 44 44

In the last 12 months we have completed on average 44 audits per month.  As a proportion 
of the 4500 children open to Children’s Social Care in February 2022, this 12-month total 
(533) represents 12% of the service’s activity.  Were we meeting our target of 86 audits per 
month (2 audits per team per month) this would offer representation of 23%.

Although an audit is allocated to every team, the single month exemptions, nil returns and 
audits not yet ready for submission means that 5 teams (12%) have not been audited in 
March.  In the last three auditing months (excluding January), all teams have had at least one 
audit completed.  There are 4 teams where one audit was completed and 16 teams where 
two audits have been completed.

Page 106



19

4.1.3 Participative Auditing

The audit methodology is intended to be delivered as a collaborative exercise with social 
workers.  Without this collaboration the accuracy of audits is diminished, as is the opportunity 
for learning and ownership of any subsequent recommendations. 

In the last quarter, 74 audits have been completed. 97% of audits included the social worker 
and 96% included the Team Manager.  Where an IRO or CP Chair was working with these 
children/young people, they were included in 100% of audits.  Where CP Chairs and IRO’s 
are completing audits, they are now allocated children or young that they already have 
responsibility for.  This is in keeping with the statutory monitoring expectation of these staff; 
and for these children, this will provide a greater opportunity for learning discussions to take 
place between the operational team and the reviewing service.

In the last quarter, 49% of children and young people (aged 4+) and 62% of parents or carers 
were spoken to as part of the audit.  This is an improvement on the 34% and 58% spoken to 
in Q3 21/22.  Whilst these increases are positive for individual children and families, there 
remain several audits where the voice of children, young people and families have not 
contributed as needed. Continued rigour is therefore required from both auditors and 
moderators to make best use of all possible contributions.  This can be strengthened by 
improved planning by auditors at the point of audit allocation.   

In the last quarter, where views have not been obtained, analysis of this feedback highlights 
that:

a) 2 (4%) were a child with disabilities which meant they were not able to provide verbal 
feedback

b) 9 (18%) were deemed inappropriate to gather views by the auditor.  For a number of 
these, there was not consultation about this with the social worker (as expected).

c) In 36 (73%) the child/young person or the parent/carer was unreachable, but for a number 
it was not evident that persistent attempts had been made, as expected

d) For 2 (4%) the opportunity to gain feedback was declined by the child or parent/carer

4.1.4 Impact from Audit

The primary purpose of our QA is to ensure that its findings drive effective and timely 
improvements for children and young people, and secondly to drive organisational self-
awareness, learning and change.  

Audit actions are separated into Care Planning and non-Care Planning actions, with the 
expectation that Care Planning actions are transferred directly into the child’s plan and 
reviewed at each plan update, until the identified outcomes are achieved for the child. The 
following collaborative process has been agreed:

 Children in Need/ DCYPS Early Help: audit actions will be discussed at the next Child 
in Need review/ TAF meeting and transposed into the care plan.  This should allow for 
the child/young person and family to be included.  If they are not attending the review, 
then this needs to be discussed with them beforehand.

 Child Protection: the actions will be discussed at the next core group or child protection 
conference – whichever comes first – and transposed into the CP plan.  This should 
allow for the child/young person and family to be included.  If they are not at the core 
group/conference, then this needs to be discussed with them beforehand. If the core 
group precedes the conference, then the CP chair needs to be made aware of the audit 
actions relative to care planning, so that their oversight is maintained.

Page 107



20

 Children in Care: the actions will be discussed with the child/young person by the social 
worker and then with the IRO.  As outcome focussed actions are likely to constitute a 
change to the care plan, a Child in Care review should be held to consider the proposed 
action and then included in an updated CLA plan

 Care Leavers: the actions from the audit will be discussed with the young person by the 
social worker and their Pathway Plan updated with them at this point.

Team managers are expected to record on the child’s file when care plan actions have been 
transferred to the child’s plan and whether the child, family and IRO/CP Chair have been 
appropriately involved.  They are also expected to maintain oversight of non-care planning 
actions to ensure timely completion.  The QA team maintains an action tracker, which notes 
updates from Team Managers regarding their oversight of both Care Planning and Non-Care 
Planning Actions.

Over the last three auditing months (December -March), there have been 109 audits 
completed, of which 80 have contained Care Planning Actions.  Of these Care Planning 
Actions:

a) 7 (9%) have been transferred to the child’s plan on time. 

b) 6 (8%) have been transferred to the child’s plan late.

c) 23 (29%) where the Team Manager has yet to provide an update.

d) 10 (13%) where the care plan update is not yet due

e) 34 (43%) have not yet been transferred to the child’s plan. 37 of these relate to March 
audits and so it is likely that a review has not yet taken place.

In addition to this, there are 94 audits completed prior to December 2021, where the actions 
have not yet been transferred to the child’s plan or the team manager has not provided an 
update on their progress. These audits date back to March 2020.  There are also 7 audits, 
where the social work service was ended prior to actions being completed.  Where actions 
have not been transferred to the child’s plan in a timely way, this could reflect a missed 
opportunity for learning from the audit to make a meaningful difference to the child.

Over the last three months there have been 226 non-care planning actions agreed from audit, 
of which:

a) 73 (27%) have been completed on time.

b) 46 (17%) have been completed late. 

c) 35 (13%) are overdue. 

d) 4 (2%) are not yet due to be completed
 

e) 1 child’s social work service has ended before audit actions have been completed.

f) 107 refer to March audits (23%) where the Team Manager has yet to provide an update

In addition to this, there are 85 non-care planning actions, from audits prior to December 
2021, which are overdue being completed or the team manager has not provided an update. 
There are a further 6 audits where the social work service was ended prior to actions being 
completed.  

Compared with the February QAF report, the timeliness of audit action completion has 
declined (from 27% to 24% being completed on time). There also continue to be several 
historic audit actions which have not yet been achieved, which are therefore unlikely to make 

Page 108



21

a meaningful difference to the child’s situation. Responsiveness to audit for individual children 
requires ongoing attention and for this reason a proposal for QA surgeries has now been 
agreed starting in March 2022.

Whilst it is important that these outstanding audit actions are progressed, it is also noted that, 
in the last six months, there are 73 children and young people whose care plan has been 
amended to reflect learning from audit.  In addition to this, 385 actions have been completed 
for children and young people, because of learning from audit. This is likely to represent 
positive difference for each of these children and young people.

While impact for individual children following audit continues to require improvement, audit 
remains influential in the following areas:

 Core audits are consistently employed in the evaluation and support offered in the GCC 
ASYE programme. These can be linked to learning opportunities and practice 
improvements.

 Audits are being used by individual practitioners and teams to reflect and learn about 
practice improvement.

 There are clear changes in direction for practice and improved outcomes for some 
children because of audit; and this is most markedly the case for Children of Concern 
immediately following audit.

 The findings from audit and other forms of QA activity continue to shape the 
organisation’s learning and improvement activity.  A key example of this is the 
development and implementation of the Essentials 2.0 programme, the leadership and 
management programme, the Practice fundamentals, and the Essentials 3.0 programme 
all came about as a direct result of audit findings.

4.2 QA governance

There are several forums where the QA report is considered, including the Children’s 
Services Improvement Board, the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
the Children’s Senior Leadership Team, and Children’s Services Improvement Executive 
meetings.  The monthly Strategic Performance and Quality Meeting also allow QA findings 
to be triangulated against improvement activity and performance and feed into the refresh.  
A monthly meeting also takes place between the Director (Safeguarding and Care) and the 
Head of Quality to review the QA findings and further inform understanding and planning.  

There is now considerable alignment between performance and QA reporting and the 
response by leadership through ongoing development of the AIP which is the key mechanism 
for driving change.  The outcome of the recent Ofsted inspection has highlighted the need to 
further develop our QA arrangements in support of the journey from ‘requires improvement’ 
to ‘good’.

5.0 Conclusions & Recommendations

This report highlights a degree of improvement in the quality of practice sampled over the 
January-March period.  This improvement needs to be considered in the light of the reduced 
sample size and anticipated variability in our monthly reporting.  As such, whilst informative 
and broadly positive, these findings are not definitive.  

The findings within this report are likely to be most helpful/insightful when considered in the 
context of the verbal and written feedback from the recent Ofsted inspection.   As with the 
previous QA report, the sole recommendation of this report is that its principal findings are 
brought together with the Ofsted feedback (received during the inspection and in the finalised 

Page 109



22

report) to inform future improvement planning and further development of our quality 
assurance framework.  

It is encouraging to note that the findings within this report align well with the verbal feedback 
from the regulator during the inspection, as such the synthesis of the two should be relatively 
harmonious.  

Page 110



1. Purpose

To provide the forecast outturn figures for the 2021/22 revenue budgets.

The structure of the report reflects the commissioning view of children and families services. 
Services are grouped by Service Areas with DSG (Dedicated Schools Grant) and non-DSG 
variances identified. 

DSG is the grant allocated by the Department for Education to fund all education services 
including schools and the total for Gloucestershire is over £524 million. Of this total, £413 
million is delegated to schools and academies with the remainder relating to early years, high 
needs and a small number of central support services which are the responsibility of the Local 
Authority. High needs includes the funding for special schools, pupil referral service, additional 
SEN support for pupils in mainstream schools and post 16 support to colleges.

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 Overall Position

The current forecast for the year end revenue position as at February 2022 for non-DSG 
funded services is an over-spend of £19.147 million (15.19% of budget). Included within these 
figures is the forecast additional cost of the impact of Covid-19 on budgets which totals 
£10.482 million giving an underlying over-spend of £8.665 million. The significant over-spend 
continues to be against the external placements budget due to increasing numbers of children 
in care partly linked to the pandemic but also the number and cost of placements. Social care 
staffing, disability services and home to school transport are also over-spending. 

Additional forecast expenditure for the impact of Covid-19 covers three key areas which are 
external placement costs including the additional cost of accommodation for care leavers, cost 
of social care staff and support to vulnerable pupils. A significant part of this forecast includes 
the continuing impact on social care and education services even though lockdown measures 
have eased. Covid-19 grants totalling £8 million are forecast to be spent including the Winter 
Grant, Local Support Grant, Holiday Activities Fund and Household Support Fund. 

Activity levels within social care continue to cause significant budgetary pressures on 
children’s services and in particular against external placements resulting in the over-spend. 
At the end of January 2022 children in care numbers were 836 compared to 754 at the end of 
April 2020. Gloucestershire’s number and rate of children in care is above statistical 
neighbours, but remains below the England average.

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded services are forecast to be over-spent by £19.967 
million in 2021/22, which includes the deficit carry forward of £13.67 million and the deficit 
budget for High Needs of £4.093 million including adjustments between Local Authorities. The 

Gloucestershire County Council

2021/22 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report
Children & Families Services

Net Budget Analysis
Forecast Outturn Position February 2022

 

Page 111

Agenda Item 10



deficit budget results from setting realistic budgets within high needs services considering 
growth trends and existing activity demands on special school and independent provision and 
top up budgets. High needs top-up budgets for colleges, special schools, primary and 
secondary schools are forecasting a £2.718 million overspend due to increased demand.

This position is analysed in the monitoring spreadsheet provided at attachment 1 to this report, 
based on actual expenditure to the end of January 2022 and forecasts input in February 2022. 

2.2 Variance Summary

The major variances for non-DSG, with summary explanations are:
 Children in Care – the current forecast over-spend against the external placement budget 

is £15.373 million (49.4% above budget) and includes a contingency of £450k for new 
cases in-year to allow for additional placements to replace existing care commitments or 
for higher number of placements due to increased activity. The forecast also includes the 
current and future impact of Covid-19 on placement numbers which totals £8.42 million 
resulting in an underlying over-spend of £6.953 million. The underlying over-spend is due 
to the number of residential, fostering and supported living placements and also the cost 
of complex residential placements. The current forecast average unit cost of a placement 
is £114,800 per annum, (residential/supported living average unit cost of £183,500). There 
are currently 474 external placements, of which 111 are residential and 139 supported 
living placements. 

 Safeguarding – against safeguarding staffing budgets there is a forecast over-spend of 
£963k (5.1% above budget) with an underlying position net of COVID of £517k. Effective 
management of the workforce, improved processes for recruitment, more effective 
advertising and the support and training provided by the social work academy should 
address the current cost pressure. Turnover of staff is rising and has been between 20.3% 
and 22.4% over the last six months and at the end of January there were 118 agency 
workers in post which is an increase on previous months. 

 Regulated Services - in-house fostering and adoption services are under-spent by £766k 
due to activity at the start of the year being below budgeted assumptions. 

 Commissioning for learning - Home to School transport is reported as £803k overspent 
and is due to the number and cost of the transport for SEN pupils, increased cost of 
procuring new routes and the number of solo journeys required. 

 Services for CYP with Additional Needs - services for children with disabilities are 
forecasting to over-spend by £1.445 million due to the increased cost of care packages, 
including s.76 contracts with Health, and disability service staffing costs. 

The major variances for DSG include:
 Schools – the deficit carry forward is £13.67 million and relates to the high needs block.
 Education Outcomes and Intervention – the deficit budget that was set for the high 

needs block totals £4.093 million and is included under this heading. The deficit budget 
results from setting realistic budgets within high needs services considering growth trends 
and existing activity demands on special school and independent provision and top up 
budgets. 

 High Needs Top-up Budgets – forecasting a £2.718 million overspend due to increased 
demand.

Gloucestershire’s high needs block, like most LAs nationally is in deficit. The increase in the 
allocated funding for 2022/23 of an additional £6.968 million and a further £2.989 million 
Supplementary Grant will be required to meet forecast demand pressures for additional 
special school places and support to mainstream schools. The LA and Schools Forum are 
looking at proposals on how to resolve this deficit, and initiatives to tackle need more 

Page 112



effectively and reduce costs in the long run. A financial recovery plan is being developed 
alongside this review.

2.3 Other Key Financial Information

To address this position the strategy is to bring the child in care population more in line with 
statistical neighbours over the coming years.  This will involve a range of measures, aimed to 
impact on both numbers and associated costs, including  

 further developing our edge of care offer to support children at home and to prevent 
their escalation and entry into care;

 increasing the number and proportion of children placed with in house foster care;
 continuing to develop our own placement provision with providers to exert a greater 

influence on the market and control costs;
 continuing to develop our permanence planning to reduce drift and delay and ensure 

children can leave our care in a timely manner by achieving permanence or 
reunification as appropriate.

3. Detailed Analysis
An analysis of the financial figures is contained in the following attachments:
 Attachment 1 – Net Budget (Forecast Outturn) Children & Families – SLA format
 Attachment 2 – Net Budget (Forecast Outturn) – High Risk Analysis
 Attachment 3 – Activity Analysis – External Placements
 Attachment 4 – Net Covid-19 Analysis

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank



Service Area Budget Manager Full Year 
Budget

Forecast 
Outturn

Services for CYP £000 £000 DSG   £000 Non DSG 
£000 Total £000 % DSG   £000 Non DSG 

£000 Total £000 Change 
£000

Education & Additional Needs Kirsten Harrison
Schools CF0201 -60,983 -44,278 16,477 228 16,705 -27.4% 14,910 385 15,295 1,410
Services for CYP with Additional Needs CF0202 25,737 26,348 273 338 611 2.4% 176 600 776 -165 
Disabled Children & Young People CF0209 4,195 5,640 0 1,445 1,445 34.4% 0 876 876 569
Education Outcomes and Intervention CF0203/04/05 5,390 8,638 3,280 -32 3,248 60.3% 3,521 25 3,546 -298 
Commissioning for Learning CF0206 15,528 16,125 -85 682 597 3.8% -62 409 347 250
Early Years Education CF0210 33,894 33,894 0 0 0 0.0% 0 -1 -1 1
Other Education Services CF02-0 655 615 -74 34 -40 -6.1% -79 128 49 -89 
Total Education & Additional Needs 24,416 46,982 19,871 2,695 22,566 92.4% 18,466 2,422 20,888 1,678

ok ok ok ok ok All ok ok ok ok
Children & Families Chris Spencer
Safeguarding CF0301 21,103 21,837 0 734 734 3.5% 0 1,285 1,285 -551 
Children in Care CF0302 33,626 48,845 0 15,219 15,219 45.3% 0 13,116 13,116 2,103
Regulated Services CF0303 19,965 19,199 0 -766 -766 -3.8% 0 -578 -578 -188 
Quality CF0305 2,324 2,402 0 78 78 3.4% 0 78 78 0
CF Management & Business Support CF0306 5,553 6,202 0 649 649 11.7% 0 425 425 224
Localities Coordination & Support CF0307 4,157 4,199 0 42 42 1.0% 0 46 46 -4 
Young People Services CF040201 4,206 4,097 0 -109 -109 -2.6% 0 128 128 -237 
Total Children & Families 90,934 106,781 0 15,847 15,847 17.4% 0 14,500 14,500 1,347

ok ok ok ok ok All ok ok ok ok
Commissioned Children's Services Wendy Williams
Young People Support CF0402 4,609 4,609 0 0 0 0.0% 0 0 0 0
Commissioning of Intervention Services CF0403 1,336 1,333 0 -3 -3 -0.2% 0 0 0 -3 
Health Contracts CF0405 704 704 0 0 0 0.0% 0 0 0 0
Commissioned Early Years Services CF0406 4,448 4,448 0 0 0 0.0% 0 -1 -1 1
Other Commissioned Children's Services 11,097 11,094 0 -3 -3 -0.0% 0 -1 -1 -2 

CF07 ok ok ok ok ok All ok ok ok ok
Commissioning Function Wendy Williams -463 242 96 609 705 75 406 481 224

Roundings 1 0 0 -1 -1 -1 1 0 -1 

Total 125,985 165,099 19,967 19,147 39,114 31.0% 18,540 17,328 35,868 3,246

Variance

2021/22 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report - ATTACHMENT 1
Children & Families Services

Net Budget Analysis
Year-End Forecast input in February 2022

October Forecast Variance

P
age 115



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Service Area Budget Manager
Full Year 

Budget

Forecast 

Outturn

High Risk Areas £000 £000 DSG £000
Non DSG 

£000

Total 

£000
% DSG £000

Non DSG 

£000

Total 

£000

Change 

£000

External Placements Wendy Williams 31,149 46,522 0 15,373 15,373 49.4% 0 13,192 13,192 2,181

Independent Special Schools Tracy Oosthuizen 16,969 17,085 116 0 116 0.7% 6 0 6 110

Fostering Tammy Wheatley 12,764 12,484 0 -280 -280 -2.2% 0 -160 -160 -120 

Adoption Tammy Wheatley 2,644 2,623 0 -21 -21 -0.8% 0 -22 -22 1

Special Guard & Res Orders Tammy Wheatley 4,557 4,092 0 -465 -465 -10.2% 0 -396 -396 -69 

Safeguarding Staff Chris Spencer 18,971 19,934 0 963 963 5.1% 0 1,319 1,319 -356 

Section 17 & Discretionary Payments Various 1,009 1,052 0 43 43 4.3% 0 0 0 43

Discretionary Payments 599 620 0 21 21 3.5% 0 -1 -1 22

Section 17 Payments 410 432 0 22 22 5.4% 0 1 1 21

High Needs Top-up Budgets Amanda Henderson 31,611 34,329 2,718 0 2,718 8.6% 1,399 0 1,399 1,319

Pensions Philip Haslett 3,577 3,547 0 -30 -30 -0.8% 0 0 0 -30 

Youth Support - Leaving Care / After Care Mark Bone 4,206 4,097 0 -109 -109 -2.6% 0 128 128 -237 

Staffing 3,216 3,250 0 34 34 1.1% 0 227 227 -193 

Payments 990 847 0 -143 -143 -14.4% 0 -99 -99 -44 

Transport Clare Medland 14,142 14,945 0 803 803 5.7% 0 502 502 301

Nursery Education Fees Sarah Hylton 33,614 33,614 0 0 0 0.0% 0 1 1 -1 

Roundings 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 175,213 194,324 2,834 16,277 19,111 10.9% 1,405 14,564 15,969 3,142

Variance

2021/22 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report - ATTACHMENT 2

Children & Families Services

High Risk Analysis

Year-End Forecast input in February 2022

October Forecast Variance

P
age 117



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Mth 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 Mth 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 Mth 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 Mth 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22

Apr 131 159 136 153 184 245 270 320 331 436 Apr 21 31 33 37 55 63 72 78 92 117 Apr 92 107 89 108 104 153 161 174 182 197 Apr 21 14 8 19 29 37 68 57 122

May 134 152 138 162 201 252 287 315 356 468 May 22 30 36 42 56 63 72 82 102 125 May 93 101 90 114 118 154 176 171 181 211 May 21 12 6 19 35 39 62 73 132

Jun 129 149 142 174 205 248 287 317 354 482 Jun 23 31 35 45 63 61 68 79 99 128 Jun 90 95 95 117 119 155 181 175 176 222 Jun 22 12 12 23 32 38 63 79 132

Jul 129 149 138 170 226 247 299 321 375 471 Jul 21 29 36 41 61 65 68 88 94 125 Jul 94 98 92 115 136 150 188 168 197 218 Jul 22 10 14 29 32 43 65 84 128

Aug 126 138 132 169 215 241 305 321 392 459 Aug 23 24 29 40 57 61 70 86 98 121 Aug 88 98 94 115 133 146 192 169 205 215 Aug 16 9 14 25 34 43 66 89 123

Sep 131 134 136 166 231 251 289 325 381 447 Sep 23 24 27 40 63 65 68 79 99 115 Sep 91 95 101 111 145 152 182 174 195 210 Sep 14 8 15 23 34 39 72 87 122

Oct 127 135 134 178 221 246 294 330 375 449 Oct 22 28 22 44 61 65 69 81 95 109 Oct 89 93 104 119 136 144 186 178 194 218 Oct 13 8 15 24 37 39 71 86 122

Nov 127 139 129 176 213 246 295 340 377 460 Nov 22 31 22 45 61 67 75 91 100 111 Nov 89 96 100 117 131 138 173 177 196 219 Nov 11 7 14 21 41 47 72 81 130

Dec 127 133 124 189 222 246 307 336 401 486 Dec 24 30 20 51 61 67 75 90 107 119 Dec 91 91 98 120 133 142 178 175 200 228 Dec 12 6 18 26 37 54 71 94 139

Jan 129 138 132 180 217 244 314 330 395 474 Jan 25 34 24 49 60 67 82 91 107 111 Jan 93 92 100 113 129 142 176 173 197 224 Jan 12 8 18 28 35 56 66 91 139

Feb 126 142 124 178 234 252 312 336 404 Feb 25 34 24 52 61 68 82 88 114 Feb 91 94 95 110 137 149 173 181 194 Feb 14 5 16 36 35 57 67 96

Mar 129 136 143 187 231 246 313 346 403 Mar 25 30 36 53 63 67 84 89 112 Mar 94 91 100 114 134 146 177 187 194 Mar 15 7 20 34 33 52 70 97

Average129 142 134 174 217 247 298 328 379 463 23 30 29 45 60 65 74 85 102 118 91 96 97 114 130 148 179 175 193 216 16 9 14 26 35 45 68 85 129

1. Youth Offending placements account for the difference between the number of residential and fostering placements and the total.

2. Activity includes unaccompanied asylum seekers

3. The numbers are based on placements in the database at the end of a month. Previous months figures are updated as information becomes available

4. Prior to 2011/12 supported living placements were included within the fostering figures

5. There were a significant number of placements which came in during March 2013 which were only identified from April 

Notes

2021/22 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report

Children & Young People’s Services

Activity Analysis - External Placements

Total Agency Placements Total Residential Agency Placements Total Fostering Agency Placements Supported Living Placements

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

A
p

r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

P
la

c
e
m

e
n

ts

Month

Total External Agency Placements

12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17

17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

A
p

r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

P
la

c
e
m

e
n

ts

Month

Agency Residential Placements

12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17

17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22

70

80

90

100

110

120

130

140

150

160

170

180

190

200

210

220

230

240

250

A
p

r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

P
la

c
e
m

e
n

ts

Month

Agency Fostering Placements

12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17

17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

A
p

r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

Supported Living Placements

13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18

18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22

P
age 119



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Service Area Budget Manager
February  

COVID

October 

COVID

February 

Net 

position

October Net 

position
Movement

Services for CYP
Non DSG 

£000
Non DSG £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Education & Additional Needs Kirsten Harrison

Schools CF0201 228 385 -157 259 385 -31 0 -31

Services for CYP with Additional Needs CF0202 338 600 -262 382 526 -44 74 -118

Disabled Children & Young People CF0209 1445 876 569 1,445 876 569

Education Outcomes and Intervention CF0203/04/05 -32 25 -57 -32 25 -57

Commissioning for Learning CF0206 682 409 273 62 54 620 355 265

Early Years Education CF0210 0 -1 1 0 -1 1

Other Education Services CF02-0 34 128 -94 111 162 -77 -34 -43

Total Education & Additional Needs 2,695 2,422 273 814 1,127 1,881 1,295 586

ok ok

Children & Families Chris Spencer

Safeguarding CF0301 734 1,285 -551 446 296 288 989 -701

Children in Care CF0302 15,219 13,116 2,103 8,420 7,062 6,799 6,054 745

Regulated Services CF0303 -766 -578 -188 -766 -578 -188

Quality CF0305 78 78 0 54 24 78 -54

CF Management & Business Support CF0306 649 425 224 653 443 -4 -18 14

Localities Coordination & Support CF0307 42 46 -4 42 46 -4

Young People Services CF040201 -109 128 -237 8 8 -117 120 -237

Total Children & Families 15,847 14,500 1,347 9,581 7,809 6,266 6,691 -425

ok ok

Commissioned Children's Services Wendy Williams

Young People Support CF0402 0 0 0 0 0 0

Commissioning of Intervention Services CF0403 -3 0 -3 -3 0 -3

Health Contracts CF0405 0 0 0 0 0 0

Commissioned Early Years Services CF0406 0 -1 1 0 -1 1

Other Commissioned Children's Services -3 -1 -2 0 0 -3 -1 -2

CF07 ok ok

Commissioning Function Sue Hall 609 406 203 87 89 522 317 205

Roundings -1 1 -2 1 -1 0 -1

Total 19,147 17,328 1,819 10,482 9,026 8,665 8,302 363

2021/22 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report - Attachment 4

Children & Families Services

Net Budget Analysis with COVID-19 analysis

Year-End Forecast input in February 2022

February 

Forecast 

Variance

October 

Forecast 

Variance

P
age 121



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Children and Families Scrutiny Committee
Draft work programme 2022

Date of meeting Proposed reports Additional Information 

26 May 2022 Youth Offending Service – to gain an overview of the 
service and on initiatives like Children First can support 
diverting young people away from crime

Improvement Board Update 
Accelerated Improvement Plan 
Quality Assurance Framework
Performance Report quarter 4 
Revenue Monitoring Report 

14 July 2022 Adoption West – how does the process work.

Fostering 

Sen Green Paper Update – tbc?

Improvement Board Update 
Accelerated Improvement Plan 

15 September 2022 Education – how can children and young people be 
inspired to achieve. 

Family Hubs

Alternative Provision 
Improvement Board Update?
Accelerated Improvement Plan 
Performance Report 
Quality Assurance Framework – 
Revenue Monitoring Report

P
age 123

A
genda Item

 11



Children and Families Scrutiny Committee
Draft work programme 2022

24 November 2022 Annual Safeguarding Report : Annual Update

12 January 2023 SEN Update – preparation work for local SEN Framework

EHCP – methods for consistent quality and ensuring 
health treated equally to education and update on autism 
pathway

Performance Report 
Quality Assurance Framework 
Revenue Monitoring Report

9 March 2023

18 May 2023

Performance Report 
Quality Assurance Framework – 
Revenue Monitoring Report

13 July 2023 

14 September 2023

Performance Report 
Quality Assurance Framework – 
Revenue Monitoring Report

9 November 2023

P
age 124



Children and Families Scrutiny Committee
Draft work programme 2022

Agreed work plan items to date: 

 Regional Schools Commissioner – would be useful to plan an extraordinary meeting with the RSC on Academisation. 
 Alternative provision
 Peer to peer violence and Gangs – it would be helpful if the Ambassadors could scope out this item indicating expected outcomes.
 Bright Spots survey results – when available
 Children Services IT – LiquidLogic (as a result of the extraordinary meeting - Ofsted Outcome Report)
 Interdependence and the importance of partnership working
 Exclusion Data Figures (RSC to be invited to meeting) (possibly July Meeting – tbc)

Other issues to be scheduled
 Care Leavers - APPG (All Party Parliamentary Group) for Looked After Children and Care Leavers Spotlight Inquiry (report available 

here https://becomecharity.org.uk/media/3029/appg-for-looked-after-children-and-care-leavers-spotlight-inquiry.pdf ) - The committee 
may wish to discuss the findings/recommendations of this report with the Ambassadors.

 The Government’s Independent Review of Children’ Social Care - this is due to report in a few weeks. The Committee may wish to 
consider this, particularly within the context of the council’s recent Ofsted Inspection; are there any specific learning opportunities for 
Gloucestershire? (https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/independent-review-of-childrens-social-care) 

 Child Friendly Gloucestershire 
 ACEs
 Children on the edge of care
 Youth Service Provision 

Development/Briefing Sessions (held virtually and not in public)

 Learning from Serious Case Reviews
 Transition from Children’s to Adult Services – joint with Adult Care Scrutiny. To be scheduled. 
 Special Education Needs – White Paper
 Academisation
 School Admissions/Transport
 LGA Training Events = Youth Offending 27/4/21 remote meeting
 NSPCC Training (Caspar Newsletter)

P
age 125

https://becomecharity.org.uk/media/3029/appg-for-looked-after-children-and-care-leavers-spotlight-inquiry.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/independent-review-of-childrens-social-care


T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meetings
	Minutes
	22nd April 2022 final mins
	Minutes


	4 Youth Offending Service
	YJPB Management Board - Q3 2021-22

	5 Education Update - Restorative Practice
	8 Performance Report Quarter 4
	CFOSC Performance and Risk Scorecard Q4 2021-22

	9 Quality Assurance Framework
	10 Revenue Monitoring Report
	P11 CF Feb 2022 App SC
	P11 CF Feb 2022 App SC 2
	P11 CF Feb 2022 App SC 3
	P11 CF Feb 2022 App SC 4

	11 Committee's Work Plan

